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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
(FORT WORTH DIVISION)

ROI DEVELOPERS, INC. d/b/a § Case No. 4:22-cv-00073-O
ACCRUVIA 5

§  (Formerly in the 96" District Court of Tarrant

Plaintiff ) County, Texas

8 Cause No. 096-331099-21
VS. §
8
ATHENA BITCOIN, INC. d/b/a §
ATHENA BITCOIN GLOBAL §
8
Defendant 8

APPENDIX TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT
AND BRIEF IN SUPPORT

This Appendix to Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment and Brief in Support contains
the following evidence in support of the Defendant’s motion that is attached hereto and fully
incorporated herein by reference thereto:

a. Exhibit 1: The Term Sheet signed and entered by and between ABIT and
Accruvia on September 22,2021 (“Term Sheet” herein) which was marked
as Exhibit 3 to the oral deposition of Eric Gravengaard taken on August 17,
2022 in this case;

b. Exhibit 2: Certified copy of the translated Non-Disclosure Agreement
signed and entered into by Shaun Overton for the benefit of AHES;

C. Exhibit 3: Oral Deposition of Accruvia’s corporate representative, Shaun
Overton (“Accruvia Deposition™) taken on August 16, 2022 in this case;

d. Exhibit 4: Oral Deposition of Athena’s corporate representative, Eric
Gravengaard (“Athena Deposition”) taken on August 17, 2022 in this case;

e. Exhibit 5: Letter with Demand for Payment on behalf of Accruvia to ABIT
dated December 14, 2021; and

f. Exhibit 6: Affidavit of Larry L. Fowler, Jr. dated October 4, 2022.
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Respectfully submitted,

/sl Larry L. Fowler, Jr.
LARRY L. FOWLER, JR.
State Bar No. 07321900

HARRIS * COOK, L.L.P.

1309-A West Abram

Arlington, Texas 76013

817/299-2841 — Telephone

817/460-8060 — Facsimile

Email: Larry@HarrisCookLaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT ATHENA BITCOIN, INC.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

| hereby certify that on October 4, 2022, a true and correct copy of the above and foregoing
document has been served on all counsel of record listed below via email through the PACER
system.

Kelly Stewart

K Stewart Law, P.C.

5949 Sherry Lane, Suite 900
Dallas, TX 75225
kelly@kstewartlaw.com
Attorney for Plaintiff

/s/ Larry L. Fowler, Jr.
LARRY L. FOWLER, JR.

PAGE 2


mailto:Larry@HarrisCookLaw.com
mailto:kelly@kstewartlaw.com

Case 4:22-cv-00073-O Documen 10/04/22 Page 3 of 108 PagelD 94

ATHENA

BITCOIN

Term Sheet

Dated: September 22, 2021

To: Shaun Overton
ROI Developers, Inc DBA Accruvia

subject to regular and ordinary due diligence. h

certain assets on the terms listed on Exhibit A.

October 31, 2021. Purchaser will be entited to damages and equitable relief, including
attorney'’s fees, to enforce the terms of this paragraph and paragraph 3, below.

)y court order.

ame.

o agreed and approved,

Athena Bitcoin Global (“Purchaser”) and Shaun Overton on behalf of himself and ROI Developers, Inc DBA
Accruvia (jointly “Seller”) arrived at a verbal agreement to enter into a binding Term Sheet this morning

1. Terms. Subject to signing definitive agreements and due diligence, Purchaser will acquire

2. Other Offers. Understanding that Purchaser will be incurring legal, accounting, and other
expenses, you agree not to directly or indirectly solicit, negotiate, or consider any proposal relating to the
acquisition of Seller's equity interests or assets, whether directly or indirectly, between the date hereof and

reasonable

3. Confidentiality. All parties agree that the terms of this letter will be treated confidentially, except
hat the parties hereto may disclose this letter of intent to their respective legal and accounting advisors or

4. Binding Nature. The obligation of Purchaser to move forward with the transactions contemplated
1 this term sheet is contingent upon: (i) completion of due diligence and the acquisition of any and all
eleases and liability protection to the satisfaction of Purchaser in its sole discretion, (ii) Seller conducting
s business in the ordinary course, and (iii) no material change in the value, condition or ownership of Seller.
xcept as expressly set forth in this Section 5: (a) this term sheet is intended to inform the final documents;
») both parties agree to and sign definitive transaction documents, the terms and conditions of which may
e different from the terms set forth herein based on due diligence. The provisions set forth in Sections 2 &
will be binding on and enforceable by each of the parties and any party seeking to enforce such
actions(s) is entitled to attorney’s fees, costs, and expenses in connection with the enforcement of the

he undersigned agrees to the above terms and conditions.
ATH

Exhibit
3

[signature page follows]

17th Aug 2022
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PURCHASE PRICE AND TERMS

Purchased Assets and Purchase Price: Purchaser shall purchase 100% of all intellectual property, service
agreements (implied, written, or otherwise), and all other assets of Seller at a price equal to $4,500,000 plus the
Seller’s capitalized expenses on its balance sheet for Intellectual Property (“Purchase Price”), and employ Shaun

Overton with the terms identified herein
Payment Terms: The amount of $4,500,000 of the Purchase Price is to be paid by Purchaser to Shaun Overton with
options on equity issued at a strike price of $.10 common shares of Athena Bitcoin Global, yielding options on
45,000,000 shares (based upon a strike price of $.10). The options will vest over four years starting 9 months after
execution of final documents with steps every year (9,000,000 options vesting at each vesting point). Options vest
pursuant to Shaun Overton continuing employment with Purchaser. Should Shaun Overton pass away or become

severely physically incapacitated prior to full vesting through no willful act of Shaun or his beneficiaries, his options
will continue to vest. The remaining Purchase Price (for the Intellectual Property will be paid by Purchaser in a

commercially reasonable manner of Purchaser’s choosing.)

Due Diligence: Purchaser will provide an initial list of due diligence items required within 5 business days of Term
Sheet execution. Seller will provide responses to due diligence requests within 15 business days or ask for additional

time if needed to be reasonably agreed to by Purchaser.

Legal Documentation Date: Draft legal documentation will be provided within 15 business days of Term Sheet

execution.

Targeted Closing Date: October 22, 2021

REPRESENTATIONS:
Purchaser: Purchaser has recently raised a round of funding converting into common stock at $.10/share. Executive

Compensation of $175,000 - $225,000 annual is in line with a recently promoted senior executive with similar equity
position as Seller.
Seller: Seller will not change the compensation of, or hire, or terminate, any employee, or change any other material

expense required prior to the Closing Date without notifying Purchaser. Upon the Closing Date, and thereafter, the
Seller will continue to operate the business utilizing Seller’s existing employees and independent contractors.

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT: Shaun Overton, shall be retained as an Employee affiliated with Purchaser as of the
Closing Date, and be granted a title commensurate with a leadership role on the technology team with a salary
between $175,000 and $225,000. Shaun will be afforded all standard benefits be offered by the Purchaser to
similarly senior executives. The Purchaser intends to act in good faith to maintain Shaun’s employment with the

company while he performs the role commensurate with his title.

MISCELLANEOUS: (1) Seller agrees to work exclusively with Purchaser for any of Purchaser’s current or future clients
(2) Seller agrees to be bound by Confidentiality and Non Disclosure Agreement sent forthwith

> SO
& §
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Sincerely,

PURCHASER ATHENA BITCOIN GL. /

Date: 9/22/2021

SELLER: Shaun Overton and R@l’

S e

.‘ LY e IS —
Shaurl Overto

on behalf of himself and R"_"_

ate 9/22/2021 :
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March 23, 2022
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460 W Irving Park Rd

Suite C

Bensenville, IL 60106

800 959 2874
www.burgtranslations.com

I, the undersigned, having been duly sworn, depose and say that the following document:

e NDA_Redacted.docx

has been translated from Spanish into English by BURG Translations, Inc. and, to the best of my
knowledge and belief, it is a true and accurate rendering of the original document.

STATE OF ILLINOIS
COUNTY OF COOK
Chicago, Illinois, March 23, 2022

Signed and attested before me on this 23t day of

March, 2022 by Buse Nur Kostekli

BURG TRANSLATIONS, INC.
460 W Irving Park Rd,
Suite C

Bensenville, lllinois 60106
(800) 959-2874

Buse Nur Kostekli
Junior Project Manager

e

AMPassalacqua, Notary Public

Cook County, State of lllinois

American
Translators

Association
CORPORATE MEMSER

ANGELO PASSALACQUA
Official Seal

Notary Public - State of Iilinofs
My Commission Expires Nov 29, 2024

Cerified o
150 17100:2018 |

m ASSOCIATION OF
| LANGUAGE COMPANIES

TOVRAsintand ‘
Py
4

Exhibit 2



FILED DATE: 2/7/2022 6:56 PM 2022CH01062

Case: 1:22-cv-01291 Document #: 13-1 Filed: 03/24/22 Page 3 of 13 PagelD #:111

Case 4:22-cv-00073-O Document 15 Filed 10/04/22 Page 7 of 108 PagelD 98

I, Shaun Overton, 40 years of age, 1917 Sage Trail. in the municipality of Hurst, State of
Texas, USA with the Unique Identification Document number: [REDACTED], hereby

DECLARE: I) That between my person and the company that operates under the name of
"ATHENA HOLDINGS EL SALVADOR, VARIABLE CAPITAL LIMITED
COMPANY", abbreviated as AHES, S.A. DE C.V., there has been an individual work

relationship since 09/22/2021. and by virtue of this, [ have exercised and will continue to

exercise my position as CTO. As a result of this, I have had contact with, handled and
received commercial information of a restricted and confidential nature, regarding
marketing, technical, financial, accounting and legal matters, among others, from AHES,
S.A. DE C.V., as well as from the people who are related to it. IT) That due to the foregoing,
I hereby undertake to maintain total confidentiality in relation to the information that I have
received, handled and managed or that in any way has come into my possession throughout
the aforementioned employment relationship, including but not limited to the following: a)
Financial, accounting, industrial, commercial, customer, marketing, strategic, legal,
technical, and other information generated or not generated by the company for the exclusive
use of the business, whether in the verbal, digital or physical form; b) Accounts and
passwords for access to computerized applications, electronic mail, banking services,
databases, operating systems, personal computers, communication equipment, and other
electronic devices and services that allow access to tangible or intangible resources of the
company; c) Any other document or information that may in any way be part of the intangible
assets of AHES, S.A. DE C.V. that is and will be received by me from any of the members,
representatives, employees, legal representatives, lawyers and/or executives and even clients
of the aforementioned company, under the protection of this instrument, including
preliminary documents, notes, reports, studies, correspondence, facsimiles and any other
information transmitted by any means; these will be considered by me to be confidential. 11r)
That as a consequence of the employment relationship that [ have maintained and continue
to maintain with AHES, S.A. DE C.V., [ expressly consider and acknowledge that all related
information is and will be the exclusive property of AHES, S.A. DE C.V., and therefore all

the information, including but not limited to any commercial and confidential information
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which may have been disclosed to me by virtue of the aforementioned employment
relationship and of all that is relevant to AHES, S.A. DE C.V. or to its subsidiaries and other
entities related to it, will not be used by me for any reason or for any purpose. Therefore I
will take all necessary measures to maintain the confidentiality of the information and
prevent its loss or disclosure to third parties. Likewise, I declare that [ understand that all the
information received is characterized as being a “business secret”, due to its having
commercial value and to having been reserved by AHES, S.A. DE C.V. for exclusive use as
restricted information. Therefore, it is understood that ATHENA HOLDINGS EL
SALVADOR, SOCIEDAD ANONIMA DE CAPITAL VARIABLE will have the right to
demand from me verbally or in writing at any time that the restricted, confidential or internal
information of the company that is in my possession be destroyed or returned, regardless of
whether such information was provided before this date. IV) Whereas, I expressly assume
the responsibility for any loss, theft, destruction and/or misuse of any information owned by
AHES, S.A. DE C\V. that is contained within personal computers that are not owned by
AHES, S A. DE C.V., as well as all information that has been extracted or will be extracted
in the future by me through magnetic storage devices, compact discs, USB keys, forwarding
of said information to personal email, disclosures on social networks, digital platforms, other
devices such as cell phones or tablets, or through any other technology. I hereby
unequivocally undertake not to take photographs of equipment, materials, supplies, structures,
spaces, real estate, or any other distinctive, commercial sign or logos that were owned or
merely in the possession of, but ultimately linked to AHES, S.A. DEC.v,, nor to disclose in any physical
or digital medium any photograph or content related to the operation and economic activity
of AHES, s.A. DE C.v.. | also agree not to remove any work tools or personal property owned or
held by AHES, S.A. DE C.V. that are part of the development, management and operation
of the economic activity of said company, regardless of the object and value in question.
Therefore, 1 hereby assume the risk of being liable for damages caused to ATHENA
HOLDINGS EL SALVADOR, SOCIEDAD ANONIMA DE CAPITAL VARIABLE, SA,
DE CV, and/or its clients, derived from the breach of any of the obligations and declarations

contained in this instrument. V) That the statements made through this document and the
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obligation to maintain confidentiality implicit in all statements are in force as of this date and
will continue to be in force, even if said employment relationship is terminated, without a
time limit and regardless of the reason that may cause said termination of the relationship.
Finally, I hereby manifest that in the event of breach of the obligations contained in this
declaration, I will be civilly and criminally liable before ATHENA HOLDINGS EL
SALVADOR, SOCIEDAD ANONIMA DE CAPITAL VARIABLE or any ofits clients who
may be affected as a result of my breach; in which case ATHENA HOLDINGS EL
SALVADOR, SOCIEDAD ANONIMA DE CAPITAL VARIABLE may pursue against me
all the legal actions to which said breach may give rise, particularly the compensation for the
damages caused, being financially liable up to the amount of thirty thousand dollars of the United
States of America or legal tender. VI) That for the legal effects of the interpretation of this
declaration, I expressly submit to the legal system of the Republic of El Salvador and its
judicial courts. inwitness whereof1 sign this document in the city of San Salvador, State of San
Salvador, on the 22" day of the month of September of the year two thousand and twenty-

one.

[Stamp: JUAN
CARLOS PREZA
SALINAS -
REPUBLIC OF EL
SALVADOR-
NOTARY (initials)]

Signature: [signature]

In the city of San Salvador, State of San Salvador, at /7 hours and 04 minutes on Wednesday
[sic] of the month of September of two-thousand and twenty-one. Before me, JUAN
CARLOS PREZA SALINAS, Notary, of the municipality of San Salvador, State of San
Salvador, appeared _ /plankj , 40 years of age, 1917 Sage Trail, from the municipality of

Hurst, state of Texas, USA, whom I do not know but whom I identified by means of his

Unique Identification Document number: [REDACTED] , AND DECLARED: That he
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recognizes as his the signature at the bottom of the previous document, as well as the
statements and obligations contained therein, as it was signed in this city, on this same day,
month and year. Said document literally STATES: I) That between my person and the
company that operates under the name of ATHENA HOLDINGS EL SALVADOR, VARIABLE CAPITAL
LIMITED COMPANY, abbreviated as AHES, S.A. DE C.v., there has been an individual work
relationship since 09/22/2021, and by virtue of this, I have exercised and will continue to
exercise my position as C7TO. As aresult of this, [ have had contact with, handled and received
commercial information of a restricted and confidential nature, regarding marketing,
technical, financial, accounting and legal matters, among others, from AHES, S.A. DE C.V.,
as well as from the people who are related to it. i That due to the foregoing, I hereby
undertake to maintain total confidentiality in relation to the information that I have received,
handled and managed or that in any way has come into my possession throughout the
aforementioned employment relationship, including but not limited to the following: a)
Financial, accounting, industrial, commercial, customer, marketing, strategic, legal,
technical, and other information generated or not generated by the company for the exclusive
use of the business, whether in the verbal, digital or physical form; b) Accounts and
passwords for access to computerized applications, electronic mail, banking services,
databases, operating systems, personal computers, communication equipment, and other
electronic devices and services that allow access to tangible or intangible resources of the
company; c) Any other document or information that may in any way be part of the intangible
assets of AHES, S.A. DE C.V. that is and will be received by me from any of the members,
representatives, employees, legal representatives, lawyers and/or executives and even clients
of the aforementioned company, under the protection of this instrument, including
preliminary documents, notes, reports, studies, correspondence, facsimiles and any other
information transmitted by any means; these will be considered by me to be confidential. 1)
That as a consequence of the employment relationship that | have maintained and continue
to maintain with AHES, S.A. DE C.V., I expressly consider and acknowledge that all related
information is and will be the exclusive property of AHES, S.A. DE C.V., and therefore all

the information, including but not limited to any commercial and confidential information

10
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which may have been disclosed to me by virtue of the aforementioned employment
relationship and of all that is relevant to AHES, S.A. DE C.V. or to its subsidiaries and other
entities related to it, will not be used by me for any reason or for any purpose. Therefore I
will take all necessary measures to maintain the confidentiality of the information and
prevent its loss or disclosure to third parties. Likewise, I declare that I understand that all the
information received is characterized as being a “business secret”, due to its having
commercial value and to having been reserved by AHES, S.A. DE C.V. for exclusive use as
restricted information Therefore, it is understood that ATHENA HOLDINGS EL
SALVADOR, SOCIEDAD ANONIMA DE CAPITAL VARIABLE will have the right to
demand from me verbally or in writing at any time that the restricted, confidential or internal
information of the company that is in my possession be destroyed or returned, regardless of
whether such information was provided before this date. 1v) Whereas, | expressly assume the
responsibility for any loss, theft, destruction and/or misuse of any information owned by
AHES, S.A. DE C.V. that is contained within personal computers that are not owned by
AHES, SA DE C.V., as well as all information that has been extracted or will be extracted in
the future by me through magnetic storage devices, compact discs, USB keys, forwarding of
said information to personal email, disclosures on social networks, digital platforms, other
devices such as cell phones or tablets, or through any other technology. I hereby
unequivocally undertake not to take photographs of equipment, materials, supplies,
structures, spaces, real estate, or any other distinctive, commercial sign or logos that were
owned or merely in the possession of, but ultimately linked to AHES, SA DE C.V., nor to
disclose in any physical or digital medium any photograph or content related to the operation
and economic activity of AHES, S.A. DE C.V. I also agree not to remove any work tools or
personal property owned or held by AHES, S.A. DE C.V. that are part of the development,
management and operation of the economic activity of said company, regardless of the object
and value in question. Therefore, | hereby assume the risk of being liable for damages caused
to ATHENA HOLDINGS EL SALVADOR, SOCIEDAD ANONIMA DE CAPITAL
VARIABLE, SA, DE CV and/or its clients, derived from the breach of any of the obligations

and declarations contained in this instrument. vy That the statements made through this

11
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document and the obligation to maintain confidentiality implicit in all statements are in force
as of this date and will continue to be in force, even if said employment relationship is
terminated, without a time limit and regardless of the reason that may cause said termination
of the relationship. Finally, I hereby manifest that in the event of breach of the obligations
contained in this declaration, I will be civilly and criminally liable before ATHENA
HOLDINGS EL SALVADOR, SOCIEDAD ANONIMA DE CAPITAL VARIABLE or any
of its clients who may be affected as a result of my breach; in which case ATHENA
HOLDINGS EL SALVADOR, SOCIEDAD ANONIMA DE CAPITAL VARIABLE may
pursue against me all the legal actions to which said breach may give rise, particularly the
compensation for the damages caused, being financially liable up to the amount of thirty
thousand dollars of the United States of America or legal tender. vi) That for the legal effects
of the interpretation of this declaration, I expressly submit to the legal system of the Republic

of El Salvador and its judicial courts.

And I, the undersigned Notary, HEREBY CERTIFY: That the signature that appears at the
end of the previous document is authentic, as it was signed in his own handwriting and in my
presence by the appearing party. This was the declaration of the appearing party, to whom I
explained the legal effects of this notarial deed, which consists of two effective pages; and it
having been read by me in its entirety, in a single uninterrupted act, he ratified its content

and for the record signs with me. | HEREBY CERTIFY. -

Signature: [Signature]

[Stamp: JUAN
CARLOS PREZA
SALINAS -
REPUBLIC OF EL
SALVADOR-
NOTARY (initials)]

12
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- .J NGun\ C/{/L/ ~(‘“(\ de [ L) afos de edad,

- ~
"%’frl 5‘-:& tre<{ , del domiciic de _Flixt , Departamento de

o £E : ' con Documento Unico de  Identidad namero:
. por este medio OTORGO: 1) Que enire

mi persona v la sociedad que gira bajo la denominacion de “ATHENA HOLDINGS EL SALVADOR,

SOCIEDAD ANONIMA DE CAPITAL VARIABLE®, abreviadamente "AHES, §.A. DE C.V.”, ha existido

3 relocion Individual de frabajo desde el dia A& [© el/ o2

¥ en/\_/irtud de ello, he ejercido y contihuaré ejerciendo mi cargo de
(i £ D . Debido a ello, he tenido contacto, manelado v recibido

informacién comercial de uso restringido y confidencial, de mercadeo, técnica, financiera,

contable y legal, entre otras, de parte de “AHES, S.A. DE C.V.", asl como de las personas que se
relacionan con ésta. Il) Que por lo antes expuesto, a través del presente me obligo a mantener
en fotfal confidencialidad la informacién que he reclbido, manejado y dirigido © que de
cualquier forma ha llegado a mi poder a lo largo de la relacién laborai antes mencionada,
incluyendo pero ne limitado a lo sigulente: @) Informacién financiera, contable, industrial,
comercial, de clientela. de mercadeo, estratégica, legal, técnica, y de otra indole generada o
no generada por la sociedad para uso exclusivo del negocio, ya sea en forma verbal, digital o
fisica: b) De cuentas y contraseics de acceso a las aplicaciones computarizadas, correo
electronico, servicios bancarlos, bases de datos, sistemas operativos, computadoras personales,
equipos de comunicacion, y ofros dispositivos y servicios electrénicos que permita ganar acceso
arecursos tangibles o intangibles de la sociedad:; ¢) De cualquier ofro documento o informacién
que de alguna forma sea parte de los activos intangibles de “AHES, S.A. DE C.V.” que son y serdn
recibidos por mi persona de cualquiera de los miembros, personeros, empleados, representantes L
legales, abogados y/o ejecutivos e incluso clientes de la sociedad mencionada, bajo el amparo
de este Instrumento, incluyendo documentos preliminares, notfas, reportes, estudios,
correspondencia, facsimiles y cualquier otra informacién transmitida por cualquier medio, serd
considerada por mi persona como confidencial. lll) Que como consecuencia de la relacién
laboral que he mantenido y mantengo con “AHES, S.A. DE C.V.", considero y reconozco
expresamente que toda la informacion relacionada es y seré propiedad exclusiva de “AHES, S.A.
DE C.V.", por lo que toda la informacién. incluyendo pero sin limitarse a la informacién comercial
y confidencial, que haya sido revelada a mi persona en virtud de la relacién laboral antes dicha
y de toda aquella que tenga relevancia para “AHES, S.A. DE C.V.” o para sus subsidiarias y demas
entidades relacionadas con ésta, no serd utilizada por mi persona por ningdn motivo y para
ningtn fin, y que por lo tantc tomaré todos los medidas necesarias para mantener la
confidencialidad de la informacién y evitar su pérdida o revelacién a terceros. Asimismo, declaro
que entiendo que toda la informacién recibida tiene cardcter de “secreto empresarial”, por
tener un valor comercial y por haberla tenido reservada “AHES, S.A. DE C.V.” para uso exclusivo
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como informacién restringida. Por lo que gueda enfendido que “ATHENA HOLDINGS EL
SALVADOR. SOCIEDAD ANONIMA DE CAPITAL VARIABLE” tendrd el derecho de exigirme
verbalimente o por escrito en cualguier mormento que la informacion resiringida, confidencial o
inferna de la sociedod gue se encuentre en mi poder sea destuida o devuelfa,
independientemente de que tal informacién se haya enfregado antes de esta fecha. IV) Que
expresamente asumo bajo mi responsabilidad cualquier pérdida, robo, destruccién y/o mala
utilizacién de toda informacion propiedad de “AHES, S.A. DE C.V.” que esté contenida dentro
de ordenadores personales que no sean propiedad de "AHES, S.A. DE C.V.". asl come toda
informacién que haya sido extraida o sea extraida en un futurc por mi persona o trovés de
dispositivos de almacenamiento magnéticos, discos compactos, llaves usb, remision de la misma
hacia correo electronico personal, divulgaciones en redes sociales, plataformas digitales, demas
disposifivos tales como celulares, tablets, o a través de cualguler ofra fecnologio, De forma
inequivoca me obligo a no tomar fotogrofias de equipos. materiales, insumaos, estructuras,
espacios, inmuebles, ni ningln ofro signo distintivo, comercial ni logos que estuvieren en
propiedad o mera fenencia, pero en definifiva vinculados a “AHES, S.A. DE C.V."”, ni a divuigar
en cugalguier medio fisico o digital ninguna fotagrafio o contenido relacionado a la operacidony
actividad econdmica de “AHES, SA. DE CV.". También me obligo a no sustraer ninguna
herramienta de trabajo o bienes muebles que estén en propiedad o fenencia por parte de
"AHES, S.A. DE C.V, 8.A. DE C.V." y que sean parte de el desarrollo. manegjo y operacién de la
actividad econémica de dicha scciedad. independientemente del objeto y valor del que se
trate. Por lo tanto, asumo el rlesgo de responder por los dofos y perjuicios causados a "ATHENA
HOLDINGS EL SALVADOR, SOCIEDAD ANONIMA DE CAPITAL VARIABLE, S.A. DE C.V.", y/o o sus
clientes, derivados del incumplimiento de cualquier de las obligaciones y declaraciones
contenidas en el presente insfrumento, V) Que las declaraciones hechas a fravés de la presente
y la obligacién de reserva de cenfidencialidad imbibita en tales declaraciones se encuentran
vigentes a esta fecha y continuarén esténdolo, incluso aun dada por terminada dicha relacion
laboral, sin limite de tiempo e independientemente del motivo que provocare dicha finalizacion
del vinculo., Finalmente, manifiesto que, en caso de incumplimiento de las obligaciones
contenidas en la presente declaracion, seré responsable civil y penalmente frente a “ATHENA
HOLDINGS EL SALVADOR, SOCIEDAD ANONIMA DE CAPITAL VARIABLE.”, o los clientes de ésta que
se vean afectados como consecuencia de mi incumplimiento; en tal virtud "ATHENA HOLDINGS
EL SALVADOR, SOCIEDAD ANONIMA DE CAPITAL VARIABLE”, podrd seguir en mi contra todas las
accionses legales a gue dicho incumplimiento diere lugar, parficularmente el resarcimiento de
los danos y perjuicios causados, respendiendo econémicamente hasta por la cantidad de
Treinta Mil Délares de los Estados Unidos de América o moneda de curse legal. VI) Que para los
efectos legales de la interpretacién de la presente declaracion expresamente, me someto al

ordenamiento juridico de la Replblica de El Salvador y a sus fribunales judiciales. En fe de lo cual

14
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firmo el presente documento en la cludad de San Salvador, Departamento de San Saivador, el

dia ,‘Z l del mes deéffw\m— del afo dos mil veintiuno. -

dad de San Salvador, Departamento de Son Salvador, a las ﬁ [ j horas y
minutos  del dia  fJednesdnn del mes de
de dos mil veintiuno. Ante mi, JUAN gARLOS PREZA SALINAS, Notario,
"/ domiclio de San Salvador, Departamento %e San Salvador, comparece
de ~ afos de  edad.
1 Fese Tl . del domicio de Hursl . Departamento  de
(243 EE. vu. o identifico por medio de su Documento Unico de
ldentidad ndmero: . ¥ ME DICE: Que
reconoce como su a al calce del anterlor documento, asi como las

declaraciones y obligaciones contenidas en él, por haber sido suscrifo en esta ciudad, este
mismo dia, mes y aio, que literalmente DICE: """ *l) Que entre mi persona y la sociedad que
gira bdjo la denominacién de “ATHENA HOLDINGS EL SALVADOR, SOCIEDAD ANONIMA DE
CAPITAL VARIABLE", abreviadamente “AHES, S.A. DE C.V.*, ha existido una relacién individual de
trabajo desde el dia ,32 ~09-2] _— y en virtud de ello, he
ejercido y continuaré ejerclendo ml cargo de . P, . Debido a

ello, he fenido contacto, manejado vy recibido informacion comercial de uso restringido y
confidenclal, de mercadeo, técnica, financiera, contable y legal, entre ofras, de parte de
"AHES, S.A. DE C.V.". asi como de las personas que se relacionan con ésta. Il) Que por lo antes
expuesto, a través del presente me obligo a mantener en total confidencialidad la informacién
que he recibido, manejado y dirigido © gue de cualquier forma ha llegado a mi peder a lo largo
de la relacién laboral antes mencionada, incluyendo pero no limitado a lo siguiente: a)
Informacion financlera, contable, industrial, comercial, de clientela, de mercadeo, estratégica,
legal, técnica, y de otfra Indole generada o no generada por la sociedad para uso exclusivo del
negocio, ya sea en forma verbal, digital o fisica; b) De cuentas y contrasefias de acceso a las
aplicaciones computarizadas, correo electronico, servicios bancarios, bases de datos, sistemas
operativos, computadoras personales, equipos de comunicacién, y otfros dispositivos y servicios
electrénicos que permita ganar acceso a recursos tangibles o intangibles de la sociedad; ¢) De
cualquier ofro documento o informacion que de alguna forma sea parte de los activos
Intangibles de "AHES, S.A. DE C.V.” que son y serén recibidos por mi persona de cudlguiera de
los miembros, personeros, empleados, representantes legales, abogados y/o ejecutivos e incluso




FILED DATE: 2/7/2022 6:56 PM 2022CH01062

Case: 1:22-cv-01291 Document #: 13-1 Filed: 03/24/22 Page 12 of 13 PagelD #:120
Case 4:22-cv-00073-O Document 15 Filed 10/04/22 Page 16 of 108 PagelD 107

clientes de la sociedad mencionada, bajo el amparo de este instfrumento, incluyendo
decumentos preliminares, notas, reportes, estudios, correspondencia, facsimiles v cualquier ofra
inforrmacién transmitida por cudlguier medio, seré considerada por mi persona como
confidencial. lll) Que como consecuencla de la relacién laboral gue he mantenido y mantengo
con “AHES, S.A. DE C.V.*, considero y recenozco expresamente gque toda la informacion
relacionada es y serd propiedad exclusiva de “AHES, S.A. DE CV.”, por lo que toda lg

‘informacion, incluyendo pero sin limitarse a la informacién comerclal y confidencial, que haya

sido revelada a mi persona en virtud de la relacién laboral antes dicha y de foda aguella que
fenga relevancia para “AHES. S.A. DE CV.” o para sus subsidiarios y demds entidades
relaclonadas con ésta. no serd utilizada por mi persona por ningdn motivo v para ningdn fin, y
gue por lo tanto tomaré todas las medidas necesarias para mantener la confidencialidad de la
informacién y evitar su pérdida o revelacion a terceros. Asimismo, declaro que entiendo gue
foda la informacién recibida tiene cardcter de “secreto empresarial”, por tener un valor
comercial y por haberla tenido reservada “AHES, S.A. DE CV." para uso exclusivo como
informacién restringida. Por lo que queda entendido que “ATHENA HOLDINGS EL SALVADOR,
SOCIEDAD ANONIMA DE CAPITAL VARIABLE” tendrd el derecho de exigirme verbalmente o por
eserifo en cualquier momento que la informacldn restringida, confidencial ¢ interna de la
sociedad que se encuentre en mi poder sea destrulda o devuelfa, independientemente de gue
tal informacion se haya entregado antes de esta fecha. IV) Que expresamente asumo bajo mi
responsabilidad cualquier pérdida, robo, destruccion y/o mala utiizacion de foda informacién
propiedad de "AHES, S.A. DE C.V." que esté contenida dentro de ordenadores personales que
no sean propledad de “AHES, 5.A. DE C.V.", asi como toda informacion que haydad sido extraida
o sea exiraida en un futuro por mi persona a través de dispositivos de almacenamiento
magnéflcos, discos compactos, llaves usb, remision de la misma hacia correo electiénico
personal. divulgaciones en redes sociales, plataformas digitales, demds dispositivos tales como
celulares, tablets, o a fravés de cualquier ofra tecnologia. De forma inequivoca me obligo @ no
tomar fotografias de equipos, materiales, insumos, estructuras, espacios, inmusbles, ni ningdn
ofro signo distintivo, comercial ni logos que estuvieren en propiedad o mera tenencia, pero en
definitiva vinculados a "AHES, S.A. DE C.V.”, nl a divulgar en cualquler medio fisico o digital
ninguna fotografia o contenido relacionade a la operacién y actividad econdmica de “AHES,
S.A.DE C.V.". También me obligo a no sustraer ninguna herramienta de frabajo o bienes muebles
que estén en propiedad o tenencia por parte de "AHES, S.A. DE C.V., $.A. DE CV." y que sean
parte de el desarollo. manejo y operacién de la actividad econémica de dicha sociedad,
independientemente def objeto v valor del que se trate. Por lo tanto, asumo el rlesgo de
responder por los dafios y perjuicios causados a "ATHENA HOLDINGS EL SALVADOR, SOCIEDAD
ANONIMA DE CAPITAL VARIABLE, S.A. DE C.V.”, y/o a sus clientes, derivados del incumplimiento

de cualguier de las obligaciones y declaraciones contenidas en el presente instrumento. V) Que

16
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las declaraciones hechas a través de la presente y la obligacion de reserva de confidencialidad
imbibita en tales declaraciones se encuentran vigentes a esta fecha y continuardin esténdolo,
incluso cun dada por terminada diche relacion laboral, sin limife de fiempo e
independientemente del motivo gue provocare dicha findlizaclén del vinculo. Finalmente,
manifiesto que, en caso de incumplimiento de las obligaclones contenidas en la presente
‘declaracion, seré responsable civil y penalimente frente a “ATHENA HOLDINGS EL SALVADOR,
SOCIEDAD ANONIMA DE CAPITAL VARIABLE.", o los clientes de ésta gue se vean ofectados como
consecuencia de mi incumplimienfo; en tal virtud *ATHENA HOLDINGS EL SALVADOR, SOCIEDAD
ANONIMA DE CAPITAL VARIABLE®, podrd seguir en mi conira todas las acciones legales a que
dicho incumplimiento diere lugar, paricularmente el resarcimiento de los dafos y perjuicios
causados, respondlendo econdmicamente hasta por la cantidad de Treinta Mil Délares de los
Estados Unidos de América o moneda de curso legal. VI) Que para los efectos legales de la
interpretacion ce la presente declaracién expresamente, me someto al ordenamiento juridico
de la Repiblica de El Salvador y o sus tribunales judiciales. ***“*** ¥ yo, el suscrito Notario, DOY
FE: Que la firma que aparece dl final del anterior documento es auténtica, por haber sido puesta
de su pufio y lefra y a mi presencia por el compareciente. Asi se expresd el compareciente, a
quien expliqué los efectos legales de la presente acta notarial, que consta de dos folios Utiles; v
leida que le fue por miintegramente. en un solo acto ininterrumpide, ratifica su contenido y para

constancia firma conmige. DOY FE. -

17
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Page 2 Page 4
1  APPEARANCES: 1 Q. How long ago was that?
2 On Behalf of Plaintiff: 2 A. 2006, I think.
3 KELLY STEWART, ESQUIRE 3 Q. And where was that lawsuit pending?
4 kelly@kstewartlaw.com | A, Somewhere -- it was in either Dallas
5 K STEWART LAW, P.C. 5 County or Tarrant County, Texas.
6 5949 Sherry Lane, Suite 900 6 Q. Okay. Have you ever been arrasted or
7 Dallas, Texas 75225 7  charged with a felony?
8 972,308.6168 8 A.  To.
%  On Behalf of Defendant: 8 Q. All right. You understand that
10 LARRY L, FOWLER, JR., ESQUIRE 10 you're here today as the corporate
i1 larry@harxriscooklaw.com 11  representative of ROI Developers, Inc., d/b/a
12 HARRIS COOK LLP 12 Rccruvia; correct?
13 130%2 W. Abram Street 13 ATTORNEY STEWART: No. I'm
14 Arlington, Texas 76013 14 objecting, Mr. Fowler. He's here on
15 817.299.2847 15 behalf of Shaun Overton, We didn't get a
16  RALSO PRESENT: ANTONIO VALINTE 16 corporate rep dep. You asked for
17 PATRICK BLASKOPF, THE TECENICIAN |17 Mr. Ovarton.
B e 18 ATTORNEY FOWLER: Oh, okay.
19 INDEX 13  BY ATTORNEY FOWLER:
20  DEPONENT: SHAUN CVERTON 20 Q. A1l right. The company ROT
21 EXAMINATION BY: PAGE 21  Developers, Inc., who owns that company?
22 ATTORNBY FOWLER 3 22 A, I do.
23 ATTORNEY STEWART. 123 23 Q 100 percent?
24  ATTORNEY FOWLER 145 24 A, 100 percent,
25  ATTORNEY STEWART 148 25 Q Okay. And when was it formed?
Page 3 Page &
1 SHAUN OVERTON, having first been duly 1 A,  2010. The Texas entity was formed in
2 sworn according to law, was examined and 2 2010,
3 testified as follows: 3 Q. OCkay. Are you the only officer or
4 s 4 director of that company alsc?
5  BY ATTORNEY FOWLER: 5 A, I'm-- at scme point in the past I
6 Q. Could you state your name, plsase, & think I listed my father as the secretary, But
7 for the record? 7 functionally, I've been the only operating
8 A.  Shaun Michael Owverton. 8 officer.
9 Q. Mr. Overton, my nawme is larry Fowler, 9 Q. Okay. Cther than you, are there any
10 and I'm the attorney for Athena Biteoin, Inc. in |10 other amployees of that company?
11  this proceeding. Do you understand that? 11 A. Currently, there are zero W-2
12 A. I do. 12 employees,
13 Q. We have not met hefore; correch? 13 Q. Has there in the past been W2
14 A, Correct. 14 employees?
15 Q. Okay. Have you ever had your 15 A.  Yes,
16  deposition taken before? 16 Q. When was the last time there was a
17 4. Never, 17 W2 employee other than, potentially, yourself?
18 Q. Okay. Have you perscnally ever been 18 A, November of 2021.
1¢  a party to a lawsuit? 19 Q. 2nd who were those W-2 employees?
20 A. Yes. 20 A. Bailey Jarrell.
21 Q. Okay. Tell me about that, 21 Q. Pnybody else?
22 A. It was with Forex Capital Markets. 22 A.  Nope,
23 Q. Ckay. And were you a plaintiff or 23 Q. Okay. And how long was Mr. Bailey —-
24 defendant in that suit? 24 wait. Is it Mr. or Miss?
25 A,  Plaintiff, 25 A. Miss,
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Page 6 Page 8
1 Q. How long was Miss Jarrell an employee 1 wallet; is that true?
2 of ROI Developers, Inc.? 2 A, Yes, it is,
3 A, From February to November ¢f 2021, 3 Q. Ckay, And in vour discovery
4 Q. All right, During the year 2021 were 4 responses, you describe the project as something
5 there any other W-2 cmployees of ROI? 5 Chivo, C-H-I-V-0; is that correct?
6 A.  Just myself, & A, Correct,
7 Q. Okay. What about pricr to 2021; 7 Q. 2nd is that how you pronounce it,
8 other than yourself has there ever been any 8 "Chivo"?
9  other W2 employees? 9 A.  "Chivo," ves,
10 A, Yes, 10 0. Tell me generally what was the Chive
11 Q. Okay. How long ago? 11  Wallet project?
12 A. 2012 or -~ maybe 2014. But it's been | 12 A, It's primarily designed to serve the
13 a vhile. 13  remittance market. So the 25 percent of
14 Q. ALl right. That was well before the |14 El Salvador’s GDP is remittances. Primarily,
15 issues that bring us here today; correct? 15 that money comes frem the United States.
16 A. Correct, 16 And when -~ and most of those
17 Q. Ckay. During 2021, did you have -~ 17 individuals are on the lower spectrum
18 or did ROI contract with individuals to provide |18 economically, and they have to send money back
19  its services? 19  home to support their relatives and family. And
20 A, Yes, 20 when they do that, they usually use Western
21 Q. Okay. How many people, roughly, did 21  Union, MoneyGram, and other money transfer
22 ROT contract with to assist it in providing 22 services. And those commissions are generally
23.. _services? . 23 12 and a half percent or more of the amount
24 A.  Arcund 15, 24 sent.
25 Q.  Does ROI have a physical office? 25 The govermment of Il Salvador wanted
Page 7 Page 9
1 A, Yes, it does. 1 to improve the well-being of its citizens. And
2 Q- And where is that located? 2 by designing the Chivo Wallet ecosystem, it's
3 A, Hurst, Texas. 3 designed to disintermediate the remittance
4 Q. Where in Burst? 4 industry.
5 A, 615 West Harwood Road, Suite B2, 5 The way that happens functionally is
-6 Hurst, Texas 76054, 6 that a lot of the people sending remittances
7 Q. And how long has ROI had that office? 7  function in the cash economy and they do not
8 A. One year. 8  have bank accounts, &rnd so the only way they
9 Q. So from approximately Bugust 20217 % can get that monay into Bitcoin —— well, back
10 A.  Correct. 10 up.
11 0. Prior to Rugust 2021 did it have a 11 Bitcoin is essential because there
12 physical office? 12 are no intermediaries. o there's ne middleman
13 A.  Yes. 13 to take a cut. When Western Union sends money
14- Q. Where was that? 14 from the United States to EL Salvador, there's
15 A. 550 Reserve Street, Southlake, Texas 15 intermediary banks, several intermediary banks;
16 76092, 16  and each one of those banks takes a fee and
17 Q. Was that an office huilding? 17 commission for passing the money along,
18 A, Yes, it was, 18 So by converting the money to
19 Q. Okay. And that waz in Southlake? 19 Bitcoin, you can completely remove the banks
20 A, Correct. 20 from the equation. But you still have the
21 Q. QOkay. How long had ROI been in that |21 physical problem of a guy with a few hundred
22 building? 22  dollars in cash, needs to transmit its monetary
23 A. I think about two years. 23 egquivalent to El Salvador.
24 Q. Okay. The project that brings us 24 And s0 what he does is he goes to
25  here today relates to something called a Bitcoin |25 ATMs located within the United States,
@PSe
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Page 10 Page 12
1 physically deposits the cash into the ATM. The 1 wallet; correct?
2 ATM then converts that to Bitcoin. 2 4. I'msorry. I don't really understand
3 The government signs terms with 3 the question.
4 Athena to remove the commissions assoclated with | 4 Q. Ckay. With regard to the wallet
5 that transaction. There may be like a tiny, 5 itself, I think I understocd you to say that it
& tiny commisaion; but it's functionally close to 6 could be use like a debit card, essentially?
7 zero, It's a fraction of a percent. 7 A. Basically, yes.
8 And then that money is conwverted to 8 Q. Okay. Aand those funds can be placed
8  Bitcoin, sent tc the recipient who has a Chivo % into that wallet from anywhere, any scurce, as
10 wallet. And that Chivo Wallet has the opticn 10 far as Bitcoins go; correct?
11 but not the regquirement that when the Bitcoin 11 A, It could come from -~ yeah, you don't
12 deposit is received, you can immediately convert |12 have te uses an ATM. You could deposit by
13 it back into US dollars, 13 Bitcein.
14 The -~ cne of the primary concerns 14 Q. Okay. B2nd as far as where the Chivo
15 with people using Bitcoin is its volatility 15 Wallet's concerned, was that product -- I guess
16 relative to the US dollar. Sc by the person 16  we'll call the Chivo Wallet a product -- was
17  =sending the money in Bitccin and knowing that 17 that product going to be owned by the government
18  Chivo Wallet will automatically convert it, it 18 of EL Salvador?
1% keeps their market risk extremely limited to 19 A, Yes,
20  approximately a few minutes of price action, 20 Q. Ckay. And the information you just
21  which means for most pecple they won't see any 21 teld me about Chivo Wallet, all this was
22 change in the amount of money going from United 22  explained to you bafore ROI began its work; is
23_ . _States to El Salvador. 23 that correct?
24 Then the final step in the equation 24 A, Yes.
25 1s that that money is received within the Chive |25 Q. Let me back up just a hair. I
Page 11 Page 13
1 Wallet app in El Salvador. &nd the recipient 1 usually ask, and I forgot to ask in this
2 has two potential uses, They can either go to 2 instance, a little bit on your background.
3  another ATM and withdraw that in cash, which is 3 Where did you go to high school?
4 overwhelmingly what pecple de, Or they can keep q A. Grapevine High School in Grapevine,
5 the money in the Chivo Wallet ecosystem and 5 Texas.
6 spend it functionally like the credit card, & Q. What year did you graduate from
7 although it -~ I guess a debit card would be a 7  Grapevine?
8  better analogy; that they can go make purchases 8 A, 1999,
5 at major stores across El Salvador with meney in | 9 Q. What did you do after you got out of
10 their Chivo Wallet, 10 high school?
i1 Q. Okay. All right. 2nd so the Chivo 11 A, Went to the University of Texas;
12 Wallet -- I mean, you told me about the pecple 12 graduated with a history degree in 2003.
13  have the ability to transmit money from ancther 13 Q. ALl right. After you got out of UT,
14  country, like the United States, and have the 14  then what?
15 Bitcoins end up in the wallet. But the wallet 15 A. I went to Yemen and studied Arabic.
16 can be used -- I mean, it's just, it's just used | 15 Q How long were you in Yemen?
17 as a Bitcoin wallet; correct? That's what the 17 A. A little over a year and a half.
18 Chivo Wallet -~ it wasn't restricted to 18 Q Were you employed while you were in
18 receiving funds from, you know, the United 18 Yemen?
20 States, for example; correct? 20 A, Yes.
21 A. It's not restricted. 21 Q.  What were you doing?
22 Q. Ckay. 8o the folks in El Salvador, 22 A. I worked as an English teacher for a
23 they can go to the ATM there in El Salvador and ! 23 language institute owned and operated by the US
24 buy Bitcoins —- I mean, however, whatever they 24 embassy.
25 would typically do with regard to a Bitcoin 25 Q. What did you after Yemen?
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Page 14 Page 16
1 A. 1 worked as an Arabic and English 1 A.  PRetail foreign exchange traders.
2 translator in Doha, Qatar. 2 Q. And who's the customer base for ROI
3 Q. Who did you work for? 3 Developers, Inc.?
q a Hamad Medical Corporation. 4 A.  Businesses primarily with revenues of
5 Q And how long were you in Qatar? 5 5 to 25 million.
3 A.  Three months. 6 Q. And tell me generally what iz the
7 Q Okay. What did you do after that? 7  pregramming services that ROT Developers
8 A, I returned to the United States and 8 oprovides to those businesses?
9 started working at Forex Capital Markets. 9 A, We are API integrators,
10 Q. Is Four the nuwber four, or is it 10 Q. At some point after you left Forex,
11  spelled out? 11 did you receive any training in programming?
12 A, It's F-0-R-E-X. It's an acronym for 12 A, No,
13 "foreign exchange." 13 Q.  As you sit here today, have you ever
14 Q. Al right. So it's Forex Capital 14 received any formal training in programmiog?
15  what? 15 A.  I've taken a few courses through
16 A. Markets, 16  Coursera, but that's the extent of it.
17 Q. Okay. BAnd what did you do for Forex |17 Q. All right. Did I understand you
18 Capital Markets? 18 correctly that ROI Developers, Inc. provides
19 A. I was a Forex broker, 12 programing services to its customers?
20 Q. 2nd what were you brokering? 20 A. That's correct.
21 A.  Currencies, foreign exchange. 21 Q. Okay. 8o who actually does the
22 Q.  And how long were you with Forex? 22  programmning?
23. - A, Two years, ... _. 23 A. T have a network of contractors that .
24 Q.  Bo approximately when did you leave 24 work for me full-tinme.
25 Forex? 25 Q.  The description you gave me earlier
Page 15 Page 17
1 A.  November of 2007. 1 about the Chive Wallet, is that the type of
2 Qi All right. - What did you do after you 2 project that RCI Developers, Inc. normally works
3 left Forex? 3 on?
4 A, I started this current entity, which 4 A, Noj it's an wnusual project.
5 was originally named CneStepRemoved.com LIC. 5 Q. Okay. Describe for me what the
6 Q.  Mechanically, how did you go from the 6 normal business would be for ROIL Developers,
7 name OneStep —- what was it, CneStep what? 7  Inc.
8 A,  Removed, 8 A.  The local business doing 5 to
9 Q. Okay. How did you go from the name 9 825 million in revenue, but it could be in any
10 CneStepRemoved to ROI Developers? 10 industry.
11 A.  There 1s a series of name changes 11 Q. 8o what are you doing for them?
12 that T filed with the State of Texas. It went 12 A.  We're an API integrator. And that
13 from CneStepRemoved,com to Engineer ROT to ROI 13 means we take two software platforms that don't
14 pevelopers. 14 talk to each other and we build — we're like
15 0. Okay. Has the busincss been the same | 15 plurbers for software. Sc we build the pipe
16 under all the different names? 16 that connects two systems that ean't share data.
17 A.  You mean like the markets that we 17 Q. ALl right. 2nd then as I understand
18 serve? 18 it, the Chivc Wallet project, you were creating
19 Q. Whatever business OneStepRemoved was 19 a Bitcoin wallet for the govermment of
20 in, is that the same kusiness that ROI 20 El Salvador; correct?
21l Tevelopers, Inc. is now in? 21 A, MNo.
22 A.  We serve a different customer base, 22 Q.  COkay. What is incorrect about that?
23 but it all relates to programming. 23 A, We began working ¢n the project with
24 Q. Ckay, OneStepRemoved, what was the 24 the government of El Salvador because software
25 customer base thera? 25 was provided to the goverrment and thay
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1 experienced a mwber of incredibly difficult 1  rollout,

2 circumstances where the -- the pregram was 2 So the government of El Salvador made

3 functionally vnusable, and so we were brought 3 to eliminate the KYC, the KYC vendor from the

4  in to right the ship and fix all the problems, 4  process so that the Chivo Wallet registrations

5 Q.  And so the govermment of El Salvador 5  could continue. They wanted to hit their

& had a software program, and you're saying that 6  50,000~user initial launch point. But because

7 ROI came in te fix the bugs in thia goftware; is 7 they turned off KYC, there was literally no

8 that correct? 8  supervision whatscever, Anybody on the platformm

9 A. Correct, 9  could sign up and get $30,

10 Q. Qkay. The software —- what did the 10 50 we experienced -~ I know that

11  software do that was not working properly for E1 |11  Miguel Sabal, who was the direct advisor to

12 Salvador? 12 President Bukele and who I worked with nearly

13 A,  It's a very long list, 13 every day, was coming in my office telling me

14 Q. Well, give me generally what was it 14 about users, when they would take the selfie for

15  supposed to do, this software. 15  their personal identification, he was saying

16 A. Tt was what I described to you 16 people were taking pictures of the wall, of

17  earlier about serving the remittance market. 17  potted plants.

18 Q. Ckay. But when you became involved 18 So we had this database where pecple

19 in the project, was it already called the Chivo 19 very quickly learned that if they could show an

20 Wallet? 20 El Salvador IP address, that they could sign up

21 A.  Yes, it was. 21 for Chivo Wallet, get $30 completely for free as

22 Q. Ckay, BAll right., 8o there was a 22 a gift for registering, and then withdraw that

23, software cut there that belong to the government |23  meney immediately.

24 of El Salvador; and part of it, at least, 24 And in the final assessment -- we

25 included this Bitcoin wallet called the Chivo 25 don't -- we never pinned down the exact amount
Page 19 Page 21

1  Wallet. Correct? 1 of fraud, but we estimated that it was between

2 - A, - That was the entirety of it, 2 10 to 20 percent of all of the users registered

3 Q. Okay. And so you're telling me that 3 were fraudulent. And the vast majority of that

4 you are hired to take —- to work out the kinks 4 money had left the Chivc Wallet ecosystem.

5 in the Chivo Wallet project that already ] So throughout my time in the project,

6 existed; correct? 6 fighting fraud was overwhelmingly the

1 A. Correct, 1 govermment's priority and consumed a lot of our

8 Q. Do you recall anything about the 8  time and resources.

9 government of El Salvador using the Chivo Wallet | 9 Q. Okay. So based on what you just told
10 to give money directly to its citizens? 10 me, it was the - the Chive Waliet project was
11 A,  Bbsolutely. 11 designed to be utilized by citizens of
12 Q. How -- I meen, tell me what you 12 El Salvador; correct?

13 remember about that. 13 A, It was exclusively limited -- it was
14 A. It was rife with fraud. So when the |14 supposed to be limited to only citizens of

15 program launched on September 7th, there was a 15 El Salvador,

16 wvendor selected that I don't recall the nawe of. |16 Q. Okay. 3So tell me how you became

17  And I kmow that QA Consultants, another vendor, 17 involved in this Chivo Wallet project in

18  had warned the govermment that this software ~- 18 EL Salvador.

19 that this vendor was extremely likely to fail 19 A. T received a call from Brian

20 under load. 20 Bernknopf. He is a colleague and is managing
21 And within the first 150 sign-ups on |21 directer at O Consultants, T was flying to
22 the platform, the, the vendor for KYC compliance |22  visit my team in the Dominican Republic., And
23 crashed. And government of El Salvador had, 23 while laid over in Miami, I received a call from
24  especially President Bukele, had staked pretty 24 him, which I didn't hear. He send me a text
25 much his entire career on the successful 25 message which said: Give me a call. T've got
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1  the deal of a lifetime for you, 1 Q. What year?
2 That got my attenticn, so I called 2 A, 2021,
3 back right away. And he said that -~ he -~ him 3 Q. So in September of '21 were all of
4  and I had been in communication. All I knew is 4 the programmers that you were using on a regular
5 that he was working on a Bitcoin project., And 5 basis located in the Dominican?
& so when he told me that he was working -- [ A, No,
7 Q. Hang on a second. Let me stop you a 7 Q.  What other -- where were the other
8 sccond. Tell me what's this person's name. 8  programmers that you were using on a regular
9 A, Brian Bernknopf. 9  basis?
10 Q. You're going to have to spell that 10 A,  Poland, South Africa, Greece,
11 last one? 11  Argentina. Those were the main ones.
12 A.  Yeah. B~E-R-K-N-0-P-F [sic]. 12 Q. So was that bulk of the programmers
13 Q. What's the last letter? 13 that ROT used in September of '21; were they in
14 A, F as in Frank. 14 those countries you just told me about?
15 . B-E-R-K-N-0-P-F7? 15 A, Correct,
16 A. Correct, 16 Q. Okay. In Septerber of 2021, was ROI
17 Q.  And who did he work for? 17 contracting with any programmers that were
18 A, QA Consultants, 18 located in Texas on a regular basis?
19 Q. ZLooking through my notes, I see I 18 A. No.
20 skipped over one of my normal questions. 20 Q.  In September of 2021, was RCT
21 Where de you currently reside? 21 contracting with anybody for anything on a
22 4., Hurst, Texas, 22 regular basis in the State of Texas?
23 Q. How long have you lived in Hurst? 23 A, Yes.
24 R,  Since 2015. 24 Q.  What?
25 Q.  And when you were in Qatar and Yemen, |25 A.  The primary relationships would be
Page 23 Page 26
1  what did you use as & permanent address in the 1 Evexias -- E-V-E-X-I-A-S -- Health Solutions and
2 - US8? Did you have one? 2 Silver Creek Materials.
3 A. My parents' home in Colleyville, 3 Q. Now, were those customers --
4 Texas. 9 A. Yes,
5 Q. Ckay. All right. 3o you told me a 5 Q. -- of ROI?
6 moment ago you're at a layover in Miami on the 6 I'm sorry?
7  way down to see your team in the Dominican 7 A, Yes,
8  Republic. Who or what is your team in the 8 Q. All right. So these were two
9 Deminican Republic? 9  customers that ROTI had. And was it providing
10 A, At the time it was Carlos Lopez, 10 programming services to these two entities?
11 rranklin Grassais, Williams Mendez, and Gustavo 11 A. Correct.
12 Rodriguez, 12 Q.  The programning that was being done,
13 Q. ALl right. And so was this -- you 13 was that being done by scmebody here in Texas or
14 told me earlier that there is a group of 14 was that being done by part of this group of
15  programmers that you keep busy all the time cn a | 15 programuers you told me about & minute ago?
16 contract basis. Is this part of that group? 16 A, Managed in Texas; done -~ the
17 A. Yes, it is, 17 programming was done in the various countries
18 Q. Okay. And they were all based in the |18 that T listed.
19  Dominican? 1¢ Q. All right. So no programming in
20 A. Yes, 20 Texas; all by -- in these other countries you
21 Q.  Ckay. 2nd tell me what timeframe 21 told me about; correct?
22 we're talking about here where you're in the 22 A, Correct,
23  Miami airport on the way down to the Dominican 23 Q. Sc for the health solutions company,
24 Republic? 24 what was ROI doing for it?
25 A.  September 9th. 25 A.  We built a completely custom platform
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1 that's used for education and ordering 1 physically, what is it you primarily do for the
2 prescriptions, 2 company?

3 (Discussion held off the record.) 3 A.  Project manager,

4 (Recess.) 4 Q.  Okay.

5  BY ATTORNEY FOWLER: 5 A, And sales,

[ Q.  Then the othar company you told me 6 Q.  And by project manager, is that

7 about that ROI was providing services to, Silver 7 primarily coordinating with the Progranmers?

8 something -- what was it? 8 A, BAnd the customers; yes.

9 A.  B8ilver Creek Materials. 9 Q. 8o would you say working as a project
10 Q. Is that a material-handling company? 10 manager takes up what, what, 80 percent,

11 A. They're a sand mine. 11 90 percent of your time, or a hundred percent?
12 Q. Yeah. Where are they located? 12 A, It's my full-time job.

13 A, Fort Worth, 13 Q. 8o other than as a program —- being
14 Q. Over on the west side? 14 the program manager for ROIL, any other functions
15 A. Correct, 15 that you perform for ROI on a reqular basis?

16 Q. Yeah., BAnd generally, what was the 16 A.  Sales, preject management, a little
17 project for them? 17  bit of accounting. But that's it.

18 A, It was a couple of things. Tt was a i8 Q. When you say a little bit of

19 robile app that sits in a Ffront loadar so that 19 accounting, have you got an cutside source that
20 operators could see incoming orders that they 20 does most oF your accounting?

21 needed to service. We did some accounting 21 A, Correct.

22 integration work to comnect the point-of-sale 22 Q. Okay. Who's that cutside source?
23 . system inté QuickBooks. - -And that was, that was 23 A. It is -- I forget the name of his

24  the work. 24 business, but his name is Joe Abesamis.
25 Q. Okay. 8o on -- for those two 25 0. Where's he located;
Page 27 Page 29

1  companies around September of '21, are you 1 A, In Southern California.

2 perspnally doing any of the programuing or is it | 2 Q. When you're dealing with him, do you
3 done by these programmers you were telling me 3 actually transmit the information

4  about? 4  electronically?

5 A. I -- overwhelmingly done by the 5 A, Yes.

€ pregrammers. I did nominal bits of coding here 6 Q. How did you hook one with an

7 and there. 7 accountant in Southern California?

8 Q. Okay. BAnd you never had any formal 3 A.  He used to live in Frisco.

9 training on coding; is that right? 9 Q. Ch. All right., So with regard to
10 A, Correct. 10 accounting, is your role, then, primarily to

11 Q. So with regard to ROI, is the vast 11 transmit dataz to the accountant?

12 majority of the programming done by those 12 A. Correct.

13 programmers that are located around the world? 13 Q. And sales, that'a out soliciting new
14 A. Correct. 14 business; correct?

15 Q. 3o when would be an instance when you | 15 A. Correct,

16  personally would attempt to do some type of 16 Q.  And then project manager, that's

17 coding? 17 primarily coordinating between YOUr programers
18 A. It weuld be what T would call 18 and the customers; is that correct?

13 "knickknack work"; just something -- low-hanging | 19 A, Yes,

20 fruit, just to free the developers up to do 20 Q. ALl right. Let's go back to Miami.
21 something that they could be working om, 21 Tell me about this phone call while you're there
22 something more productive. 22 in the airport,

23 Q. OCkay. So with regard to ROI, 23 A. 8o he said: My customer's project is
24 predominantly, what's your role? I known you 24 on fire, It was written in Django —-

25 own it; you're the ~- and the only officer. But |25 D-J-A-N-G-0 —- which is a framework that we
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1 specialize in. Bnd he said the govermment needs 1 by his first name.
2  as many talented Django develcpers as it can 2 A, Brian.
3 possibly get ahold of right now. How many 3 Q. 8o what was Brian's comnection to
4  people can you round up? 4 (A Consultants?
5 And s0 -~ 5 A, He's the managing director.
6 Q. Hang on a second, He said “his 6 Q. And where is the QA Consultants?
7 customer"; is that right? 7 A.  They have offices in Dallas and in
8 A, Correct, 8 Torento, Canada.
9 Q. Okay. &nd do you know what he meant g Q. Do you know where Brian crffices?
10 by who the customer was? 10 A, Dallas.
11 A,  The government of El Salvador. 11 Q. ALl right. 8o Brian tells you that
12 Q. Okay. So he's calling you, telling 12 0A Consultants has an agreement with the
13 you what his customer, El Salvador, the software | 13 government of El Salvader, and they hire you to
14 it has, which was written in Django, is on fire? ! 14 help them provide services to the government of
15 A, Correct. 15 Bl Salvadoer; correct?
16 Q. Okay. 2nd he's asking you if you can |16 A, Correct.
17  round up people that are familiar with Django; 17 Q. Ckay. And is this on the Chivo
18 is that correct? 18 project, or is it something different?
12 A, Correct. 19 A.  Only for the Chivo project.
20 Q.  So what happens next? 20 Q. Okay. BAll right. So you're in the
21 A. I have a signed contract with the 21 Dominican when you signed the contract with QA
22 goverrnment of El Salvador 24 hours later. 22 Consultants; is that right?
23— @, Did you go to E1l Salvador? 23 A, That's right.
24 A, Ewentually. But I signed the 24 Q.  Ckay. All right. What's next in
25 agreement in the Dominican Republic and had to 253  this progression?
Page 31 Page 33
1 cancel the trip with my team. 1 A. It begins. The most stressful
2 Q.” Hang-on. 8o what date are we talking | 2 project of my life. The -- we First have to
3 about here? 3 decide where they're going to put us. And the
4 A,  September —- I believe it is 4 very first day was dedicated to establishing our
5 September 10th, is the date that I signed the 5 work environment. The project was very
6  contract, 6 difficult to spin up because there was no
7 Q. Al right, So September 10th, '21, 7  documentation,
8 you signed a contract with the government of 8 Q.  And by "documentation,” do you mean
9 El Salvador; correct? 9  documentation related to the programming that
10 A, I should correct that. So I ~— the 10 had already been done?
11 govermment signed a contract with 11 A, Correct.
12 QA Consultants. And then CA Consultants 12 Q.  Okay,
13 subcontracted me to de the work because we 13 A. TLiterally zero documentation,
14 didn't want to have to lose time with legal 14 Q. A1l right. ILet me interrupt you for
15 contracts, negotiations, that kind of thing. 15  just a second.
16 80 I was a subcontractor to 16 The programning that had been done
17 QA Consultants, who was the primary to the 17 that you were coming in to assist with, who
18  govermment of El Salvador. 18  performed that programming; do you know?
19 Q. Okay. And so approximately when did | 19 A.  Athena Bitcoin, Inc.
20 you sign your contract with QA Consultants? 20 Q. Ckay. BAll right. So your testimony
21 A,  September 10th, T believe. 21  is that prior to September '21, there was
22 Q.  Ckay. 23ll right. BAnd what was — 22  programming in existence for this Chive project
23 the gentleman -- I wrote his name down here a 23 in El Salwador; correct?
24  gecond ago. What was the first name of the quy |24 A.  All right., I can't speak to where
25 that called you? because we're just going to go |25 the code lived. But, yes, it was for the
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1 prcject in El Salvador, 1 pretty sure it was Saturday —- we had a
2 Q. Yeah. And that's my questien. Okay. 2 conference call betwesn my team, Lorenzo Rey,
3 So how did you find ocut who created 3 and Eric Gravengaard.
4  that programuing? 4 Q.  Are any of those folks associated
5 A, The -- Lorenzc Rey, who was 5 with any of the Athena entities?
6 functicnally the government's CTC, informed me 6 A. Eric Gravengaard is,
7 that Athena Bitcoin, Inc. had developed the 7 Q. Okay. And would that have -- this
8 scftware and sold it —- licensed a copy to the 8 discussion, would that have been on or about
S  govermment of El Salvador. 9 October 4th or was it before that?
10 Q. When did this conversation cccur? 10 A, Well before. This is September 10th,
11 A.  About nocon Eastern on September 10th, (11 I think.
12 when we had our orientation cail, 12 Q. Okay. 8¢ —- and this is a conference
13 Q. All right. So Mr. Rey, did he 13 eall?
14 actually say "Athena Bitccin, Inc.” or did he 14 A, Yes, I think it was on Microsoft
15 say "Athena Bitcoin"? 15 Teams.
16 A.  "Athena Bitcoin." 16 Q.  And where were you physically
17 Q. All right, 8o he -- during your 17  located?
18  orientation meeting he says Athena Bitcoin has 18 A,  The Dominican Republic, in Santiago.
19 created this software that you're going to be 19 I'm sorry — yeah, Santiago.
20 working on; correct? 20 Q. All right. And what's the purpose of
21 A. Correct. 21  this phone conference?
22 Q. Ckay. All right. And then you're 22 A, To figure out what is the best use of
—{23— tellihy me-that the-first order of business is 23  us as a resource. And Eric -- well, first of
124 - find out where you're going to be working -- I 24 all, we identified that because the project had
25 mean, loyistically where you're going to be 25 no documentation and no unit test coverage, that
Page 35 Page 37
1 staying, that kind of stuff? 1 it would be irresponsible and dangercus to risk
-2 A.- No, no; no. It had nothing to do 2 making any changes to the source code without
3 with physical, real-world logistics. It had to 3 having unit tests as a safety mechanism,
4 do with programuing logistics. 4 S0 what we decided in the call was
5 Q. Okay. I'm sorry. I misunderstood. 5 that the best way for us to get started and
€ Thank you for correcting that. & start adding value was to do what I would
7 So on the program, it is collecting 7 consider essential and best-practice work that
8 sufficient information to allow you to begin 8  had not been done to that point, which was to
9 work? 9 start adding unit test coverage over the most
10 A. Correct. Tike with any project, 10 critical functionalities of the, of the
11 there's an orientation period where you have to 11 software.
12 learn the high-level diagram of how all this 12 0. COkay. So - all right, Software,
13 stuff glues together. and to help us with that, [i3 this —- the —- this -- the Chivo Wallet project,
14 the government provided us with a document that 14 that's stored on computers, correct --
15 mapped out the entire Chivo ecosystem. 15 A, Yes.
16 Q. BAll right. So what happens next? 16 Q. -~ servers?
17 A.  So we had to decide where in the code | 19 I mean, whers -— how is it stored?
18 we're going to work. The first day was consumed | 18 A. It was in a code repository called
19 with really, really basic sstup: configuring 13 Bitbucket, And also there's copies that live on
2¢  Docker, getting the project fully Dockerized, 20 the developers' machines.
21  getting the process of — like literally writing | 21 Q. All right. And the software belonged
22 documentation so as we onboarded other 22 to El Salvador; correct?
23 developers, we wouldn't have the same time 23 A.  Legally, it was the property of
24 hurdle. 24  Athena. BAnd I'm not sure which entity that --
25 And then on Saturday evening —- I'm 25 but I believe it's Inc. - and that they sold a
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1 licensed copy to the govermment of El Salvador 1 And as I was doing that, Eric
2 and retained intellectual property over the 2 Gravengaard gave me access to Microsoft Teams
3 software, so that any changes and improvements 3 and Microsoft Admins 3o that I could create all
4 they made at the request cof the govermment would | 4 of my eployees and contractors, give them email
5 remain the property of Athena Bitcoin, Inc. %  addresses and Microsoft Teams accounts and so
6 Q. As far as which entity owned the & on.
7 software -- gcratch that, 7 And within that system I created them
8 Al right, You understand there are 8 under the entity of Athena Bitcoin, Inc, And
9 two entities with similar names — have similar 9 everybody on Microsoft Teams was labeled as
10 nemes: Athena Bitcoin, Inc. and Athena Global. 10 being with Athena Bitcoin, Inc., including Eric
11 You understand that; corrsct? 11 Gravengaard and all of the other executives with
12 A, I understand that and that there are 12 whom I interacted,
13 other internaticnal entities as well. 13 Q. Ckay. ALl right. During this
14 Q. All right. But with regard to which |14 initial phone call you were telling me about in
15  entity actually licensed the software and owned | 15 September of '21, was there any, any discussion
16 the software toc the government cf Bl Salvador, 16  about - well, scratch that.
17 that would be easy encugh for us to lock and 17 During this initial discussion, what
18 see; correct? 18  was it for?
18 A. You have the contracts, I don't have | 1% A. Figuring cut how to best utilize the
20 access to those. 20 team.
21 Q. And -- but a3 far as which Athena 21 Q. All right. So what happened next in
22 entity, as we sit here, do you actually -- have |22 this progression?
-23  -you-ever -actually seen that—contract? 23 A. We start writing unit tests over the
24 4. I have not. 24 next couple of days, improving the
25 Q. S0 as we sit here you don't have, 25 documentation, and fixing some severe issues
Page 39 Page 41
1 personally have any kmowladge as to which entity 1 with Docker.
2 licensed the software to Fl Salvador; correct? 2 Q. All right. BAnd when you're doing all
3 A, I believe I —- I believe I know. But 3 this, you're doing all this Ffor QA Consultants;
4 I don't know for certain. 4 is that right?
5 Q. Okay. What do you ~- who do you 5 A. Nomipally, I mean, functionally, QA
6 Dbelieve licensed the software to E1 Salvador? & Consultants just sold our services, marked it
7 A, Athena Bitcoin, Inc, 7 up; and aside from collecting the money, that
g Q. Okay. Bas opposed to Athena Glcbal, 8§ was the extent of their interaction with our
9  Athena Bitecoin Global? 9 services.
10 A. Correct. 10 Q. Okay. Well, you're getting paid by
11 Q.  What makes you think the software was |1l A Consultants. They're getting paid by the
12 licensed to El Salvador by Athena Bitcoin, Inc.? |12 govermment of W1 Salvador, correct --
13 A.  Athena Bitcoin, Inc. is the cperating |13 A.  Correct.
14  -entity of Athena Bitcoin Global. Athena 14 Q. -- at this point in time?
15  Bitecoin, Inc. houses, if not every singls 15 All right. So what happens next
16  employee, almost every single employee in the 16  after this conference call, Scratch that.
17 company. ' 17 A1l right. If Athena Bitcoin —-
18 The -~ within Athena and its 18 whichever entity -- cwned the software and
19 functioning systems -- so, for example, a few 1% licensed it to Fl Salvador, how is QA
20 weeks later, as the letter of intent was signed |20 Consultants involved in all this?
21  with Athena Bitcoin, Inc., we are cnboarded and 21 A, They're responsible for QA, which
22 asked to bring Accruvia's team inte —- inside of |22 stands for "quality assurance." Tt was -- the
23 Athena. 23 govermment was kind of -- they do two things.
24 And by "Athena," I mean Athena 24 They do unit tests, which I described, and they
25 Bitcein, Inc. 25 do load tests.
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1 S0 the government was extremely 1 expiring on that upcoming Friday. I made the —-
2 concerned that with a county of 6 million pecple | 2 Q.  All right. Let me interrupt you for
3  and they wanted to roll this out as fast at 3 a second. 8o how long wa3 your initial
4  possible, they were worried about scalability. 4 contract?
5 So the government hired QA 5 A, Two weeks, renewable -- two weeks
& Consultants with the intent, with the intent to 6 with the extension to renew.
7 use them for load testing. However, because of 7 Q. Okay. All right. So you know your
§ stalling from Athena, they were never actually 8 contract's coming up for renewal or expliration?
9 able to run those load tests. 9 A. Correct,
10 So QA Consultants was extraordinarily |10 0. So what is it about that that leads
11 frustrated by the lack of cocperation with 11 vs to Athena?
12 Athena, that they —- 12 A, T wanted to make sure I did
13 Q. Hang cn a second. This information, 13 everything in my power to extend that contract.
14 this is all coming to you from Brian and QR 14 So I made the decision on a Saturday to fly to
15 Consultants; correct? 15 El Salvador to meet with Lorenzo in person to
16 A, And their employees, 16  give myself the best opportunity to continue
17 Q.  Okay. 17 servicing that business,
18 ATTORNEY STEWART: I don't think he 18 On Monday morning, Lorsnzo asked me
18 was done with his answer, 19 to meet him first thing in the goverrment's
20 ATTORNEY FOWLER: Well, if you need 20 offices in the Megacentrc, And there I got to
21 to expand on his answer later, vou can. 21 mest all of the senicr players in goverament
22 He answered my question, which was what 22 that were managing the project, And that was
23--- --was next. 23 just a very brief meeting.
24 ~ATTORNEY STEWART: But he was still 24 But then Lorenze pulled me aside and
25 talking when you interrupted him, So 25  offered me the opportunity to -~ initially he
Page 43 Page 45
1 that's all I want to point out. If he's 1  offered me the opportunity to remove Athena
2 done, that's great. Otherwise, please, 2 Bitcoin, Inc., from the project entirely --
3 I'd appreciate you letting him finish. 3 Q. Hang on. Iet me, let me interrupt
4 That would be great. 4 you.
5 BY ATTORNEY FOWLFR: 5 When you say he offered you the
6 Q. Okay., All right. So QA Consultants ¢ opportunity to remeve Athena Bitcoin, Inc., did
7 is hired by the government of El Salvador; 7 he say remove Athena Bitcoin, Inc. or did he say
8§  correct? 8  remove Athena Bitcoin?
g A, Correct. 9 A. He said remove Athena.
10 Q.  For —- tell the again what "CA" 10 0. Okay. Remove Athena. Thank you.
il stands for? 11 All right. So you're having a
12 A, M"Quality assurance." 12 conversation with him, and he is discussing with
13 Q. Okay., So what happens after that 13 you the ability to remove Athena; correct?
14 initial phone conference in September of 217 14 A,  Correct.
15 A, Then we start focusing on 15 Q. ALl right. So tell me about that
16 documentation, Docker, improving the developer 16  discussion.
17  onboarding process, and then overwhelmingly 17 A.  He was irate and -~ with the quality
18 writing unit tests. 18 of the code that was provided. He said —- I
19 Q. Bll right. 80 what brings us here 19 don't remember the exact term that he usad, But
20 today is a claim that, that ROI's owed money by |20 he basically felt like they were sold a bill of
21 Athera. How did we go from you being paid by G& |21  gocds, that -— they were just severely
22 Consultants to you being paid by Athena? 22 disappointed.
23 A, On -- so around ten days after I 23 And 80 he offered me to run the —
24 signed the agreement -- so this would be -- it 24 ROT Developers to run the entire Django
25  was a Saturday. And I knew that my contract was |25 component of the project. And then I asked
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1 would it be possible te run the entire project. 1 somehow got back to Eric, that the government
2 And he said yes, 2 had offered me the opportumity.
3 8o I immediately -- I left and 3 And so he was --
4 started huddling with Brian about how do we —- 4 Q. Iet me stop you for just a second.
5  like they wanted an estimate or a bid like 5 All right, What makes you believe
& almost immediately. And sc Brian and I were € word of the meeting got -- was -— that Eric
7 huddling for how do we scramble to put a project 7 learned of this meeting?
8 together that's probably going to be an 8 A. Well, there was only two people in
9 elght-figure bid in the span of like 48 hours, S room, me and Lorenzo. And within hours Fric had
10 Q. Okay. Let me — is this huddling 10 started aggressively trying to contact me. And
11 oeourring in Bl Salvador? 11 by the next day, they -- him and the —— what I
12 A, I'm located in El Salvador; BRrian's 12 understood to be the entire board of Athena -~
13 located in Dallas. 13 Eddie Weinhaus, Matias Goldenhorn, one of their
14 Q. S0 you're huddling either via 14 attorneys —- I forget his name -- and Eric
15 telephone or %oom or something like that? 15  Gravengeard sat, sat in front of me, felt like
16 A, Correct. Yes, 16  an interrogation, and said: We know the
17 Q. Okay. Keep going. 17 government offered you an opportunity to take
18 A, Mnd so somehow Eric Gravengaard -- I 18 over the project.
19 should start back. 19 So that's how I know,
20 Before I had the meeting with 20 Q. Where did this take place?
21 ILorenzo, I worked in Athena's offices for an 21 A, Athena's offices in whatever Athena
22 hour that morning, And my intent was to meet 22 entity it was. Athena in San Salvador,
23 with Bric because I alsc saw Athena as a good 23 El Salvador.
24 candidate for doing future business with, 24 Q. All right. So an Athena entity had
25 So I was trying to get face time with |25 an office in San Salvador; is that correct?
Page 47 Page 49
1 Erie, but he completely ignored me that morning. 1 A. Correct.
%2 I think he literally said hello, and that was 2 Q.  When you went to this office, was
3 it. Mnd then I went straight from there to go 3 there any signage up that said "Athena"?
4  meet with Lorenzo. 4 A,  Yea.
5 Literaily, like within hours, Eric 5 Q. Okay. Was there anything that said
6 all of a sudden got back to me and said he wants 6 "Athena Bitcoin Global"?
7  to meet, 7 A. No.
8 Q. ILet me interrupt you. What date are 8 Q. Was there anything that said "Athena
9 we talking about? Is this in September, or are %  Bitcoin"?
10 we now in October? 10 A, Yes,
11 A, No; we're still in September. 11 Q. Was there anything that you saw that
12 Q.  Okay, _ 12 said "Athena Bitcoin, Inc.," or did it just say
13 A, This is like -- we're less than a 13 "Athena Bitcoin"?
14 week into the project at this point. 14 A, "Athena Bitcoin, Inc."
15 Q. ALl right, All right. Keep going. 15 Q. TWhat is it that you saw said "Athena
16 A. S0 at this point, the tables have 16 Bitcoin, Inc."?
17 fundamentally turned, where for weeks I had been | 17 A. Microsoft Teams,
18 txying to have ~- build a relationship with Eric |18 Q. 8o the meeting was partially in
18 Gravengaard, but then the govermment of 19 person and partially over Microsoft Teams; is
20 Bl Salvador offered we the opportunity to 20 that right?
21  essentially take over that entire line of 21 A.  You asked me -- specifically at the
22 business, 22 time of the meating, what is the signage?
23 So I went from wanting to build a 23 Q.  Yes,
24 relationship with Erie to not wanting to build a | 24 A,  All it says is "Athena Bitcoin.™
25  relationship with Eric. But word of the meeting | 25 Q. Ckay. That was my question. When
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1 you go to this office in 3an Salvador, what was 1 Q. Okay. So the discussion that you
2  the signage that you saw? 2 Just told me about between you and Eric, at any
3 A,  "Athena Bitcoin." 3 point dees Eric say: Hey, I want you to come -—-
4 Q. And as I understand it, the signage 4 you know, this is on behalf of Athena Bitcoin,
5 that you saw said "Athena Bitcoin"; is that 5 Inc. or Athena Bitccin Glcbal, or is it just
6 correct? 6  Athena in general?
7 A, Correct. 7 A,  Athena in general.
8 Q. At that office did you see anything 8 Q. Ckay. All right. 8o there's a
9  that said "Athena Bitcoin, Inc."? 9  discussion -- you're saying that Eric and you
10 A. No. 10 discussed you coming to work with Athena. And
11 Q. All right. 3o this meeting that 11 you're saying, Hey, I need to think about it.
12 you're hawing, was it everybody in person or was | 12 Correct?
13 it part in person, part remotely? 13 A. Correct.
14 A. Entirely in person. 14 Q. &ll right. Sco what happens next?
15 Q. Okay. All right. So what's the 15 A. 8o that meeting occurred on a, on a
16  result of that meeting? 16  Tuesday morning, so about 24 hours after ny
17 R. Eric offered -- Eric said: I know 17  meeting with the govermment,
18  about your offer from the government of 18 And then that evening Eric and I met
19 El Balvador. &nd if you do that, you'll, you'll |19 by the pocl of the Hotel Barcelo, and he told me
20 do really well for six months. But then you're |20 the entire background about how Athena came to
21 going to to ask yourself what next, You don't 2l be involved in the project,
22 have the infrastructure to grow the business and | 22 Q. Ckay. I'mgoing to —- if I'm
-—|-23 - -—expand and-eapitalize on-the oppeortunity 23 fast-forwarding, tell me here. But at some
24 afterwards. Or you can, you can join our team, 24 point there becomes discussions relating to the
25 We'd like you to be the CTO. And we'll take you | 25 service that's the subject of this lawsuit;
Page 51 Page 53
1 around the world. We will give you —- yeah -- 1  correct?
2 we'll give you the opportimity to do what you're | 2 A, Correct,
3 doing already but not have to do the chief 3 Q.  When did those -- you provide —- when
4  everything officer role; you can just focus on 4 did, when did it become discussed that ROT was
5  the CTO role, 5 going to provide these services that brings us
6 And so he made it a binary choice. I 6 here today?
7 either had to do the govermment of Kl Salvador 7 A.  Around September 20th.
8 or I had to do Athena Bitccin —- and T 8 Q. OCkay. All right. So tell me how it
9 understoed it to be Inc. 2 is that there were discussions relating to ROI
10 And then I said: T need time to 10 providing the services that are the subject of
11 think about it. 11 the lawsuit.
12 Q. Ckay. I'm going to interrupt you 12 A.  There was a term sheet signed
13 right there. All right. In - do you recall -- |13 between ROT Developers and Athena Bitcoin, Inc.
14 - -all right, 14 that was essentially a letter of intent that had
15 Is this discussion occurring or 15 a compenent of outlining a potential employment
16 Cctober 4th? 16 agreement between myself and Athena Bitcoin,
17 A. No. 17 Inc. BAnd there was a scparate component with
18 Q.  Ckay. In your discovery responses 18  Athena Bitcoin, Inc. acquiring ROI Developers
19 you say [as read]: Owverton and Eric Gravengaard | 19  and its staff.
20 discussed in El Salvador on Qctober 4th, 2021, 20 That evening, after the discussion by
21 the software development services at issus that 21 the pool, Eric -~ I sent Eric an email outlining
22 Accruvia was performing and the cost for said 22  my exact understanding of what we were agreeing
23 services. 23 to. Bnd I alsoc outlined the fact that I was
24 Is that a different neeting? 24  giving up & four and a half million dollar
25 A, Completely different. 25  opportunity, that that was my expected profit
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1 from what I was bidding on in -- from the 1 buttorn.
2 govermment of El Salvador. 2 ATTORNEY FOWLER: It's okay. I'm
3 Ind so we signed a temm sheet that 3 going to ask him a question in a secong.
4 Athena Bitcoin, Inc. was going to acquire ROI 1 But I just want to make sure you've got it
5 Developers and that I, Shaun Overton, would 5 50 he and I can talk about it.
& become the CTO of that entity, 6 ATTORNEY STEWART: Okay. Well, I've
7 Q. Okay. BAnd in that term sheet 7 also got a hard copy in front of him. Do
8 there's — is there anything in this about ROT 8 you want me to share it?
9 providing services related to the Chivo project? 9 ATTCRNEY FOWLER: WNo, I've got it
10 A. Is it okay if I look at the tem 10 here In front of me. I'm okay. But let
11 sheet? 11 me ask a couple questions and he and I can
12 Q. Bure. Well, tell vou what. Before 12 talk sbout it, if that's ckay.
13 you lock at it, do you recall there being any 13 BY ATTORNEY FOWLER:
14 discussions about you providing services on the 14 Q. 8o -~ all right. So my question is:
15  Chivo project prior to your signing the term 13  You're saying that there were discussions
16  sheet? 16 Dbetween you and Eric that related to the Chivo
17 A.  Yeah. That's the entire —- what elge | 17 project, and you think those discussions were —-
18  are the developers going to work on? 18 would have been included in the term sheet?
19 Q. Well, I don't know. You told me that | 19 A, Yes,
20 there was discussions going on where you were -~ | 20 0.  And the -- you providing services on
21  where RUT was going to do stuff all over the 21  the Chivo project, that's what brings us here
22 world. Correct? ' 22 today; correct?
-23 ~- A, Yeah; in the Chivec Wallet context. 23 A, Correct.
24  Like at no point was there any doubt whatsoever |24 Q. Al right., BAll right. 8o you and
25  about what the Accruvia programmers would be 25 FEric are talking; he's talking about a lot of
. Page 55 Page 57
1 working on, They would be working on Athena's 1 things that you've told me, about including ROT
2 internal projects. 2  providing services on the Chiveo project; and
3 Q. Okay. Project or projects? Would 3  then you quys sign a term sheet, Is that
4  they be working on the Chivo project or multiple 4 correct?
5  projects? 5 A.  That's correct.
[} A, Initially, the Chivo Wallet project. 6 Q. Rll right. BAnd then T'm going to ask
7 And then Eric heavily implied to me that "going 7 Relly to show you the document that's been
%  around the world" meant servicing whatever §  Bates marked Athena 003 and 004 and 005. And
9 software requirements that Athena Bitcoin, Inc. 9 I'dask you: Is that the term sheet that you're
10 declded to pursue. 10 talking about?
11 Q.  Okay. 11 A, Yes,
12 A, And he specifically mentioned, like, 12 Q. Okay. 2And it's dated -~ if I see
13 some pretty crazy places, like Congo, West 13 that correctly, it's dated September 22nd, 2021;
14 Africa, He literally meant arcund the world. 14 is that right?
15 ATTORNEY FOWLER: Ckay. ALL right, 15 A. Yes, it is.
16 Just a.,. 16 Q. Ckay. 8o at this point,
17 Kelly, I didn't, T didn't download 17  September 22nd, 2021, have you provided any
18 the term sheet. Do you have it there to 18 services to any of the Athena entities that you
19 pull up? I've got & copy of it. It's 12 expected to get paid for by any of the Athena
20 your Bates number —- or it's our Bates 20 entities?
21 mmber 4, 21 A, No.
22 AITORNEY STEWART: Let me share it. 22 Q. Ckay. BSo prior to this execution of
23 Just a segond. 23 the temm sheet, everything you'd done --
24 Yes, I'm sorry. I've got it pulled 24 everything that ROT had done was for QA
25 up, I'm just trying to find the share 25 Consultants; right?
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1 A. Correct. 1 Q.  Until October 4th. 8o prior to
2 Q.  Ckay. So then -- 50 tell me what 2 Cctober 4th there was never any discussion about
3  happens next in this progression related to you 3 how much you were going tc be paid or how you
4  providing services to Athena that brings us here | 4  were going to be paild or who was going to pay
5 today. 5 you; correct?
5 A. The -~ 50, like, what this term sheet 6 &, Correct.
7  accomplished for Athena was that it severed the 7 Q. So what -- did any of that change on
§ govermnment's option to remowe it from the 8  October 4th?
9 project. And so the only way for Eric to 9 A. I mean, we ironed out the details.
10 pretect that source of business was to 10 But the same fundamental setup remained in
11 internalize the Accruvia development team within | 11 place.
12 its, within its company. 12 Q.  When you say "we ircned out the
13 And the very first day as —— the 13  details,” whc's "we"?
14 very first day the two-week contract with QA 14 A.  Myself and Eric Gravengaard,
15  Consultants expired, all of the developers that 15 Q.  And where did this conversation take
16 were working on the project no longer serviced 16 place?
17 QA Consultants; they serviced Athena Bitcoin, 17 A, In the stairwell on —- in the office
18  Ine. 18 building of Athena's offices in San Salvador,
19 Q. Wow, Are there any documents that 19 FEl Salvador.
20 show that? 20 Q. Okay. 3o tell me what you recall
21 A, It would be in the records of Athena |21 about the discussion.
22 for the Microscft Teams that I onboarded 22 A. T said: Erie, I need to pay my team,
23— -everybody, showing that everybody at Athena ~—- 23  and I need to know what yow think an appropriate
24 or at Accruvia, at ROI Developers was cnboarded | 24 markup is.
25 in Athena Bitcoin, Inc.'s Microsoft software, 25 The reason that I said that is I knew
Page 59 Page 61
1 Solutions. 1 how cash-poor Athena -- as all of the Athena
-2 Q. A1l right. This Microsoft software, 2 entities were., I didn't know the full extent of
3 _Solutions, what is that? What's that software 3 their cash problems until probably a week later.
4 utilized for? 4  But T knew that I was taking a Financial risk by
5 A. Email and chat. 5 paying my team and waiting to get paid from
6 Q. Okay. 8o you're saying the fact that 6  Athena Bitcoin, Inc.
7  accounts were set up for email and chat on a 7 End so I felt like probably a 10 or
8 Microsoft software that wes utilized by Athena 8 20 percent markup would be appropriate for a
9 Bitcoin, Inec. is, in your mind, something 9  short-term, short-term lcan. And -- but I asked
10 showing that Athena -- that ROI was providing 10 Bric to propose the terms, And he said: I
11 its services to Athena Bitcoin, Inc.; is that 11 don't kmow. A percent, a percent and a half?
12 correct? i2 I wasn't super-happy with it, But --
13 A. Yes, it is. 13 and it -- under no circumstance would I ever
14 Q. All right. So approximately when was | 14  work on a percent margin. But because of the
15 this - when was the accounts on the Microscft 15  pending acquisition and a four and a half
16  software, when were these set up? 16  million dollar payday on the line, T wasn't
17 4, Would have been September 22nd or 17  going to throw a Fit over making a few extra
18 September 23rd. 18 thousand dollars.
19 Q. Bo as of September 22nd or 19 Q. 5o you're saying on October 4th you
20  September 23xd, are you saying that the —- 20 and Eric discussed that Athena was going to pay
21 whatever Athena entity was going to be paying 21 ROT based on a markup of the —- what it paid its
22 the developers, your developers directly? 22  programmers; is that correct?
23 A, Mo, We didn't discuss the specific 23 A,  Yes, it is, And Bailey Jarrell's
24 tems of how T would bill or the way payments 24 included in there. She worked in marketing.
25 would flow., October 4th, 25  But vyes,
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1 Q. On Octcber 4, 2021, vhen you were 1 A. The reason I believe that's wrong is
2 having this discussion with Eric, was there any 2 that the one that paid my bill, the very first
3 discussion -- scratch that —- did Eric say 3 bill, was Athena Bitcoin, Inc.
4 specifically what entity you would be 4 Q. Okay. I'mnot -- what I'm asking you
5 contracting with? 5 right now is! BAs of Octoker 4th, okay, as of
6 A, No, € October 4th, 2021, you hadn't received any
7 Q. Okay. And as of Cctober 4th, 2021, 7 payment from anybody on -~ from Athena; correct?
§  you weren't aware of which Athena entity Eric 8 4. Correct.
S was acting on behalf of: correct? g Q. Okay. As of October 4th, 2021, did
10 A, We never explicitly outlined it; 10 you kelieve your agreement was with the same
11 correct, 11 perscen or entity that you entered into the term
12 Q. So then, as of October 4th, you 12 sheet with?
13 believed you were going to get paid a markup of 13 A. Yes.
14 what ROI was paying its developers. But as far |14 Q. 2nd that's whe you believe you were
15 as who was contractually obligated to pay you, 15 going to provide services to, and that's what
16  you didn't know yet: correct? 16  you belisved was going to pay you; correct?
17 A. T believed it was Athena Bitcoin, 17 A, I gaid earlier that T wasn't focused
18  Ine., from the term sheet where Eric's signature |18 on it because, to me, all I cared ahout was the
19 is, 19 cash outlay. 8o I had put no thought into which
20 Q. So you beliaved that vou were 20 entity was paying me.
21  contracting with the same party that signed the 21 Q. Okay. So then, as of October —-
22 term sheet that we looked at a moment ago; 22 well, I guess back to my question: BAs of
23 correct? . 23 October 4th, you had signed a term sheet;
24 A,  With Athena Bitcoin, Inc.; yes. 24 correct?
25 Q. That's not my question. My question 25 A,  Yes, that's true.
Page 63 Page 65
1 -is: Did you believe that in the stairwell, your | 1 Q. Okay. And you told me a moment ago
2 conversation between you and Eric, that you were 2 that that was the same entity vou were
3 contracting with the same entity that you signed | 3  contracting with to provide the services for the
4 the term sheet with? 4 Chivo project. Do you rememcer telling me that?
5 A. T don't think I had a strong opinion 5 A. I do.
6 on it at the time. 1 was more focused on just [ Q. Okay. So then, at least as of
T getting paid. 7 October 4th, isn't it true that you believed the
3 Q. all right. 8o then as of Cotober 8 entity that you were providing services to and
9 4th, 2021 —- which is the day you say you made % that you were going to get paid by was the same
19 the deal to provide the services -- you didn't 10  entity that you entered into the term sheet
11 know whe you were contracting with; correct? 11 with?
12 A. I didn't -- T disagree with how you 12 A,  No. The blunt truth is that I did
13 phrased the guestion. 13 not have any concern whatsoever. I had put no
14 C. What is it is about the question you 14 thought into which entity was going to pay me.
15 disagree with? 15 My only motivation and concern was getting paid
16 A. We formed the agreement on 16  in a timely mamner.
17 September 22nd, 17 Q.  Okay. So then, if the folks at
18 Q. Bnd is that when you signed the term 18  Athena Bitcoin Global, Inc. say that ag of
19  sheet? 19 Cctober dth, 2021, it waz the belief of Athena
20 A, Yes, it is, 20 Bitcoin Glohal that it entered inte this
21 Q. OCkay. Well, if that is, in fact, 21  agreement with ROI where ROI was going to
22 correct, then the —- isn't it true that the 22  provide the services for the Chivo project, you
23 party that you were contracting with to provids 23 wouldn't be able to contradict that testimony,
24 these services that we've been talking about was |24  would you?
25  the same party that signed the term sheet? 25 ATTCRNEY STEWART: Cbject to form.
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1 THE WITNESS: I don't have -~ like I 1 Q. That's not my question at the present
2 said, I didn't put any thought into which 2 time. My question to you was: At the time you
3 entity would pay me. 3 entered into this agreement, all the software
4  BY ATTORNEY FOWLER: 4 wad golng to be utilized by the government of
5 Q. Ckay. ALl right. 2and as of 5 El Salvador; correct?
& October 4th, 2021, tell me what type of services | 6 A. Primarily.
7 you thought ROI was going to be providing -- 7 Q. Well, who else was it going to be
8  excuse me. Poor question. 8 utilized by other than the govermment of
9 As of October 4th, 2021, you did S El Salvador?
10 understand that ROI was going to be providing 10 A. Athena. That was the promise, is
11 services related to the Chive project; correct? 11 that we signed the term sheet that Athena was
12 A,  BRbsolutely. 12 going to —- it owns the software and it was
13 Q. But as far as which entity you might 13 geing to sell the software to other governments
14 have been provided them to, you're telling us 14 around the world.
15 now that you didn't really give it much thought; | 15 Q. Okay. Well, as of October 4th, it
16 correct? 16 wasn't your understanding that the software was
17 A. Correct. 17 going to be scld to the United States
18 Q. A1l right. BAs of October 4th, 2021, 18 govermuent; correct?
19  were there any services that that ROT was going |19 4.  Yeah, I had no expectation it would
20 to be delivering to any of the Athena entities 20 be sold to the United $tates government,
21 for the Chive project that were going to relate 21 Q. And you had no expectaticn it was
22 to the State of Texas? 22 going to be sold to any governmental entities in
23 A, Bay that again. 23  the State of Texas; correct?
24 Q. The services ROI was going to 24 A,  Correct,
25 provide, ckay, as of October 4th —- whoever it 25 Q.  So as of October 4th, 2021, on or
Page 67 Page 69
1 was providing them to —- was there anything 1 before that date, did you have any discussions
2 about ROI providing those services that related 2 with anyone that you belisve was acting on
3 to the State of Texas? 3 behalf of any of the Athena entities that Bailey
q 4. Absolutely: 4 Jarrell was going to be performing any of the
5 Q. What? 5  programuing?
& A. Bailey Jarrell was a resident of 6 A.  Bailey being a programwer? No.
7 Paradise, Texas and performed the entirety of 7 Q. Okay. What services was Bailey going
8  her work and services in the State of Texas. 8  to be providing?
9 0. Ckay. ALl right, 9 A,  Marketing.
10 A.  And also I performed a portion of my 10 Q. Ckay. Marketing to who?
11 work within the State of Texas. And I'm trying |11 A.  She worked -- she was my marketing
12 to think if there's anything else that T can 12 director. And sc she was linked up with -- I
13 recail. 13  forget her name -- Georgina or Georgia. She's
14 0. All-right: Well, with regard to the 14  the CMO, the fractiomal CMO for Athena,
15 actual project, the Chive project, that software | 15 Q. Well, you told me a moment ago that
16  that's being created —- or that had been created |16 the agreement you reached with Athena was that
17  and that you are working the kinks out of — 17 you were going to mark up the rate that you had
18  that was all going to be utilized by the 18  to pay your programmers to work on the Chivo
19  govermment of El Salvador; correct? 19 project; cerrect?
20 A. Yes. But it was the property of 20 A,  Correct,
21 Athena. Eric and I had a long discussion the 21 Q.  So -- Bailey's not a programmer. So
22  night that we were by the pool —- 22 why was Bailey involved in the project?
23 ATTORNEY FCOWLER: I'm going to object | 23 A. The term sheet was for —- and the
24 as nonresponsgive, 24 agreement that Eric and I came to and
25  BY ATTORNEY FOWLER: 25 specifically in the email that I sent him the
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1 night before, was that all of the Accruvia's 1 (Recesa. )

2 contractors and employees would have a role. 2 BY ATTORNEY FOWLER:

3 And s¢ Eric agreed, 3 Q. ALl right. So Bailey Jarrell did

q And T specifically asked him on 4 provide software development services; correct?

5  October 4th about Bailey Jarrell -- hand on —— 5 A,  Correct.

6 mnot on October 4th —- on September 21st, the 4 Q. Okay. And Bailey Jarrell did not

7 night that we were by the pool, about her 7  program; correct?

§ continuing to have a role. Aand he agreed, 8 A, Correct.

9 And when we discussed the markup, it 9 Q. B¢ with regard -- and you're saying
10 was primarily for the programmers. But Bailey 10 Bailey Jarrell provided marketing services; is
11 is obvicusly listed on the invoice that was 11 that correct?

12 paid. And part of the discussion was reminding | 12 A, Yes, it is,

13 him that, that Bailey was included as well. 13 Q. Ckay. All right. And you indicated

1 Q. 5o what services did Bailey provide 14 Bailey Jarrell lives in Texas; correct?

15 related to the Chivo project? 15 A, Correct,

16 A.  She didn't work on the Chivo project 16 Q. Okay. Do you know where Bailey

17 at all. She worked directly for Georgia -- I 17 Jarrell was located when Bailley was providing

18  think that's her name -- Georgia or Georgina ~- 18  whatever services it was that she provided?

19 at -- exclusively at her direction. 19 A. T believe she was in Paradise, Texas,

20 Q. All right. Who did Georgina work 20 from her home,

21 for? 21 Q. What do you base that belief on?

22 A.  BAthena Bitcoin, Inc. 22 A.  She works from home for the vast
_.123 Q.. A1l right.. Do you know specifically |23  majority of her employment with me.

24 it was Athena Bitcoin, Inc., or could it have 24 Q. Okay. Did she ever work in

25 Dbeen Athena Bitcoin Glokal? 25 El Salvador?

Page 71 Page 73

1 A. I don't have direct knowledge, : 1 A. No.

Z Q. All right., But Bailey Jarrell did 2 Q. Okay. But just to make sure I

3 ot work on the Chivo project; correct? 3 understand, with regard to all of these folks,

4 A.  Define -- it depends on how you 4  Bailey and the programmers, they wers not being

5 define "the Chivo project." &nd the reason I —- 5 paid directly by the Athena entities; correct?

6 there was this conference coming up ia 6 A.  They were paid by me, by —- ves,

7 Bl Salvador where Athena Bitcoin was a sponsor. 7 by ROI Developers.

8  And Bailey was working very closely with the cMD 8 Q. Okay. And tell me again, prior to

8 to support the marketing efforts within 9 Octcber 4th, 2021, tell me about any specific
10 El Salvador. 10 cenversation you can recollect with anybody who
11 S0 how, how closely vou want to tie 11 you believe was acting on behalf of an Athena
12 that to Chivo Wallet, it's up to you. But it 12 entity where it was discussed that Bailay
13 was directly connected to El Salvador. 13 Jarrell lived in Texas?

14 ATTORNEY STEWART: Hey, Larry, I need |14 A, I don't recall a specific

15 to take a bathroom break when you gat a 15 conversation about Bailey's residence.

16 chance. 16 Q. Okay. 8o then, as of Octoher 4th,

17 ATTORNEY FOWLER: Oh, you know what. 17 2021, as far as you know, Athena —- there was no
18 I'm so sorry. I meant to say that at the 18 one at Athena that knew that Bailey Jarrell

18 beginning. 19 lived in Texas; correct?

20 This isn't an endurance contest, If |20 ATTORNEY STEWART: Objection; form.
21 you ever need a break, all you've get to 21 THE WITNESS: Disagree. I -- her,

22 say is "I need a break." 22 her CMC and supervisor apsolutely knew she
23 So let's ~- is five minutes enough, 23 lived in Texas --

24 Kelly? 24 BY ATTORNEY FOWLER:

25 ATTCRNEY STEWART: Yeah, Thanks. 25 Q.  Ckay.
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1 A, -- on the bagis of the prior 1 answer.
Z  conversation, 2 ATTORNEY STEWART: ILarry, I'm sorry.
3 Q. Well, hang on a second. A1l right. 3 I only printed the original -- you want
4  But as of —- all right. Prior to October 4th, 4 the original one or the supplemental one?
5 2021, had Bailey Jarrell ever done any work on 5 ATTCRNEY FOWLER: No, it doesn't
&  this Chivo project? 6 matter. Tt's in the original answer.
7 A, I've already cutlined how her 7 ATTORNEY STEWART: Okay. Then I need
8  work had heen -~ on that date, I don't know at 8 to print the supplemental if you're going
9 what point her -- the CMO started directing her 9 to ask him about that.
10 to work on the El Salvador conference. Sc I 10 ATTORNEY FOWLER: Okay. Right now,
11 don't lnow for that specific date. 11 just the original interregatory number 2.
12 Q. Okay. Well, prior to -- all right, 12 THE WITNESS: Yeah; Cctcber 4th is
13 Ask it this way: BAs we sit here today, tell me |13 where we outlined the exact payment terms,
14  what information you're aware of that makes you 14 that you're going to mark up -~ I'm going
15 believe someone at any of the Athena entities 15 to mark up the inveice by a percent and a
16 Imew that Bailey Jarrell lived in Texas. And 16 half.
17  this is prior to Octcber dth, 2021. 17 But that was the entirety of that
18 A, Because she was directly assigned to 18 discussion. That was literally the only
19  the CMO. And the CMO directed the entirety of 19 thing we talked about, is how much my
20 her work. I did not manage Bailey in any form 20 markup was going to be.
21 whatsoever, The CMO was completely responsible 21 The actual initiation of the services
22 for what she was working on. 22 started September 22nd or 23rd,
|23 Q.  And what -- when you're saying "CMO," |23 BY ATTORNEY FOWLER:
24 what does that stand for? 24 Q. Okay. And pursuant to the term
25 A, Chief marketing offer, 25 sgheet?
Page 75 Page 77
1 Q. Ckay., Well -- okay. Prior to 1 A, No,
2 October 4th, 2021, had ROI provided any services 2 Q.  What do you mean "no"?
3 that it thought was going to be paid for by one 3 A, Well, we have —- like Accruvia or ROI
4  of the Bitcoin entities? 4 Developers is located within the Athena mbrella
5 4.  Yeah, absolutely. 5 and everything that I'm working on is for Athena
6 Q. Ckay. Ail right., Then I'm a little € PBitcoin, Ine, that -- the term sheet is just for
7 bit off on my dates. I know that when you first | 7 acquiring the company and making me the CTO,
8  started work on the Chivo project, it was &  But my understanding is that the, the -- that I
9  Dbecause of the phone call from Brian and you 9 would be hired for Athena Bitcoin, Inc. and that
10 worked with his company; right? 10 my contractors would be hired by Athena Bitcoin,
11 4. Through September -~ whatever the 11 Inc. because that's what absclutely everybody in
12 date that we signed the term sheet was. 12 the Athena umbrella cperates under, is Athena
13 Q. Ch, okay. Okay. That's what I'm 13  Bitcoin, Inc.
14 looking for, So -- 14 Q. Well, let me ask: I mean, a minute
15 A, Yeah. There's a gap from the 23rd 15 ago you told me that you were providing these
16  through Cctober 4th that you're overlooking, 16  services pursuant to the temm sheet. Are you
17 Q. QOkay. In your response to discovery |17 changing your testimony now?
18 you indicated that you reached the agreemsnt 18 A, T am.
18 with Athena for these programming services on 19 Q. I guess after we had the opportunity
20 October 4th. BAnd that was the conversation you 20 to take a break. Band during that break, did you
21  had in the stairwell; is that right? 21l have the opportunity to converse with your
22 A. No, 22 attorney?
23 Q.  Okay. I know Kelly has your 23 A. Yes.
24  discovery angwers there. Would you please look | 24 Q. Ckay. All right, Prior to
25 at ipterrogatory nuber 2 in your original 25  October 4th, did you ever have a discussion —
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1 when did you discuss that you were going to 1 ROI?
2 provide service -- priecr to October 4th, when 2 A, Idon't —— I, I really don't
3 did you ever discuss with anybody at any Athena 3  understand -~ like -- as I keep saying, we
4 entity that you were -~ that ROI was going to 4  didn't have the specific tems of what the
5 provide some form of services that were good to 5 billing rate was going to be.
6 be paid for by this Athena entity? 6 But for me, that was implicit, when
7 A, I'm still confused how that would be T you're asking me to provide a service and you
8 even remctely in question; because Athena was 8 know I charge for it. Like -- so the payment
8 directing me and the, the contractors that came 9 terms were on October 4th. The rest of it is
10  with me. 8o —- 10 them telling us what they want us to work on.
11 ATTORNEY FCWLER: Objection; 11 Like, I don't understand what else
12 nonresponsive, 12 you're locking for,
13 BY ATTORNEY FOWLFR: 13 Q.  Well, you're saying that prior to
14 Q. My question is: Prior to 14 October 4th, folks at Athena were directing
15 Octoker 4th, 2021, tell me any conversation you 15  programmers on work they desired to be done;
1lé  ever had with anybody at Athena where you agreed |16 correct?
17 that ROI was going to provide services and 17 A. Yes, absolutely,
18  Athena was going to pay for those services. 18 Q. OCkay. Well, that was going on while
18 A.  I'm confused why you're upset. 19 you were getting paid by QU Consultants alaso;
20 ATTORNEY STEWART: Just answer the 20 correct?
21 question. 21 A, No.
22 THE WITNESS: But -~ like, they're 22 Q. Okay. So was there — prior to
23 . dirécting my programmers to work on code. 23 October dth, 2021, was there ever an agreesment
24 - Like, they're telling me what they want my (24 on how much Athena was going to pay ROI for the
25 team to work on. What's the question 25 services that you say were being requested?
Page 79 Page 81
1 here? . 1 A.  No, no payment terms were set prior
2 BY ATTORNEY FOWLER: 2 to October 4th,
3 Q.  The question is: Tell me when vou 3 Q.  All right. Was there ever g
4 ever discussed prior to October 4th, 2021, with 4 discussion where anybody at Athena explicitly
5 anyone at Athena that you were going to be paid %  told you that Athena was going to pay ROI for
6 Dby Athena for any work you did. 6 services, prior to Octcher 4th, 20217
7 A.  Bs I've testified, we discussed the 7 A. I don't recall anything specific
8 actual payment terms on Octcber 4th, and prior 8 zbout the —- I don't recall having a specific
8 to that we had not discussed any payment terms. 9  dizcussion because, as T keep saying, they're
10 Q. I'm not asking how much you're going 10 directing me; zc that to me was understood.
11 to get paid. My question is: Prior to 11 Q.  Bc what you're saying -- your
12 Gctober dth, 2021, did you ever discuss with 12 testimony is that prior to October 4th, 2021,
13 anybody at Athena that you -— that ROT was going |13  you never had a discussion with anybody at
14 to provide services to Athena and Athena was 14 Athena, at any of the Athena entities, that ROI
15 going to pay for those services? 15 was going to get paid for services: is that
16 A. T really don't understand why you 16 right?
17 think I'm being difficult, ILike, they're 17 A, That seems preposterous to me. I
18 telling me to —- 18 don't recall a specific discussion. But in mo
18 Q. That's not my —— excuse me. Whether |19 way would I ever just start programming for
20 I think you've being difficult or not isn't the |20 somebody without the expectation of getting
21 issue, 21 paid. '
22 My question is really basic: Prior 22 Q. Well, as we sit here, can you tell me
23 to October 4th, 2021, did you ever discuss with |23  about any conversations you recall with anyhody
24 anybody at Athena that ROT was going to provide 24 at Athena, prior to October 4th, 2021, related
25 services to Athena and Athena was going to pay 25  to ROI being paid for services by an Athena —1
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1 entity? 1 MoneyGram,

2 A. I don't recall a specific discussion. 2 8o without the ATMs -~ they have to

3 Q. Okay. So the only gpecific 3 use the ATMs in Texas to do the whole peint of

4 discussion you recall occurred on October 4th, 4  the project.

5 2021 between you and Eric in El Salvador; 5 Q. Are you saying that you -- your

6 correct? & testimony is that it had to use Athena Bitcoin

7 A. Yes, Correct. 7 ATMs in Texas to function?

8 Q.  And at the time you were having those 8 A. Tt had to use Athena Bitcoin ATMs,

9  conversations -- scratch that. 9  including in Texas, tc function; yes,

10 Are part of the services that are at 10 Q. 8¢ no other ATM in the State of Texas
11 issue in the lawsuit services that occurred 11 except Athena Bitcoin ATMs would function with
12 prier toc October 4th, 20217 12 the software; is that what you're telling ma?

13 A.  Yes, absolutely. 13 A.  Without charging a conmission; yes.
14 Q. All right. When I asked you earlier |14 The whole point is comnissions. Everything

15 what it was about this contract that related to 15 we're talking about is remittances and getting
16 State of Texas, you told me Bailey Jarrell lived |16 rid of the commissions, because that means 400
17 in Texas and you alsc did part of the work in 17 to -~ 300 million to a billion dollars a year

18 Texas; correct? 18  for one of the poorest countries in the world,
19 A, Correct, 19 TLike the whole point is to get rid of the

20 Q. All right. Is there anything else 20 commission system,

21 about the work that ROI did pursuant to this 21 Q. Well, in your discussions with the

22 agreement that relates to the State of Texas? 22 govermment of Fl Salvador, was the State of

23 A, Yeah. The whole point of the Chivo 23 Texas menticned?

24 Wallet ecosystem was the very beginning of our 24 A, Yes; because of the consulates.

25  discussion today, of the important —- the whole 25 Q. Okay. Well, and —- okay. All right.

Page 83 Page 85

1 purpose of the product ia that you can go up to 1 What was it that was mentioned about the

2 a physical ATM and put monevy in it and send it 2 consulates?

3 to El Salvador, Without the physical ATMs in 3 A, As Lorenzo was explaining the

4 Texas, it deesn't make any sense. 4 ecosystem to me, he said we have ATMs across the
5 Q.  Well —- okay. And that's any ATM 5 United States. Some of thew that are in

& anywhere in the world, correct -- & El Salvador community places, like Salvaderefio

7 A. Incorrect, 7  restaurants. But he also mentioned that we have
8 Q. - that sends Bitcoin? § ATMs in the consulates across the Uniteg States,
9 A.  Incorrect. 9 including Dallas, and that - T might be missing
10 Q. Okay. Well, which -- what does it 10 something, but that's the gist of it,

11  take for the ATM to function to be able to sand 11, 0. Okay. The ATMs at the consulates, is
12 the Bitcoin to the Chive Wallet? 12 it your testimcny that those ATMs belong te a —
13 A. A typical markup when you interact 13 to one of the defendants in the lawsuit?

14 with a Bitcoin ATM is anywhere from 10 to 14 A. T believe they are, yes.

15 20 percent, But the entire purpose of the 15 Q.  But your understanding was that

16 project is to remit money at a cheaper rate than |16 the — when you ware talking to the

17  the average 12 and a half percent that Western 17  representative From Fl Salvadcr, they ware

18  Union and MoneyGram charge. 18 talking about ATMs at their consulates; correct?
19 So a fundamental portien of the Chive | 19 A, That is — including at the

20 Wallet ecosystem is the agreement between Athena | 20 consulates. But, yes, Like the ~- my
21  Bitcoin, Inc, and the government of El Salvador 21 understanding from Lorenzo was that they have
22 that Athena is not going to charge any kind of 22 contracted for access to all of the Athena ATMs
23 substantial commission for providing its 23 across the United States and that the
24  services. That's the only way that sending a 24 govermment, as part of the contract, asked them
25 remittance gets rid of Western Union and 25  to place ATMs within the consulates.
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1 Q. But you don't have any personal 1 TYou use an external platform to send those
Z  knowledge on who owns or operates those ATMs at 2  messages for you,
3  the consulates; correct? 3 And in the same way, when we interact
4 A, I think it's in the SEC S1 disclosure 4 with the AIMs, we have to talk directly to the
5  from earlier this year that Athena Bitcoin, Inc. 5 AIMS. Otherwise, there's no way you're ever
6 is the operating entity within the United 6 going to, like, know where this money came from.
7  States, 7 And when we deployed the code, we had
8 Q. Well, the conversation you had with 8 had a checklist of all the different groups of
9 the individual in El Salvador related to ATMs at | 9 servers that needed to get copies of the
10 their consulates; correct? 10 software. Primarily, those servers ware Chivo
11 A,  Yes, that's correct. 11  Wallet. But the ATM deployment was a specific
12 Q.  And that was all over the country; 12 deployment that we would do every single night.
13 correct? 13 So it had to talk to the ATMs; otherwise,
14 A. Correct, 14 there's no point.
15 Q. Okay. But no one from Athena —- any 15 Q.  Well, it talked to them. It had %o
16  of the Athena entities has told you that the 18 be compatible; correct?
17 AMMs in the consulates are their property, have 17 A. No. It had to talk to them directly,
18 they? 18  Like, we had to know if the ATMs were working or
19 A, EBric did. 19 not because pecple are trying to use Athena ATMs
20 Q. Who? Say it again, 20 so that they don't have to pay the commissions.
21 A. Eric Gravengaard did, 21  Like, we have to know if an ATM's not working.
22 Q. Eric said that the ATMs in the 22 Q. Okay. But your testimony is that the
23  consulates were Athena property? 23 only ATMs that could talk to the Chive project
24 - A, Correct. 24  wallets werc ATMs owned by Athena?
25 Q. Did you ever have any conversations 25 A. My testimony is that you could use
Page 87 Page 89
1 with anyone at Athena related to the utilization 1 the ATMs ouned by Athena to skip the
2 of the software related to Athena ATMs in the 2 commissions, which is the entire point of
3  State of Texas? 3 building Chivo Wallet,
4 A. Not specifically about the State of 4 Yes, you can use another Bitcoin ATM,
5 Texas, but ATMs came up all the time. 5 But you would pay a 10 to 20 percent commission,
6 Q. . Ckay. But the —- to make sure I 6 which is a very dumb economic decision. You
1 understand -- but the software that you were 7 should use the fres one.
§ working on related to the Chivo Wallet, none of 8 Q. ALl right. But if you don't live
9 that software was directly placed on the ATMs; 9 around an ATM that happens to give the -- to
10 correct —- 10 beleng to an Athena entity, you can use another
11 A.  Incorrect, 11 ATM; correct?
12 Q. - in the United States? 12 A.  Yes. You'll pay a higher commission.
13 A.  Not correct. 13 But, yes, you can use any Bitcoin - not the
14 Q. -What's not correct about it? 14 ATM. Anything Bitcoin will talk to it.
15 A. It's an API. 5o Athena —- Chivo 15 Q. ALl right. And when you're talking
16  Wallet is not really -- it's better thought of 16 about all of this deploying the software, is
17 as a collection of extarnal services that are 17 this the sawe thing you were doing when you
18 all glued together; and when glued together, 18 first began the work for QA Consultants?
19 They form Chivo Wallet. Sc you have all of 1% A.  No. We never deployed software as
20 these supporting roles that don't make sense to | 20 part of QA Consultants,
21 program yourself. 21 ATTORNEY FOWLER: Okay., Kelly, would
22 For example, when you log in, you 22 you show him on the exhibits in the
23 have to do two-factor authenticaticn; you have 23 documents, it's your document number —-
24 to use a cellphone. It doesn't any make sense 24 begins with Bates nmumber 11,
25  to program your own way of sending SMS messages, |25 ATTORNEY STEWART: Okay. He's got it
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1 in front of him, 1 Q. All right. So how would I, in
2  BY ATTCRNEY FOWLER: 2 looking at this total, $16,666.67, how would I
3 Q. Okay. Mr., Overton, if you would 3 koow how much of that work was done in
4 slide down to Bates mumber 12. 4 El Salvador versus how much of that work was
5 A.  Okay. 5 done in Texas?
6 Q. Do you see that page? What is this [ A,  From looking at the invoice?
7 document? 7 Q.  Well, right now my question is: From
8 A, It's my invoice to Athena Bitcoin for | 8 locking at the invoice, is there any way to
9  the programming work and the marketing work done | 9  know ——
10 in October of 2021, 10 A.  From locking at the invoice, no,
11 Q.  All right. Is there anything, 11 there is no way to know just from leoking at the
12 anywhere on here where it says that you're 12 inveice.
13 billing for marketing work? 13 Q.  Are there documents in existence that
14 A. T don't see anything about marketing 14 1 could look at that would tell me how much of
15 work; no. 15  that billing occurred in Bl Salvador versus how
16 0. And then the work that vou did here 16 much of that billing occurred in Texas?
17 on this page, where it says $16,666.67, do you 17 A.  Yes; the flight records.
18 see that entry? 18 Q.  Well, the flight records tell us what
19 A. I do. 18 town you were -- or, excuse me -—- what country
20 Q. Okay. Where was that work performed? | 20 you were in; correct?
21 A. Texas and El Salvador. 21 A, Well, yes, they do.
22 Q. Is there any way for us to know how 22 Q. All right. 3o are you telling me
23 much 'was El Salvador, how much.was Texas? 23 that for the entire time you're in Rl Salvador,
24 A.  Yeah; you paid for my flights. 24 you billed for every day you're there?
25 Q. Okay., .But do we know -- is there a 25 A. This was just a flat fee.
Page 91 Page 93
1 way for us to know -- out of the $16,666.67 that 1 Q. Okay. What was the fee?
2 you were billing Athena for;-is there any way of | 2 A.  The $200,000 salary that I expect —-
3 knowing how much of that work of that §16,000 3 yeah, I think it's $200,000 salary that T
4 was done in El Salvador? 4  expected from Athena Bitcoln, Inc., T just
5 A, Ihbsolutely, 5 divided that by 12, and that was my rate.
6 Q. How? 3 Q. Ckay, So that's $16,665.67, it's not
7 A.  The flights. So Athena booked my 7 for programming; right?

8 flights. It should have all the records of 8 A, It's for -- well, I mean, partially
8 where I was physically present on every single 9 for programmning. Very little for programming.
10 day throughout the duration of my relationship 10 It's primarily for project managemsnt, like the

11 with them. 11 CTO role was my functional role. It's what I

12 Q. Okay. Well, how would I know how 12 was labeled as in the M3 Teams envirconment.

13 many hours you spent werking in EL Salvador 13 Q. Is there a —~ all right. Two

14 versus how many hours you spent working in 14 questions, First question: Is there a document
15  Texas? 15  anywhere that I could look at that should show
i6 A. I would, I would take the total of 16 that how were -- how you calculated the

17 the days I worked in Texas, and that's the 17  $16,666.677

18  portion that I worked in Texas, BAnd then I'd 18 A. No.

19 take the days that I worked the El Salvador, and | 19 Q. At any point in time did you ever

20  that's the total in El Salvador. 20 discuss with anyone at Athena that you were

21 Q. Ckay. What document -- do you have 21 going to be billing based en the $200,000 salary
22 documents that show when you billed for work in {22  and then divide by 127

23 Texas versus when you billed for work in 23 A, No.

24 Tl Salvador? 24 Q. Did you ever discuss with anyone at
25 A. No, I do not. 25  Athena that these invoices would include a
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1 charge for you related to a salary? 1 and partially El Salvador. ATMs are the
2 A. T -~ this is all getting, this is all | 2 critical cemponents of the software working in
3 getting mixed up because of the, I guess, the 3  general.
4 chaos. What was your question again? 4 And your question was about my work
5 Q. My question was: Did you ever 5 in the State of Texas?
& discuss with anyone at any Athena entity that 6 Q. Any -- right now my question is:
7 you were going to be charging for and billing 7 Other that what vou've told me, which is about
8 for you, for your services, based on a salary? 8  you and Bailey and the comnection to the ATMs.
9 A. Actually, yes. When we, when -- in 2 Is there anything else about your
10 the -- on Octocber 4th, when I was talking to 10  agreements with Athena that you contend relate
11 Erie, I had to ask him about my rate. And I 11 to the State of Texas?
12 said: 8ince we haven't actually pinned down my |12 A, At the moment I can't think of
13 salary, is it okay if I split the difference? 13 anything else.
14 Q. Okay. All right. You got there 14 Q. Okay. Now, with regard to your
15 the — okay. You have there in front of you the |15 charges, okay, you just told us that your
16 term sheet we were talking about; correct? 16 charges are simply an annual salary and that's
17 A, I do. 17  what you're billing; correct?
18 0. Okay. BAnd what you're referencing, 18 A. Correct.
1% it sounds like, is there on —- under FEmployient 19 Q.  And so for your services, it didn't
20 Agreement on page 4. Look at the paragraph and |20 matter where you were; you were still going to
2l let me ask you: Is that what you're 21 charge what you contend your szlary was.
22  referencing? 22 Correct?
23 -.-~ A, Under the Purchaser section, 23 A.  Correct.
24 Qe Well, where it say Employment 24 ATTORNEY FOWLER: All right. I'm
25  Agreement, second paragraph from the bottom on 25 going to have to share this one; see if T
Page 95 Page 97
1 page 4. i can figure ocut how to do it.
2 “Av  Yes, that is where those mumbers come 2 (Discussion held off the recerd.)
3 from. 3 BY ATTORNEY FOWLER:
4 Q. Okay. 3o the charges for your time 4 Q. Would you take a moment and look at
5 onall of those invoices are based on a salary 5 that document, page 34 of 38.
& pursuant to the employment agreement that's 6 A, Yes.
7 being discussed in the term sheet; correct? 7 Q. Okay, Do you recognize that
8 A. That's where those mmbers come from, 8  document?
9 Q. S0 is it true that you were billing 9 A, I do.
10 Athena pursuant fo the salary that's discussed 10 Q. And do you recognize the exhibits
11 in the term sheet? 11 that were attached to it?
12 A. TFor my particular salary, yes, that's |12 A. Yeah. They've my invoices.
13 wvhere that number comes Ffrom. 13 Q. Okay. And am I correct that this
14 Q.  Okay. What about Bailey Jarrell? 14 letter that's dated December 14th, 2021 From
15 Was her time marked up the same as the 15 Christopher McNeill to Zachary Soto was a letter
16  programmers? 16 sent by an attorney representing ROI?
17 A, Correct, 17 A, I do.
16 Q. Okay. Okay. Were there — is there 18 Q. Did you retain Mr. McNeill to send
18 anything else that you can contend or you 1% this letter?
20 believe was —- scratch that. 20 A, I did.
21 Can you tell me anything else about 21 Q. Did you review the letter before it
22 your arrangement with Athena that related to the |22 was sent?
23 State of Texas? 23 A. Yes,
24 A,  So we have Balley deing the marketing | 24 Q. Okay. All right. I'd ask you to
25 work here. We have me partially working here 23  take a winute and reread that letter. And then
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1  I'm going to ask you if you agree with 1 invoices that were actually not for programming?

2 everything that's in the letter. 2 A, WNot that I can recall, no.

3 &. I already read it, and T don't, 3 Q. And out of all the folks that are

4 Q. OCkay. What is it that's in the 4 listed on your inveice, the only two that

5 letter that you don't agree with? 5 potentially provided any services in the State

[ A,  Athena Bitcoin Glcbal. 6 of Texas ave yourself and Railey Jarrell;

7 Q.  Where are you referring to? 7 correct?

8 A, [As read]: This law firm represents 8 A, Correct.

9  ROI Developers, Inc, d/b/a Accruvia, which has 9 Q. At any point prior to October 4th,

10 retained us to assist in its collection of the 10 2021, did you discuss with anybody at any Athena
11 outstanding amounts owed to it by Athena Bitecin | 11 entity that any of the services that you would
12 Global, Athena. 12 be providing were going to be performed in the
13 Q. S0 you're telling us today you don't 13 State of Texas?

14  agree with that statement? 14 A, Yes. Bailey Jarrell was part of the
15 A. It should have been Athena Bitcoin, 15 discussion. Like, we specifically talked about
16  Inc. 16 when -- before I entered inte any relationship
17 Q.  Well, you looked at this before your 17 with Athena, part of the terms were that all

18 lawyer sent it; right? 18  employees -- including Bailey, who is not a

18 4. Briefly; ves. 1% programmer -- she would come with me. We

20 Q.  Well, you conferred with him before 20 explicitly discussed that.

21  he sent it: correct? 21 Q. Okay. What about you? Was there

22 A, I did, yes. 22 ever any discussicn that any of the services you
23 Q.  And on the exhibits, there's nothing |23  would be providing would be potentially done in
24 that says "Athena Global," is there -- "Athena 24 the State of Texas?

25 Bitcoin Global"? 25 A,  Absclutely.

Page 99 Page 101

1 A, On the exhibits it does not say 1 Q. who did you discuss it with?

2 "Global," no. It say "Athena Bitcoin.™ 2 A, Eric Gravengaard.

3 Q. Okay. Sc your lawyer, when he sent 3 Q.  When?

4 this letter, he didn't ‘get the term Athena 4 A. The -- on September -- the night of

5 Bitcein Global off of your invoices; right? 5 September 21st or 22nd -- September 21st.

6 A, I don't know where he got that term. 6 Q. Tell me what you recall saying

7 But, correct, he did not get it from the 7 related to you performing service in the State

8 invoice. 8§ of Texas,

9 Q.  Well, he would have had to have g A.  That T would not be in El Salvador

10 gotten it from you, wouldn't he? 10 the entire time; that I have a wife and three

11 ATTORNEY STEWART: Objection; form. 11 children whom are very important to me; and that
12 THE WITNESS: At no point did I 12 1 could not be away constantly and that I would
13 direct Mr. McNeill to specifically say —- 13 need to work remotely.

14 address it to Athena Bitcoin Global. 14 Q. Okay. 2nd then with regard to Bailey
15 BY ATTORNEY FOWLER: 15 Jarrell, the conversation was -- you're telling
16 Q.  Okay. But when you loocked at the 16  me that you told them, Hey —— well, scratch

17 letter, you didn't suggest it be changed before |17 that. I'm not going to put words in your mouth.
18 it was sent; correct? 18 What do you recall specifically

18 A. Correct. 19 saying about Bailey related to the State of

20 Q. On the invoices that are on here, we 20 Texas?

21 now know the mumbers that are on here for you 21 A, I valued my relationship with Bailey;
22 are not for programeing; the mubers that are on |27  that she's a W2 employees; I do not want her to
23 there for Bailey Jarrell are not for 23 lose her job just because I'm signing this --

24 programuing. 24 I'm coming t¢ an agreement with you; so she has
25 Are there any other entries on these 25 to come with us and she continues to work for
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1 Athena, 1  well, no, I did not.
2 And 30 -- and I -- it was tangential. 2 0. In connection with the Chivo Wallet
3 At no point was Texas the focus. But I did 3 project, other than potentially Bailey Jarrell,
4 mention she was located in Texas and comes to 4 are you aware of anybody else — other than
5 the office once a week, 5 yourself -- that potentially provided any type
& Q. Ckay. Did you say that you did not 6 of services related to the Chivo Wallet project
7 want to lose her -- or you didn't want her to 7 in the State of Texas?
8  lose her job because you were signing the term 8 A, I can't recall anything additional at
9 sheet, or did you say you didn't want her to 9  this tine.
10 lose her job because you were entering into an 10 Q.  How many A~ -- well, scratch that,
11 agreement? 11 Do you have any understanding how
12 A,  Because I'm entering into an 12 many ATMs Athena Bitcoin, Inc. owns in the State
13  agreement. . 13 of Texas?
14 Q. 80 a moment ago when you started to 14 A. T think it's somewhere around ten,
15 say because you wers entering intc that -- the 15 Q. You're not testifying today that it
16  term sheet, that was just a misstatement on your |16 was your expectation that the only persons in
17 part. Is that what you're telling me? 17 Texas that would take advantage of the Chive
18 A. I was overly apecific, 18 wWallet in El Salvador were going to use those
19 Q.  Well, was part of the discussion 1%  ten ATMs only, are you?
20 related to Balley Jarrell and related to you 20 A,  For remittances, I would expect that
21  didn't want her to lose her job because ROT was 21 90, 95 percent of them occur on an ATM owned by
22 entering into the term sheet? 22 Athena or operated by ATM,
N I A.. On September ~- yes. In September, 23 Q. Sc out of all the ATMs in the State
24 yeah; that is true.- : i 24 of Texas that might have been — could have been
25 Q. Well, after that conversation in 25  used to send money to E1 Salvador, you're
Page 103 Page 105
1 September, did you ever have any other 1 saying -~ your teatimony is that at least
2 conversations with anybody at Athena where you 2 90 percent of those transactions would have used
3 said "Hey, I don't want her to lose her job" 3 those ten ATMs?
4 related to anything? 4 A, Correct.
5 A, I'm trying to remember when the 5 Q. But as far as the Chivo Wallet
6 conversation T had with —- yes; becauss in the 6 itself, you had to be a resident of El Salvador
7 - middle of Octeber I basically didn't supervise 7 in order to utilize it; correct?
8 Bailey at all because I was so consumed with 8 A. Incorrect,
9 putting cut the dumpster fire of the software g Q. What's incorrect sbout that?
10 that she -~ I finally got a chance to catch with | 10 A, You have to be a citizen of
11 her and let her know what was going on. 11 El Salvador to use Chive Wallet. But, but that
12 And then she -- and then at some 12 means that you can live -~ you can in be an
i3 point I talked to, I think, Gecrgia. And she 13 El salvador citizen and live in the United
14 mentioned that —- I mentioned how important it 14  S3tates,
15 was that Bailey have a career path for her. And |15 Q. Okay. Thank you, Do you have to, do
16 she reassured me that she's doing great and the 16  you have to be physically in El Salvador in
17 remote work arrangement was working out well. 17 order to prove up that, Hey, I'm a citizen and
18 Q. Okay. And when do you think this 18 entitled to use it
19 was? . 19 A.  With DUI -- D-U~T —- which is kind of
20 A, I'm not super-specific on the dates, 20 like the Social Security equivalent in
21 But it would have been somewhere around the 21  El Salvador. If you have the DUI, you can sign
22 middle of October. 22 up for Chivo Wallet. And I believe that anybody
23 Q. Did you ever meet with anyone from 23 could send money intc Chivo Wallet
24 Athena in the State of Texas? 24 commission-free,
25 A, No. Well, T think I ran into —— 25 So I don't think you — I don't know
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1 this for certain; but I'm pretty sure that if 1 at a minute ago. It's cne of the exhibits

2 you sent money into a Chive Wallet on an 2 attached to the letter from your lawyer?

3 Athena-operated ATM, it wouldn't pay commission. 3 ATTORNEY STEWART: Hold on, Ilarry,

4 Q. It wouldn't what? 4 We're trying to find it.

5 A, If you're -- like, the Athena ATM 5 THE WITNESS: Is it Bates number 127
6 Iknows that you're sending money into z Chivo 6  BY ATTORNEY FOWLER:

7  Wallet address, 7 Q. Wo. HNo, this isn’t a Bates. What

8 Q. Ckay, 8 I'm looking at is on that letter from your

g A. T believe, but I'm not certain, when 9 lawyer, the next-to-last page, which is 31, it's
10 you send meney inte a Chivo Wallet, regardless 10 an invoice dated November 4th, 2021, Ta you sea
11 of who you are —- like you perscnally could put |11 that?

12 meney in the ATM and send it inte Chive Wallet, 1z A.  Yeah, I do. With Iance Moore for a
13 Bnd I believe that the software knows that you 13 thousand dollars?

14  are sending the money into Chivo Wallet and 14 Q. Yes. 8o tell me how the thousand

15 therefore not charging you the cormission. 15 dollars was arrived at,

16 That's the economic incentive for using this 16 ATTCRNEY STEWART: I think -~ hold on
17 wvery limited mmber of ATMs and going cut of 17 a second, larry. We've just —- I think

18  your way to do it, because you can save 12 ’ 18 it's Accruvia 11. We're just making sure,
19 12 percent on the remittance. 19 It's harder to see on the screen. He can
20 Q. 3¢ -- all right. The discussion 20 see 1t. Just want to make sure that it's
21  between you and Athena was that there was a 21 the same document.,

22 markup on the programmers. I gst it. 22 ATTORNEY FOWLER: Ckay.

23 "But internally, how are you -- how do | 23 ATTORNEY STEWART: I'm sorry. It's
24 you account for your salary versus the 24 November 4th, 2021 invoice. Yeah, I think
25 programmers? 25 we're looking at the same document. We've

Page 107 Page 109

1 A, Some of the salary —- because a lot 1 got it on the screen so, so...

2 of the programmers were on fixed salaries, S, 2 BY ATTORNEY FOWLER:

3  like, you notice the mmbers repeating, like 3 Q. Ckay.

4 10,016, 10,016, 10,000, That's because those q A, The invoice was -- covered at a

5 three developers were making $10,000. Two of 5 period of three days, from November 1st to the

6 them I incurred additional comuissions for 6 3rd. That developer was on a $10,000 a month

7 sending the $10,000. Mariamo is on a galary. 7 salary. And so I divided 3 by 30. And the

8 Lance is on salary. Everybody is salary here. 8 10 percent. 10 percent on 10,000 is $1,000.

g Q. Well, I mean, they're contract 9 Q. 0Okay. So...

10 employees, right —- or contract workers; 10 All right, And then scroll wp to the
11 correct, 11 page right above that, which is dated — it's

12 A, Yes, they are. 12 also -- it's dated November 3rd?

13 Q. Okay. Band so you paid them a flat —- | 13 A.  Yes.

14 ROI paid them a flat rate per month for what? 14 Q. And Lance Moore is the first entry;
15 A.  For working at least -~ I forget what | 15 right?

16 the -- working at least 25 hours a wesk. But on | 16 A.  Correct,

17 the Chivoc Wallet project they were averaging, 17 Q. And that ~- is that a 6 or an 87

18 probably 12, 14 —- I Inow I was averaging 14 18 A, It's a 6.

19 hours a day. 19 Q. 5o that $6,513, how did you arrive at
20 Q.  Okay. So let's just take Lance 20  that number?

21 Moore, who's on here, The amount's a thousand 21 A. Lance went on vacation for close to
22  dollars., And this invoice is dated 22 two weeks. So I pro-rated the amount.

23 November 4th, 2021, 23 Q. TFor what period of time?

24 So and that's —- and that's paid —- 24 A. I pro-rated it for the days that he
25 it's the next tc last page that we were looking (25 worked in October of 2021.
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1 Q. 5o how do you know how many days he 1 October 4th.
2 worked in COctcber of 2021% 2 A. The cne that's October 1lst to 31st
3 A, He told me he was taking a vacation 3 for about $75,0007
4 and his plans like a month or two in advance. q Q. No. The one right behind it, the
5 Q. Let's pick one that's easier to 5 very last one on that letter. It 5ays --
6 figure out, All right. Williams Mendez. Do 5 A. Ch., Yesh, It's not a coincidence
7 you see that, $10,016% 7 that it's dated Cctober 4th because that was the
8 A, Yes, I do. § date where Eric agreed what he was going to pay
g Q. How did you come up with that muber? 9 me for all the labor that he had hired us for,
10 A, That's hig flat monthly rate. 10 This is the bill that Athena Bitcoin,
i1 Q.  So what did you lock at to know he 11 Inc. paid.
12 worked the whole month? 12 Q. Okay. All right, 8o this is the
13 A, Well, one, he was physically present 13 labor that was performed after the term sheet
14 in Fl Salvador. So I saw him in the office 14 was signed but before your conversation in the
15  every day for a period of three wesks. &And I 15  stairwell on Cctober 4th; right?
16 literally mean every day. Occasionally he got a | 16 A. Correct.
17 day off. But we were working six and seven days |17 Q. Ckay. BAnd you're on here for 3,336.
18  a week, 18 Tell me how again how you calculated that.
19 Q. 50 -- okay. BSo during the menth of 15 A, It's pro-rated,
20 Cctober, were you in EL Salvador the entire 20 Q.  And sc you split the two mubers that
21 month? 21  we looked at in the term sheet; you came up with
22 4, No. I returned to Texas, I think 22 a yearly salary of 200; and then you pro-rated
23 dnee in early October, for, like, 48 hours. I 23 it for however many days; is that right?
24  mean, I barely saw my wife. And then towards —- |24 A, Yes,
25 T think it was November ist I flew home. I 25 Q. Now, at the very bottom it says
Page 111 Page 113
1 don't remewber the exact dates. 1 las read]: Programming hours, program hour,
2 Q. Okay. All right. And so these 2 overhead expenses, 1.5 percent,
3 invoices that are attached to the letter, the 3 A, Yag,
4 first - it's dated Hovember 3rd, 2021, So that 4 0. How did you calculate that?
5 would have been for October 2021; correct? 5 A, Within one and a half percent of all
6 A, . Yeah, There's twe invoices. BEnd one 6 of the numbers on the line items above that.
7 of them has the specific note that says: 7 Q. 8o including your --
8 TInvoice for labor, October lst to 3lst. 8 A. Ch, sorry. Overhead -- is that —-
g Q. Where are you looking? 9  yeah, I believe that's what it is.
10 A,  Invoice IB1050, 10 Q. Okay. So doss that include a markup
11 Q. Ckay. Where does it say that? 11 for your salary?
12 A, Very bottom left corner. 12 A. I expect so.
13 Q. Ah. Thank you. Ckay, Invoice for 13 Q. Ckay.
14 labor, October 1 through 31; right? 14 A, Well, actually, I don't -—— I'm not
15 A. Correct. 15  sure. I don't know whether I included it or
ie Q. Ckay. Then if we scroll down to the 16 not.
17 next page, okay, in the bottom left it says 17 Q.  And how come Bailey Jarrell's not
18 invoice for labor, November 1 through 3, 202%; 18 listed on here?
19 right? 18 A.  Bhe did not perform any work for
20 A. Correct, 20 Athena Bitcoin, Inc. during that time period.
21 Q. The bill -- this invcice we created 21 Q. Well, has she perfommed work for ROI?
22 on November 4th; right? 22 A.  the was on vacation. 2And I don't
23 A, Correct. 23 remember the exact dates, but she wasn't working
24 Q.  Okay, Then the cne behind it, what 24  at that time because she had planned time off,
25  period of time is that one for? It's dated 25 And I don't remember exactly when she started —-
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1 well, it would be reflected on the invoice to 1  was at my wits' end.
2 mark when she started working. 2 Q.  So then let's just look at
3 Q. 8o the programmers during, during 3 October/November. During October, how many days
4  September and October, all these folks that are 4 do you think you were in El Salvador versus
5 listed on here, are they only working on the 5 Texas?
6 Chivo Wallet project? 6 A. I don't know the exact number. T
7 A. Yor which invoice? *?  believe I was home for — I don't recall, It
§ Q. Let's just use —— let's use the 8 could have heen as little as three or four days
S wery first one up there, the November 3rd cne, 9 and maybe up to a week at a time,
10 where it says invoice for labor, October 1 10 Q.  What about November?
11 through 31. 11 A, I wag in El Salvador on the lst; flew
12 A, The only -- let me check the names. 12 home really, really late at night; and was in
i3 ATTCRNEY STEWART: The $75,000 one? 13 Texas on the 2nd and 3rd.
14 THE WITNESS: Yeah. The only cne 14 Q.  Then did you go back to El Salvador?
15 that was not exclusively on Chivo Wallet 15 A, I did on November 15th, but it had
16 was Gustavo Rodriguez. He helped with a 16 nothing to do with Athena,
17 small crisis on a Sunday, and so I pulled 17 Q.  I'm sorry. Say that again.
18 him in because he was the one I could 18 A, I went back to El Salvador arcund
19 round up. 19 Hovember 15th for a Bitcoin conference in the
20 But other than that, everybody 20 country. But that did not have anything to do
21 else —- I was just looking real quickly, 21  with Athena.
22 but I believe everybody else was fully 22 Q. OCkay. BAll right. Ckay., But this
23 dedicated to Chivo Wallet. 23 last invoice is just for November 1 through 3;
24 BY ATTORNEY FOWLER: 24 right?
25 Q.  So on Gustavo, the $335, how did you |25 A, That's correct.
Page 115 Page 117
1  come up with that? 1 Q. Okay. 2nd November 1 through 3, you
2 A. That was just billed for the time 2 said you were in Texas; right?
3  because he was fractionally working on it. 3 A. T was in Texas on the 2nd and 3zd.
q Q. 8o is that like a day? What is it? 4 Q. Okay. Did you ever have any
5 A. I don't recall. 5 conversations with anyons at Athena about,
[ Q. Ckay. All right. Who performed 6 physically, how you were going to be paid — not
7 these calculations that are reflected on this 7 how much, but how the funds were going to be
8 invoice that we're looking at? 8  delivered?
9 A, I did. g A.  Yes. FEric told me to send my invoice
10 Q. Did you make any notes when you were 10 to Noreen Pepino and she would send me an
11 doing it? 11 electronic transfer payment. and I was more
12 A. MNot that I remember. 12 worried about the timeframe. He assured me that
13 Q. all right. So then the next invoice, |13 T would get paid within 24 hours,
14 which was the three days in Novenber, how did 14 Q. These documents we're locking at, the
15 you know how mach to calculate on there? I 15  invoices, are you the one that physically
16  mean, is there anything vou looked at, or you 16  created them?
17 just know everybody was working on the project? 17 A. T am, yes.
i8 A, T know everybody was working 18 Q. all right. Is the first one that you
19 exclusively cn the project. They were working 18 created the one that's marked Paid, dated
20 crazy hours. 20 October 4th, 20217
21 Q.  And during those days in November, 21 A,  Yes, that is the first involce T
22 you were in El Salvador; correct? 22 created.
23 A. MNo. I was, I was in El Salvader, I 23 Q. Do you know when you were paid?
24 think, November 1st. But the 2nd and 3rd was in | 24 A, I den't recall. But I know it's in
25 Texas. FEric encouraged me to fly home because I |25  one of your exhibita.
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1 Q. Ckay, So that's the first one that 1 Q. What was she marketing -- scratch
2 you were paid, And then the next ome that you 2 that. What was, what was she marketing?
3 would have been paid -— excuse me, the next one 3 A, Tike I testified earlier, she was
4  you would have created would have been the 4 reporting directly to the CMO, who directed her
5 inveice B1050 for the October 1 through 31; is 5 activities. I was not directly involved in
6 that right? 6 supervising her in any meaningful way.
7 A. That sounds correct. Yeah, that 7 Q. But you were paying her salary:
8 invoice goes through —- covers the month of 8  correct?
9  QOctober. 9 A. Correct.
10 Q. All right, Well, the very first 10 Q. 8o as far as what Bailey Jarrell was
11 invoice you created where it says Bill To, it 11 doing in the months of October and
12 just has an address: correct? It doesn't say 12 HNovember 2021, you don't know; is that fair?
13 Athena anything; right? 13 A. The only thing that I know is that
14 4. Yesh. It says "Athena Bitcoin." 14 her efforts in the timeframe were focused on the
15  That doesn't specify which Athena. 15  conference. But what Athena hopes to accomplish
16 Q. Wait a minute. The very first 16 out of the conference or its motivations for
17 invoice, the one dated Cctober 4th —- 17  sponsoring or the business cutcome they were
18 A, Yes. 18  seeking, I don't know.
19 Q. -- where does it say "Athena 19 Q. Okay. S0 as we sit here today, you
20 Bitcein"? _ 20 can't testify that in either Septenber, October,
21 A, It dees mnot. 21 or Wovember 2021, Bailey Jarrell was working on
22 Q. OCkay. Now, the next invoice, which 22 the Chivo Wallet project?
23 is for October 1 through 31, it's addressed to 23 A. I -- like I testified earlier, it
24  Athena Bitcoin; right? 24 depends on where you draw the line on Chivo
25 A, Correct. 25 Wallet. Like at no point -~ I don't remember ——
Page 119 Page 121
1 Q. Okay. DPid you physically ~- 1 mean, 1 T don't know because all her efforts were
2 do you recall looking at anything or deciding on | 2  focused on the conference.
3 how -- what to put there on this invoice, on the 3 And so whether the conferences was
4 .Bill To, as opposed tc the firat invoice that 4 Chivo Wallet-focused or not I don't know because
5 you did where it doesn't have anything? 5 I did nothing for the conference prep. all I
[ A, Yeah, I think I realized after the 6 Jmow is she was working on that. 8¢ I can't —-
7 fact that I didn't list the entity on the 7 I don't have knowledge of that.
8 invoice, and 30 T added it in for the October 3 Q. S0 te male sure you and I are on the
9  invoice, 5 same page, as far as what she was doing for
10 Q. Okay. As we sit here, do you 10 Athena in September, October, and November 2021,
11  physically remember doing that? 11 you don't know what it was; is that correct?
12 A. I do not. 12 A, No. S8he was working on the
13 Q. What about the address, 1332 North 13 conference. She was doing whatever marketing
14  Halsted Street; Chicags, Illinois; where did you |14 Athena was focused on. She was getting the
15  get that address? 15 company ready to -- for its eghibition al the
16 A, T googled "address of Athena Bitcoin, |16 Bitcoin conference in San Salvador, El Salvador
17 Ine." BAnd that's the address that comes wp in 17 around November 15th, That was the exclusive
18  Google's search results. 18 focus of her efforts.
19 Q. 5o you think you got that address 19 {Discussion held off the record.)
20 from a Google search; is that right? 20 BY ATTORNEY FOWLER:
21 A, Correct. 21 ¢, ALl right. Sc September, October,
22 0. Bailey Jarrell, the marketing she was |22 November 2021, Bailey Jarrell is working on
23 doing, tell me again what was —— who was she 23 Athena making a presentaticn at the Bitcoin
24  marketing to? 24 conferences; is that right?
25 A. T don't know. 25 A, And their group, But, veah, it's all
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1 related to the conference; yes. 1 Q.  And s0 other than that lawsuit and
2 Q. Since she -- she was an employes, 2 the lawsuit you told Mr., Fowler about, are thers
3 right, W-2 employee? 3 any other lawsuits in which you've been
4 A, That's correct. 4 involved?
5 Q. S50 ROI -- so - okay. B30 ROI was 5 A.  No.
6 letting Athena use Bailey Jarrell to prepare for [ Q. Now, you were asked by Mr. Fowler
7 that conferences, and you all marked up her 7 about whether you had changed your testimony
8 salary 1,5 percent; is that right? 8  about whether your work that you've sued
g A, Yes. % under — that Accruvia sued under in this case
10 Q.  And the Bitcoin conference, it was in | 10 was related to the term sheet. Do you recall
11 Bl BSalvador; is that right? 11 that testimony?
12 A,  Correct. 12 A. I do.
13 ATTORNEY FOWLER: Okay. Kelly, let's |13 ATTORNEY STEWART: And, Larry, he's
14 take a break for five minutes. Is that 14 got in front of him the three invoices
15 okay? 15 that you've had up on the screen. And
16 ATTORNEY STEWART: Yeal, no problem. 16 those are Accruvia 11, 12, and 13.
17 {Recess.) 17 And he's alsc got in front of him the
18 BY ATTORNEY FOWLER: 18 term sheet, which is Athena 3, 4, and 5.
19 Q. On the invoices you sent to that 19 BY ATTCRNEY STEWART:
20 North Halsted Street, Chicago, Illinois address, |20 Q.  And if you'll take a look,
21 did you tell me that you looked that address up |21 Mr, Overton, at the work —- let's just lock at
22 yourself and then put it on the invoices? 22 Accruvia 13, which is the $11,000 invoice that's
23 A, That's correct, 23 marked Paid. BAnd was that work actually paid
24 Q. And you did that using Google? 24  for by an Athena entity?
25 A, Yes, I did. 25 A, Yes, it was.
Page 123 Page 125
1 Q. Do you remember what search terms you 1 Q. And this is work, I believe you
2 used? 2  testified, that was done before October 4th,
3 A, I have no idea. Well, I mean, I 3 2021
4 would assume it was "Athena Bitcoin, Ine.'s 4 A, Correct. The dates covered were
5 address." But I can't, I can't racall 5 September 22nd or "3rd through the end of
6 specifically. T know T used it, but I can't 6  September,
7 imagine it would be anything different. 7 Q. Okay. And does any of this work
8 Q. As you sit here, you don't recall 8 relate to the terms in the term sheet which you
9 what search terms vou used; is that correct? 9 had —- we've been talking about?
10 A, Yeah, I don't know the terms; that's 10 A, No.
11 correct, 11 ATTORNEY FOWLER: Object to form.
1z ATTORNEY FOWLER; Ckay. FKelly, I'1l 12 THE WITNESS: No, it does not.
13 pass the witness and... 13 BY ATTORNEY STEWART:
14 ATTORNRY STEWART: I have a few 14 Q.  Now, you did, though, say that you
15 follow-up questions. 15 pulled, right, your salary figure from the temm
16  BY ATTORNEY STEWART: 16  sheet?
17 Q.  Mr. Overton, you were asked by 17 A. Yes, I did.
18 Mr. Fowler about lawsuits you've been inwolved 18 Q.  Is that your testimony?
19 with. And my question is: Did you forget and 19 A, It is my testimeny,
20 leave one out? 20 0,  And now that you've looked at the
21 A. VYes, I did. 21  term sheet, do you see anything in the term
22 Q. What did you leave out? 22  sheet that would provide for this additional --
23 A, A lawsuit in Illinois where Athena 23 any of the work on either that invoice, that
24 Bitcoin Global sued myself, my wife, and ROT 24 £11,000 invoice that's paid or the other two
25 Developers, Inc, 25 invoices, the $75,000 and the $8,000 one there
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1  that are not paid? 1 nonresponsive, speculation.
2 A, No. 2 BY ATTORNEY STEWART:
3 ATTORNEY FOWLER: Object to form. 3 Q. And how do you know it's used in —
4 THE WITNESS: No, That term sheet 4 is it — how is it is used in the United States?
5 was the start of my relationship with the 5 A. The way Lor- -- well, both Lorenzo
6 Athena entities. It did not cover the 6 Rey and Eric Gravengaard cutlined to me the
7 specific work because this was intended to | 7  rationale behind the project. And it's 100
8 eventually comoence into the terms 8 percent focused on remittancea and avolding
9 ocutlined, 9  comuissions from Western Union and similar
10 But in nc way did it cover the 10  services.
11 in-between time other than the salary 11 T know that Sara Hannah, who's the
12 mmber I pulled for myself, 12 president's adwisor, Eric told me about a
13 ATTORNEY FOWLER: Objection; 13 conversation between her and Western Unicn where
14 nonresponsive, 14  Western Unicn started negotiating on the
15 BY ATTORNEY STEWART: 15  remittance rates to El Salvador because they
16 Q. Then, Mr, Qverton, why did you tell 16 were feeling the financial pressure of people
17 Mr. Fowler that you believed your work that 17  using the Chivo Wallet system,
18  you've invoiced and -- when I say you, I mean 18 ATTORNEY FOWLER: Objection;
19  BRccruvia here —- the work that Accruvia inveiced | 19 nonresponsive, leading, speculation,
20 was with the entity that is -- that signed or 20 BY ATTORNEY STEWART:
21  entered into the temm sheet? z21 Q. Was the Chivo Wallet software, that
22 A.  Because in the —- because that term 22  work that either was billed and paid for by an
23  sheet was the start of my relationship with the 23 Athena entity and the work that was billed and
24  Athena entities. And there's no way I would 24 not paid for by an Athena entity that you've
25 have wound up working for Athena Bitcoin, Inc. 25  suved over, was that related to the Chivo Wallet
Page 127 Page 129
1 if that term sheet hadn't existed. 1 software?
2 But that term sheet doesn't cover the 2 A.  Yeah, absoclutely.
3 in-between time, That's a future state, 3 Q. . Can you divorce the Chivo Wallet
4 Q. And, in fact, on the third page of 4  software from Bitcoin ATMs in the United States?
5 the term sheet —- which is Athena 5 — which 1is 5 A.  Bbsolutely not.
€ the -- what's the name of the entity that's 6 Q.  And that would include Bitcoin ATMs
7 signed this on behalf of Athena? 7 in Texas; right?
8 A.  Athena Bitcoin Global, Inc. 8 A,  BAbsclutely,
9 Q. Now, I want to ask you a couple of 9 Q.  And that would include Bitcoin ATMs
10 follow-up questions about the software, the 10 in Texas that are owned by an Athena entity?
11 Chivo Wallet software -- can I call that? Is it | 11 A,  Correct.
12 software? 12 ATTORNEY FOWLER: Objection; leading.
13 A, Yeah, softwars, Chivo Wallet, 13 BY ATTORNEY STEWART:
14 Q. ~~ that Mr, Fowler talked to you 14 Q, Who would own the Texas Bitcoin ATMs
15 about, is it just used in EL Salvador? 15 in which Chivo Wallet would be used?
16 A. No, absolutely not, 16 A,  Athena Bitcoin.
17 ) Q. Where iz it used? 17 ATTORNEY FOWLER: Objecticn;
18 A, It's used globally whersver anybody 18 speculation.
19 has access to -~ like if you can -- if you're 19  BY ATTORNEY STEWART:
20 sending money to Chivo Wallet, I believe you can | 20 Q. And how do you know that?
21 do that anywhere in the world, 21 A.  Because Athena Bitcoin, Inc.'s entire
22 It's used -- it's specifically 22 business line is operating -- well, not their
23 designed for use in the United States and 23 entire business line.
24  including in Texas. 24 Prior to starting Chivo Wallet, the
25 ATTORMEY FOWLER: Objection; 25  entire business of Athena Bitcoin, Inc. is
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1 owning and operating Bitcoin ATMs across the 1 pretty sure that invoice was exclusively for my
2 United States and inciuding Texas. 2 services, and everything that's not me is

3 Q. With respect to the work that is 3  programming work.

4 showing up in the three invoices we'we talked 4 Q.  Programming work for whom and what?

5 about, Accruvia 11, 12, and 13, how did —- let'a 5 A,  For Athena Bitcoin, Inc., for Chivo

6  just use the first one, Franklin Grassais, which | 6 Wallet.

7 is the top entry on the $11,000 paid invoice 7 Q. Now, did -- you've talked to

8 dated Octcber 4th. Who would have told him what | 8 Mr, Fowler a little bit about, you know, how

9 work to do? 9 this whole relationship came intc being. And

10 A, That was coming from Eri¢ Gravengaard |10  you mentioned some fraud issues, Do you recall
11 or myself, with Eric serving as, like, the 11 who?

12 director. 8¢ hin and Edward Iskra, who was the 12 A, T do.

13 project manager, would direct me what my 13 Q. What was the fraud? The fraud wasn't
14 priorities were. Sometimes they would directly |14  Athena committing fraud; right?

15  interject to my contract staff to tell them what | 15 A. That's correct; it wasn't Athena,

16  to do. Or they would give me a goal and an 16 Q. What was the fraud?

17 objective, and then I would direct my staff to 17 A, The freud was the fact that, in order
18  accomplish the chiective, 18 to -- if you know somecne's DUI and their name,
13 Q. I believe you told Mr. Fowler that 19 you basically able to open up —- because the
20 you don't recall any conversations before 20  third-party KYC vendor —- know your customer —-
21  October 4th, 2021, with anyone at Athena as far |21  crashed and was not servicing.

22 as: Here's the work that we want you to do. 22 S0 pecple figured this cut very

23 Do you recall that testimony? 23 quickly that you could —- because DUI's are
24 A. I do. 24 public information, including the name. So all
25 Q. And so why would that be? Why were 25  you got to do is find the list; and then you can

Page 131 Page 133

1 these people doing work? 1 sign up, get the 30 bucks, withdraw it in

2 A, Athena was directing us specifically 2  Bitcoin, and now it's not traceable.

3 what to do. And that's why I was pushing back 3 and so when I mentioned that 10 to

4 s0 hard; because it’s sc chvicus that if 4 20 percent nunber, by the time I left the

5 somebedy's telling me what work to do, there's 5 project we were at 4 million registered users.

6 an cbvicus expectation that I expect to get paid | 6 8o you have at least 10 percent of 4 million,

7 for it, 7 S0 400,000 psople that each got 30 bucks, you're
8 Q.  And the work that Rccruvia did for 8  talking about $12 million.

8 Athena, it's your understanding, is it not, that 9 And for context, like for the

10 it was used for Chivo Wallet? 10  American govermment, that would be chump change.
i1 ATTORNEY FOWLER: Obdjection; form, 11  But the government of the Kl Salvador, at the

12 leading. 12 time they were negotiating with the IMF for a

13 THE WITNESS: The exclusive work that {13  bailout for a billion dollars. And so when
14 they did was for Chivo Wallet, 14 you're losing anywhere from 12 to 24 million

15 BY ATTORNEY STEWART: 15 dollars, just throwing it away on bogus

16 Q. Let me fix my question, 16  registrations, they did not have that kind of

17 For what purpose was the work that's 17 money to just throw away to fraud,

18  shown in the three invoices we discussed, what 18 S0 when they would come to us and beg
18 purpose was that? 1%  us to run these scripts to mark these people as
20 4. It was exclusively for Chivo 20 fraudulent as fast as possible, it's because
21 Wallet -- well, sorry. It was for Chivoc Wallet, |21 they were bleeding money that they didn't have.
22  except for Balley Jarrell's services, who was 22 Q. Who do you mean by "they"?
23 doing marketing. 23 A.  "They" would be the govermment of
24 But especially on the paid invoice, 24 El Salvador.
25  that was — I need to double-chack, but -- I'm 25 Q. Did Athena ever mzke any complaints
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1 about your work? 1 employee of Athena Bitcoin, Inc. And I know
2 ATTORNEY FOWLER: Object to Form. Z that because I asked her who, who pays her. And
3 THE WITNESS: Cne time. Eric, about 3 she told me Athena Bitcein, Inc.
4 two weeks after I started working with 1 The -- Franklin Grassias no longer
5 Athena, he said that he wasn't happy 5 works for me. Williams Mendez no longer works
[ because we weren't meeting the objectives. 6 for me.
7 And we had probably an hour-and-a-half to 7 ATTORNEY FOWLER: Objection;
8 two-hour long discussion about the way 8 nenresponsive.
9 everything was working. 9 BY ATTORNEY STEWART:
10 And the outcome with that was that I 10 Q. Feep going. It's responsive,
11 told him: When everything's a priority, 11 A, Burak was temminated in the middle of
12 nothing is a priority. And so what's not 12 October. Panos still works for me, Mariano has
13 happening is the communication that —— I 13 another position, Mario has another position.
14 can only handle so many fires at once, 14 Gustavo has ancther position. I think that —-
15 And what he settled on was the top 15 Q. Well, do any of them work for Athena?
16 five. 50 him and Edward could pick five 16 A. Bailey Jarrell.
17 things a day for us to work on. And also 17 Q. Okay.
18 coming out of ~- because my big complaint 18 A.  And T should mention that Athena at
19 was that there’s no Q& department at all, 19 the end of the work approached every single
20 internally, with Athena, And we weren't 20  developer listed on the invoices and offered
21 following best practices because 21 them a 25 percent raise and, I think, $50,000
22 everything was 3o bad with having code 22 and some kind of stock compensation.
23 reviews and being very careful with what 23 AITORNEY FOWLER: Objection;
24~ we released. 24 nonresponsive, speculation.
25 So once Eric and T had that 25  BY ATTORNEY STEWART:
Page 135 Page 137
1 discussion, we implemented the top Five, 1 Q. Do you know -- well, how do you know
2 and we got -- and I implemented a formal 2 that?
3 Qa. 3 A.  Because every single developer came
4 and from there on out, we are 4  tome and said: Hey, Athenma's trying to poach
5 humming, Like we were making substantial 5 us.
6 progress on the app and triaging the worst 6 Q.  And what did they tell you?
7 . of the fraud and the worst of the 7 4. They said they weren't interested
8 spaghetti code that Athena originally 8  because the work enviromment was so toxic that
9 developed. 9 they didn’t want to have anything to do with
16 BY ATTORNEY STEWART: 10 Athena,
11 Q. Did -- in your mind, was that 11 Q. 8o what did they tell you —- the
12 cowplaint resolved? 12 poaching, you used that term -- what did they
13 A. It was —- 13 tell you specifically?
14 ATTORNEY FOWLER: Objection; form, 14 A,  Eric somehow cbtained their personal
15 leading. 15  contact information and said that Athena and ROI
16 THE WITNESS: It was resolved. 16  Developers are no longer working together and
17  BY ATTORNEY STEWART: 17 that Eric had nade them those specific terms.
18 Q.  Any other complaints that you can 18 S0 they were caming to me at their
12 recall? 19  own volition and saying: Hey, this nappened, T
20 A. No, 20 want you to know about it,
21 Q. What's the current status of the 21 Q. What did they tell you with respect
22 subcontractors and the employee, Bailey Jarrell, |22 to temms that Athena offered?
23 that you —- what's their current employment 23 A,  They told me that -- they mentioned
24 status; do you know? 24  the salary mmbers. So they told me a
25 A, Bailey Jarrell is currently an 25 25 percent raise. 8o they were going to offer
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1  everybody on my inveices a 25 percent raise. 1 Bitcoin changes in fractions of a second.

2 2And Panecs spacifically, and Lance, both 2 And what -- as scon as -- 50 as we

3 mentioned the stock compensation, 3 progressed and got the software stable, the

4 Q.  Was there anybody else to your 4 government was able to increase the nmurber of

5 knowledge that resided in Texas that worked on 5 users it was putting on the platform. And

6 Chivo Wallet? 6 around that time it was in the millions of -

7 A,  Andrew Chalk, 7  the user base was in the millions. AWS was

8 Q. ¥ho was Andrew Chalk? 8  campletely misconfigured to where it couldn't

9 A. He was a develcper hired by Athena 9  handle the locad; the databases were

10 Bitcoin, Inc. and partial —- like I would 10 misconfigured,

11 play -- my team played & role in managing him, 11 But as we got the databases

12 and Eric Gravengaard played a role in menaging 12 configursd correctly and AWS correctly, the

13 him, 13 software able to calculate the balance —— which
14 Q. Did Accruvia —- was he employed or 14 i3 also a critical feature of the ATMs, that

15  subcontracted by Accruvia? 15  people could check their Chivo balance at an

16 A, No, he was not. 16 Athena Bitcoin ATM -~ the —- people knew what

17 Q. And was he working on the Chive 17  the price of Bitcoin was, but they could see

18 Wallet? 18 that the price was too low or teo high.

18 A.  Exclusively. 15 And so we had pretty much the entire
20 Q. Who was his supervisor? 20  country turn into day traders where they would
21 A, Myself and Eric. 21 watch the real Bitcoin price was what the Chivo
22 Q.  Who authorized his hiring? 22 incorrect Bitcoin price was, and they could buy
23 ... A,. Ultimately Eddie Weinhauvs -~ oh, no. 23 and sell risk-free and sell within five seconds
24 Ultimately it-was Fric Gravengaard. Fe had to 24 later and make half a percent or a percent on

25 sign off on it 25  their money.

Page 139 Page 141

1 Q. And again, I think I'm repeating 1 There was one specific incidence

2 myself, but was he working for or subcontracted 2 where we saw a guy start with $2,000 and he had

3  with Aceruvia? , 3 like $400,000,

4 A, - No., We've never paid Andrew Chalk. 4 And so as because the Chivo Wallet

5 0. Did -- were there any complaints 5 ecosystem did not offset market risk, that means

6 about hia work? 6 that all of those guys' profits came from the

7 A. Yes. 7 govermment of El Salvador. And again, they're

8 Q.  What were those? 8§ negotiating for a IMF bailout because they're on

9 A, He -- the very first day that he 9 the verge of bankruptey.

10 joined Athena Bitcoin, Inc., after he got the 10 S0 you can imagine the kind of

11 enviromment set up -- so when I say the First 11 pressure the government was feeling., And that
12 day, I mean the first day where he is actmally 12 snowballed right down to us. Miguel Sabal came
13 writing code that we would use —— and I directed | 13  into my office and directed me and said: I need
14 him to work on unit tests, because unit tests, 14 this fized today. ’

15  you're not goirg to break anything., It's a 15 Q. .¥Who's he with?

16 really good learning opportunity for you to get 16 A.  Miguel 3abal is the direct, is the

17 exposed to the code, but if you wess up, there's | 17  direct advisor to President Bukele,

18 no conseguences, 18 Q. And what -- you said AWS. What's

19 But at the time the govermment was 19 AwWs?

20 hemorrhaging money in a completely separate way, |20 A.  Amazon Web Services. It's the

21 through arbitrage. Arbitrage is where you know |21 infrastructure that sends the code out.

22 what the real market price is but you'rs able to |22 Q.  And I think my question was -~ T was
23 buy it at a fake price. And the way that wallet |23 talking to you about --

24 software was desigred was the price only updated | 24 ATTORNEY FOWLER: Relly, I'm going to
25  once per minute; but globally, the price of 25 ohject to —- that his response is
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1 nonresponsive, 1 A3 he continued working -~ I don't —-

2 THE WITNESS: All right. Andy —- so 2 and I don't blame him for that mistake. I

3 this is the pressure I was under. And I 3 think that was a poor management decision.

4 advised -~ or this is the pressure that 4 But it did become clear on the next two

5 everybody was under, including Athena as a 5 weeks or 30 that he was having trouble

6 whole. 6 adapting to the platform. And because I

7 aAnd Miguel told me, like, this needs 7 identified a need for senior developers to

8 to be fixed right now, tonight. 2nd I 8 work on the project, I didn't think we

9 advised him that that's a horrible idea 9 were going te apin him up in time to
10 because we don't have time for QA, And he 10 accomplish the business results that we
11  said skip it. BAnd then Eric felt that 11 needed.

12 pressure and overruled me. 12 I was getting ready to let him go.
13 S0 instead of, instead of having Andy 13 But before I could do that, Fric
14 work on unit tests where he couldn't break 14 Gravengaard told me we needed to fire Andy
15  anything, Eric directed him to medify the 15 Chalk. And so he was terminated. I think
16 control that controlled how the 16 his total time with Athena was maybe three
17  Bitcein/dollar exchange rate worked, 17 weaks,
18 And long story short is he screwed it 18 BY ATTCRNEY STEWART:
19 up; because the code was a giant mess, 19 Q.  And the work -- the problem that you
20 full of the copy-and-paste no unit tests, 20 just described, would that have happened had
21  And so Andrew mistakenly allowed for the 21  Andy done what you instructed him to?
22  exchange of 1 dellar to 1 Bitcoin. And 22 A. It would not have happened.
23 . the impact of 1 dollar at the. time was 23 Q.  Who instructed him-to do the code
24 actually worth 60,000 Bitcoin. 24 vork?
25 End 3o we found -- by the time that 25 A, Eric Gravengaard.
Page 143 Page 145

1 that mistake was caught -- Miguel 1 Q.  And did that ultimately get resolwed?

2 frantically texted Edward Iskra saying: 2 You said an all-nighter, Did that resolve it?

3 Uhat is going on? There's way too many 3 4. It did. T think the govermment

4  Bitcoin going through the system. 4 probably lost a quarter million dollars on it,

5 We found that line of code. It 5 The government had scme safety mechanism that,

6 resulted in -- we saw —— by the time we 6 through sheer luck, prevented the disaster. It

7 released the code and we stopped it about 7 didn't allow Bitcoin withdrawals Ffrom 10:00 p.m.

8 an hour later, there were about 3600 8 until around 6:00 or 7:00 in the merning,

9 transacticns that we estimated were about 9 BAnd hecause we did nightly releases,
10 550 in value each. 2And so instead of 10 the transaction — we did relsases at 10:00 p.o.
11 trading $180,000, that -- Andrew's code 11 So when we caught it around 11:00, 11:30, nobaody
12 trade 180,000 Bitcoin with a market value 12 could actually take the on—chain Bitcoin out of
13 in excess of $10 hillion, which made the 13 the system; they could only transfer it within
14 govermment insclvent immediately. 14 Chivo. The only money that was able to leak was
15 And we had to pull in the Accruvia 15 using Bitcoin Lightning. 2nd sc I just
16 team, Jeremy Brenner, Eric Gravengaard. 16  ballparked it at around a quarter of a million
17 We did an all-night marathon session 17  dollars,

18 writing code to unwind that whole event so 18 ATTORNEY STEWART: Okay. Pass the
19 that —- and we had to take the server 15 witness,

20 completely off-line — like we killed the 20 BY ATTORNEY FOWLER:

21  entire system, just turned it off —- 21 0. Okay. Can you zpell the name of this
22 didn't get it back on until about 7:30 in 22  Andrew person. What's his last name?

23 the morning. 23 A, Chalk, C-H-A-L-K.

24 And that was Andy's very first day 24 Q. OCkay. Pnd did I hear you testify
25 working on the project. 25  that you were going to let him go?
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1 A, Yes, 1 A. Yeah. Eric supervised me directly.
2 Q. S0 you had the authority to fire himy; 2 Q. That's not my question. My question
3 is that correct? 3 is: When this invoice was received by Athena,
4 A, I would need to run it by Eric; but 14 would there have been any way from looking at
5 ves, I had planned to advocate heavily for 5  this invoice to know that your charge for your
6  terminating him, 6 tims was as a salary and not for programming?
7 0.  Well, there's a difference between q ATTORNEY STEWART: Chbjection; form.
8 advocating him and letting him go. And your 8 THE WITNESS: On the invoice, no,
9 testimony was you were working to let him go; 9 there's nothing that differentiates
10  correct? 10 between -- I —-
11 A, Correct. I did not have authority to |11 BY ATTORNEY FOWLER:
12 make the final decision so let him go. 12 Q. Was there ever -- did you - was
13 [Crosstalk.] 13 there ever any separate documentation sent by
14 Q. Then why did you testify you were 14 you at any time to Athena indicating that
15 geoing to let him go? 15 charges for your time were as a salary and not
16 A. Because I was going to make the 16 for programming?
17 recommendation. 1 A. I never sent, I never sent any
18 Q. You understand there's a difference 18 documentation explicitly outlining the mmber.
12 between a making a recomendation and actually 19 Q. Likewise, with regard to Bailey
20 letting him go: correct? 20 Jarrell, the entries or here for her charge,
21 A. I do. 21 $5,871.05, when that document was received at
22 Q. When Mr. Chalk was doing this 22 Athena, is there any way from locking at that
23.....programuing, where was he located? 23 douwment and telling that the charge for her was
24 A, FEl Salvador. 24 for marketing and not for programuing?
25 Q. 8o to your knowledge, did Mr. Chalk 25 ATTORNEY FORLER: Objection; form,
Page 147 Page 149
1 do anything in the State of Texas that related 1 THE WITHESS: WNe.
2 to this -- the Chivo project? 2 ATTORNEY FOWLER: Pass the witness.
3 _ A, He reviewed the source code prior to 3 ATTORNEY STEWART: No further
4 getting on the flight. We provided him with 4 questions,
5 some orientaticn work before. Like we provided 5 I think the court reporter had some
6 him with some orlentation work of Docker and 6 spelling issues, though.
7  things that he needed to familiarize himself 7 Ch, I take it back. T do have one
8  with before he got on the plane. g8 question,
g 0. Okay. But as far as actual work, 9  BY ATTORNEY STEWART:
10 none of that had occurred in the State of Texas; | 10 Q.  Even though, Mr. Overton, you said
11  correct? 11 you would have had to have run it by
12 A. Well, doing preparaticn is work. 12 Mr. Gravengaard to fire &ndy Chalk, would you
13 It's very important. You have to lmow the 13 have been the one to actually fire him?
14 framework. 14 A, Yes.
15 But in temms of writing code, no, he |15 ATTCORNEY STEWART: I have no further
16 did not write code in the State of Texas. 16 tuesticns.
17 Q. In the invoices we were looking at a 17 ATTORNEY FOWLER: Mo further
18 minute ago —- we'll lock at, coh, the cne that's 18 questions.
19 got the 875,000, where the bill on there for 18 (Deposition concluded at 12:41 p.m.}
20 your time is $16,666.67. Do you see that? 20
21 A, Yes, I do. 21
22 Q.  Would there have been any way for 22
23 anyone at Athena, when they received this 23
24 invoice, to know that your charge was for a 24
25  salary and not for programming hours? 25
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1 CHANGES AND SIGNATURE 1 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
2 WITNESS NAME: SHAUN COVERTON 2 NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
3 DATE: August 16, 2022 3 FORT WORTH DIVISIGN
4 PAGE LINE CHANGE REASON ]
5 5 ROI DEVELOPERS, INC., 5
6 6 d/b/a ACCRUVIA, 5
7 7 Plaintiff, g
8 8 V. § Civil Action Wo.
9 9  ATHENA BITCOIN, INC., § 4:22-¢cv-00073-C
10 10  Defsndant. §
11 11
12 1
13 13
14 14 REPCRTER'S CERTIFICATION
15 15 DEPOSITION OF SHAUN OVERTON
16 e August 16, 2022
17 17
18 18 1, Adam D, Miller, Certified Shorthand
19 19 Reporter in and for the State of Texas,
20 20 hereby certify to the following:
2. 21 That the witness, SHAUN OVERTON, was
22 22 duly sworn by the officer and that the
23 23 transcript of the oral depositien is a true
24 - 24 record of the testimony given by the
25 25 witness; that the depesition transcript was
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1 1 submitted on August 23, 2022 to the witness
2 I, SHAUN OVERTCN, have read the 2 or to the attorney for the witness for
3 foregoing deposition and hereby affix my 3  examination, signature and return to me by
4 signature that same is true and correct, 4 September 22, 2022; that the amcunt of time
5 exceplt as noted above. 5  used by each party at the depositien is as
6 6 followa:
7 7
§ THE STATE OF ) 8 BY MR. FOWLER: 2 HOURS, 43 MINUTES
9 COUNTY OF ! g BY MR, STEWART: 0 HOURS, 23 MINUTES
10 10
u Before me, SR BT that pursuant to informatien given to
12 this day personally appeared SHAUN OVERTON, " X ) .
13 known to me (or proved to me undar cath or 12 the deposition officer at the time said
14 “hrough (description of 13 t?stimony wag taken, the following includes
15 identity card or other document)} to be the 14 counsel for all parties of recoxd:
16 person whose name is subscribed to the s
17 foregoing instrument and acknowledged to me 18 KELLY STEWART on behalf of plaintiff
18 that they executed the same for the purposes 17 LARRY L. FOWLER, JR. on benalf of
19 and consideration therein expressed. 18 defendant
20 18
21 Given under my hand and seal of office | A0 that § is the deposition
22 this day of , 21 officer's charges to the Plaintiff for
23 22 preparing the original deposition transcript
24 NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND FOR 23 and any copies of exhibits;
THE STATE OF 24 I further certify that I am neither
25 COMMISSION EXPIRES: 25  counsel for, related to, nor employed by any
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of the parties or attorneys in the action in
which this proceeding was takan, and further
that I am not financially or otherwise
interested in the outcome of the acticn.

Cortified to by~me thig-23rd day of
Bugust, 2022, Kjé“ %
am O¥ Mil4€r, CSR )
Texas CSR No., PCR-1207%
Expiration Date: 09/30/24
Firm Registration No. 11446
GOUCHER PARKER SPIVEY LLC
9243 Dove Meadow
Dallas, Texas 75243
214.347,4781
www.gps,llc

@ PS§ GPSLLC

GOUCHER PARKFR SPIVEY

gpscalendar@gps.llc ~ 214.347.4781



Case 4:22-cv-00073-O Document 15 Filed 10/04/22 Page 58 of 108 PagelD 149

Athena Bitcoin, Inc. (Eric Gravengaard)
August 17, 2022

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
FORT WORTH DIVISION

A4322=cv—-00073-0

ATHENA BITCOIN, INC.,
Defendant

ROI DEVELOPERS, INC., s

d/b/a ACCRUVIA, §

Plaintiff, &
§ Civil Action No.

Vs, 5

5

&

&

ORAL VIDEOCONFERENCE DEPOSITION OF
ERIC GRAVENGAARD (PERSONAL JURISDICTION)
ON BEHALF OF ATHENA BITCOIN, INC.

Wednesday, August 17, 2022

Oral videoconference deposition of ERIC
GRAVENGAARD (PERSONAL JURISDICTION), conducted
virtually, from 9:11 a.m. to 12:51 r.m., on the
above date, before Ronald R. Cope, Registered
Professional Reporter, and Certified Realtime

Reporter.
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Page 2 Page 4
1 APPERRANCE S: 1 INDEX {Continued)
2 REMOTE APPEARANCES: NUMBER DESCRIPTION PAGE
3 2
4 ON BEHALF OF THE PLAINTIFF: 3
KELLY STEWART Exhibit 12 E-mail 93
5 K STEWART LAW ‘ ‘
5949 Sherry Lane ; Exhibit 13 Text from bill.com 94
& Suite 200
vLte ) Exhibit 14 Report from Citizen's 9¢
Dallas, Taxas 75225 -
4 972. 3086168 National Bank,
: ' 7 ATHENA 000020 - ATHENA
8 000019
ON BEHALF OF THE DEFENDANT; B
9 LARRY FOWLER Exhibit 15  E-mail 97
HARRIS COOK LLE 3
10 1309 W, Abram Street Exhibit 16  E-mail ag
Arlington, Texas 76013 10
11 817.275.8765 Exhibit 17 Defendant’s Supplemental 1
12 11 Responses to Plaintiff's
ALSO PRESENT: First Set of Personal
13 Shaun Overton 12 Jurisdiction Discovery
Antonio Valienta 13 Exhibit 18  Defendant's Responses to 115
14 Michael Schena, GPS Tech Plaintiff's First Set of
15 14 Merits Discovery
16 L 15 Exhibit 19  chivo Core document 143
17 16 ‘
17
18 18
19 19
20 20
21 21
22 22
23 23
24 24
25 25
Page 3 Page 5
1 INDEX 1 PROCEEDINGS
2 APPEARANCES 2
PROCEEDINGS 5 2 {August 17, 2022 at 9:11 a.m.)
3 VENG
ERIC GRAVENGAARD (PERSONAL JURISDICTION) 3 ERIC GRA AARD {PERSONAL JURTSDICTION),
4 4 having been first duly sworn, testified as
EXAMINATION BY MR. STEWART 5
5 5 follows:
CERTIFICATE 149 6 EXAMINATTON
6
7 7 BY MR, STEWART:
8 EXHIBITS ,
NUMBER DESCRTPTION page | 8 Q. Good morning, Mr, Gravengaard. My
9 ‘ . 9  name is Kelly Stewart and I represent the
Exhibit 1 Notice of Deposition 3 L ] i .
10 {Personal Jurisdiction) 10 plaintiff in this case, RCI Developers, otherwise
11 Exhibit 2 Form §-1 filed on 20 .
February 10, 2022, by Athena 11 known as Accruvia,
12 Bitcoin Global 12 Can you state your full name for the
13 Exhibit 3 Term Sheet: 29
14 Exhibit 4 Texas Franchise Tax Public 36 13 record, please.
16 Information Reports 14 A. Eric Gravengaard.
Exhibit & Document from Delaware 41 15 Q. And where do you live,
16 Division of Corporations 1 -
17 Exhibit 6  Document printed from the 42 6 Mr. Gravengaard?
" [llinois Secretary of State 17 2, I live in the state of Illincis.
Exhibit 7 ATM Locations, Texas 61 18 . What's your business address?
19 . .
Exhibit § Invoice 43 15 A, The headquarters of Athena Bitcoin
20 20 Global is 1332 North Halsted. That's in Chicago,
Exhibit 9A  Invoice 76 L
21 2l  TIliineis,
22 Exhibit 8B Invoice 9 22 0. Okay. And, Mr. Gravengaard, are you
Exhibit 10 E-mail 90 23 here on behalf of Athena Bitcom, Inc., to answer
23 . . . .
Exhibit 11  E-mail 92 24 questions relating to this lawsuit?
gg 25 A I'm not familiar with the company
O
V] -
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Page 6 Page 8
1 that you just referred to. You referred to Athena 1 Q. Was that for an Athena entity?
2 Bitcom, Inc., and T'm unfamiliar with that 2 A, No, it was not,
3 company. 3 Q. Okay. Before you started working
4 Q. Okay. Well, I mispronounced it, 4 with or for Athena?
5 I'm sorry. 5 a, I believe it was.
6 Athena Bitcoin, Inc., is that the 6 0. Mr. Gravengaard, you're doing a good
7 company on which you're hers on behalf of teday? T job of answering questions, If you can avoid the
8 A, I -~ I'm here on behalf of myself 8 ub-uhs and uh-huhs and say ves or no, the court
9  and Athena Bitcoin Glokal. 9  reporter will get a clean and a clear record, if
10 Q. All right, Well, let me —— T am 10 that's ckay.
11 geoing to —- let's ses. Ilet me share a document 11 Also, Mr. Gravengaard, Lf you don't
12 with you, And vou should be able -- it should 12 understand one of nmy questions, I would appreciate
13 have come up as what's titled "Notice of 13 you telling me, Is that acceptable?
14 Deposition {Persocnal Jurisdiction)” that I've 14 A. I understand your questicn, yes.
15 marked as Exhibit 1. 15 Q. 211 right. BAnd if you need to take
16 Do you see that, Mr. Gravengaard? 16 a break, vou let me know or your attorney know,
17 A, I see a document on my screen, ves, 17 and we will take a break, Is that okay?
18 Q. Have you seen —- and vou can scroll 18 A, Yes, sir.
19 through it. I can't scroll through it for you, I [219 G. All right. I'm still locking at
20 don't think I can. 20  Exhibit Number 1, and if you will scroll to what's
21 But you can scroll through it, and 2l starting on page 4 with a list of topics and going
22 my first question for you is: Have you seen this |22  to page 5,
23 document before? . ... . 23 Have you seen that list of topics
24 A. I have seen this document, 24 before?
25 Q. Ckay. A&nd this is a notice of 25 A, Yes.
Page 7 Page 9
1  deposition to the deferdant here, Athena Bitcoin, 1 Q. Mr, Gravengaard, did you do anything
2 Tne, 2 to prepars for this deposition?
3 Do you understand that? 3 A, I put on a nice shirt, and I have
4 A. Okay. 4 logged into your GPS vTestify system.
5 o. Are you here to testify on bshalf of 5 Q. Did you do anything else to prepare
6 Athena Bitcoin, Inc,? 6 for the deposition?
7 a, I guess I am. 7 A. Yes.
] Q. All right. And you have seen 8 Q. What was that?
9  Exhibit 1, correct? 9 A. Combed my halir, took a shower.
10 A, Is that the document you're showing 10 Q. Bid you de anything else?
11 me? 11 A, I'm unfamiliar with what your
12 Q. Yes, sir. 12 question is.
13 A, Then I have seen it. 13 Q0. Do you understand the temm
14 a. All right. Before we go any 14 “preparation,” what that means in general?
15  further, Mr. Gravengaard, have you been deposed 15 N Maybe you could elaborate on what
16  before? 16 you mean by "prepare" and --
17 A, By you? WMo, I have not. 17 Q. Well —-
18 Q. Have you been deposed before by 18 A, -— then I could be more specific in
19 anyone? 12 my answer,
20 A, Yes, I have. 20 0. Well, I think you were very specific
21 . How many depositions have you given? |21  on some of the things you said, Mr. Gravengaard,
22 A, I believe just cne. 22 but let me ask it this way: Did you review any
23 Q. What -- vhat were the circumstances, 23 documents to prepare for your depostticn today?
24 or what was that case generally? 24 A. I did not review any documents.
25 A, It was an employment matter, 25 Q. Did you talk te anyone other than
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1 2Athena's counsel to prepare for your deposition 1 Let's start with high school. Where
2 today? 2 did you go to high school?
3 A, No, sir, 3 A, I attended the Greenwich High School
4 Q. Did you review the topics that are 4 of Connecticut,
5 onpage 4 and 5 of Deposition Exhibit 1 to prepare | 5 0. And where -- did you attend college?
6 for your deposition today? 6 A, I did.
7 A. I have previcusly reviewed this list 7 Q. Where did you go to college?
8 of topics with counsel. 8 a, I attended the Massachusetts
9 Q. Did you do anything specifically to 9 Institute of Tachnology in Massachusetts,
10 prepare for your deposition as it relates to these | 10 0. When did you graduate?
11 toples? 11 A, I have & degree that says 1996,
12 A, No, sir, 12 Q. What was your dagree in?
13 Q. Did you meet with your lawyer to 13 A. Mechanical engineering.
14 prepare for the deposition? 14 C. Other than the 1996 degree in
15 A, Yes, sir, 15  mechanical engineering frem MIT, do you have any
16 Q. And when I say "your lawyer," did le  other college degrees?
17 you mest with Mr. Fowler? 17 a, I have only one undergraduate
18 A. I have met with Mr. Fowler, 18 coliege degrae.
18 Q. Or talked to Mr. Fowler. 19 Q. Okay. Do you have any
20 A, I'm serry. I have spoken with 20 post-undergrad college degrees?
21 Mr. Fowler. 21 A, I'm sorry. Are you asking if T have
22 Q. To prepare for your deposition; is 22 a graduate degres?
23 that right? 23 Q. Yes,
24 A; - Yes, sir, 24 A. I have a graduate degree.
25 Q. How many times did you meet or talk 25 Q. And what is that in? Where is it
Page 11 Page 13
1 with Mr. Fowler to prepare for your deposition? 1 from? And when did you get it?
2 A, I couldn't say. 2 A, I have a master's in business
3 Q. You couldn't say, More than once? 3 administration from the University of Chicago
4 A, I believe that we were connected 4 Business School, which is presently called The
5 more than once, 5 Booth, and that was in 2005,
6 Q. Did you meet with any other lawyers, 6 Q. Any cthers?
7 meet or talk with any other lawyers to prepare for | 7 A, Ne.
8  your deposition? 8 Q. What year did you graduate high
9 A, T have met with the other counselors 9  school?
10 vho advise Athena Bitcoin and Athena Bitcoin 10 A. 1393.
11 Global, 11 R 50 from -~ you went to MIT from 1993
12 0. Who were they, or who was that? 12 until you got a degree in 1996; is that correct?
13 A. Tncluding Antonia Valiente, who I 13 A. Yes,
14 believs is on this call. 14 Q. and after 1996 when you got a degree
15 Q. Anybedy -— any other lawyers did you |15  from MIT, did you work or go -- what did you do
16 meet with or talk to to prepare for the 16 then?
17 deposition? 17 A. I worked.
18 A, No. 18 Q. What did you do?
19 Q. When you met with or talked to 19 A, I worked as a software developer for
20 either Mr. Fowler or Mr, Valiente, was there 20 different companiss. I did some entrepreneurial
21 anybody else in attendance or —- with those 21 work with a company that I helped to start, and
22 nmeetings or listening to or participating in those | 22  then I went to graduate school.
23 calls? 23 Q. When did you -~ did you form the
24 . No, 24 company — one of the Athena entities or one of
25 Q. Where did you attend school? 25  the entities that ultimately became the Athena
@PS:
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Page 14 Page 16

1 companies? 1 Q. Did you have any role in the

2 Did you -- did you start Athena, T 2 formation of Inc.?

3 guess? And when I say "Athena," let me just start | 3 A. I would —- yes. I'm not clear

4 with Athena -- T know there are several Athena 4 exactly which —

5 entities here, but let's just start with Athena 5 Q. What was your role with respect to

6 Bitcoin, Inc. 6 the formation of Inc.? And just so —-

7 Did you start that company? 7 a. I -

8 A, I'm not exactly sure what you mean 8 oN Go on,  Sorxy.

9 by "start.” Could you be more specific? 9 A, Attorneys in the state of Delaware
10 Q. Do you know when Athena Bitcoin, 10 form company —- corporations, so I was not — I'm
11 Inc., was formed? 11 not that —- I'm not an attorney, and I did not do
12 A, It was formed in September of 2015, 12 that. I was directing the formaticn of Athena
13 Q. When was Athena Bitcoin Global 13 Bitcoin, Inc., by those attorneys.

14 Fformed? 14 Q. All right. And just for today's
15 A, 1991, 15  purpcses, if I use the term "Inc.," I'm referring
16 Q. Did you form Athena Bitcoin Global? 1& to Athena Bitcoin, Inc., and if I use the temm
17 A, No. 17 "Global," I'm referring to Athena Bitcoin Glcbal.
18 Q. When did you first become involved 18  Is that okay?
19 with Athena Bitcoin Global? 19 T'11 try to use the full name, obut
20 A, I believe on or arcund January of 20 scmetimes it's just easier to call cne Glebal and
21 2020, , 21 one Inc.
22 Q. And how -- what were the 22 Is that -- you understand the

——-[ 23 circunstances of your. becoming involved with 23 difference between those two companies, correct?
24 - Athena Bitcoin Global? - 24 A. I understand the difference between
25 A, Athena Bitcoin, Inc., was purchased 25 those two companies.

Page 15 Page 17

1 by Athena Bitcoin Global in a share axchange. 1 Q. Inc. is a Delaware corporation,

2 Q. So what's the earliest —- I'm 2 right?

3 getting confused by your dates, and that's my 3 A. Yas.

4 fault, Mr. Gravengaard, not yours. 4 Q. And where is its main office?

§ You sald you became involved with 5 A. In Chicago.

6 Global in January of 2020 and Inc. in September -~ | 6 Q. What's the -- what's the address of

7 did you say you became involved with that in 7 its main office?

8  September 2015, or is that the day -- is that when 8 A, 1332 North Halsted, Chicago,

9 it was formed? 9 TIllinois, County of Cook.

10 A. You asked when was it fommed, and 10 2. And Global is a Nevada corporation,
11 the date of incorporation is September of 2015, 11 correct?

12 Q. Okay. And Global was formed in 12 A, Yes,

13 1891, correct? 13 0. And where is its main office?

14 A, I believe that's true, ves. 14 A, At the same address, 1332 MNorth

15 Q. But you didn't become involved with 15 Halsted, Chicago, Tllineis, County of Cock.

16 Global until January 2020, right? . 16 Q. And, Mr. Gravengaard, if we were in
17 a. That's what I said, 17 a conference room together for this deposition,

18 0. When did -- were you involved —- 18 there would be a little less awkwardness with

19 when did you become involved in any manner with 19 respect to documents, but if there's scme pauses
20 Inc.? 20  on my part today, it's because I'm trying to find
21 A, In September of 2015. 21 the electronic document Lo share it with you and
22 0. Bid you form —- ware you responsible | 22  mark it as an exhibit. 8o there might be a little
23 for the formation of Inc.? 23 bit of -- the technology is great, but there's a
24 A. I'm not clear on what you mean by 24 little bit of awkwardness, I've noticed, with --
25 was "responsible for." 25 sometimes in these dapositions just because of the
@PS:
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Page 18 Page 20
1 delay in getting the electronic document to you. 1 delay. We're just -- usually the Share button
2 Inc. is a wholly owned subsidiary of 2 lets me share immediately and --
3 Global at this point currently; is that right? 3 TECH: Sorry about that. I just
4 A, Currently, ves. 4 got booted cut of the sessicn. Just a
5 2. And Inc. is the operating subsidiary 5 sec,
6 of Global: is that right? & Do you have access to your other
7 MR, FOWLER: Objection, form. 7 exhibits that are in there?
3 A, What do you mean by "operating"? 8 MR, STEWART: Share button is
9 BY MR. STEWART: 9 grayed out on everything, so we're going
10 Q. I'm going to share with you, to 10 to have to get that fized.
11 answer that question -- I've lost my document. 11 TECH: Okay. Just a sec.
12 I'm sorry. I'm trying to find it. 12 MR, STEWART: Oh, do I need to ——
13 MR. STEWART: I'm going to have to 13 okay. I figured it cut. I needed to
14 ask, Mike, I'm —— I want a document on my 14 close the first exhibit. Sorry. That's
15 exhibit list, but the share button is 15 what was going on.
le grayed out. 16 TECH: Sorry. You can't share
17 TECH: Just a second. You've 17 more than cne at once,
18 already uploaded that document? 18 MR, STEWART: Okay, I'm going
19 MR. STEWART: Yes, 18 to --
20 BY MR. STEWART: 20  BY MR, STEWART;
21 Q. Wnile he's helping me on getting a 21 Q. I've shared with you what I marked
22 decument opened up, Mr. Gravengaard, where are you | 22 as Exhibit 2, vhich is excerpts from a US SEC
— |23 . physically ldcated today for this deposition? 23 filing Form 8-1 filed on February 10, 2022, by
24 A, In Cock County, Illinois, 24 Athena Bitcam Global. And, again, it's just
25 Q. Are you at cne of the Athena 25 excerpts of a very long document.
Page 19 Page 21
1 offices? 1 Can you see the first page,
2 a, I am at an office that T rent, 2 Mr. Gravengaard?
3 Q. Is that at 1332 North Hall? 3 A, 1 see a Form 5-1 as filed by Athena
| A, Wo, it is not at 1332 North Hall, 4 Bitcoin Global, Again, I'm unfamiliar with this
5 Q. Okay. I'm sorry. What was the 5  company Athena Bitcom.
6 address you gave me? 1332 North -- was it — [ Q. Okay. Well, you kncw, I apologize
7 A. The street is named Halsted. 7 for my accent. I mean Athena Bitcoin Global.
8 Q. Halsted. Are you at that address & This is an Athena Bitcoin Global, February 10,
9  today? 9 2022, SEC filing, correct? At least the first
10 A, I am not at that address. 10 page shows that?
11 TECH: When you're locking at the 11 MR, FOWLER: Objection, form,
12 exhibit list -- 12 A, It does seem to show that.
13 MR. STFWART: Yes, 13 MR. STEWART: What's the
14 TECH: -- and you click on the 14 abjection?
15 document, what does it say on the right 15 MR, FOWLER: Authenticity. If he
16 side for you? 16 had -- if he doesn't have personal
17 MR. STFWART: It says "Viewing 17 knowledge of the document --
18 Privately." 18 MR, STEWART: Ckay.
19 TECH: When you click Share, it's 19 MR, FOWLER: -~ speculation on his
20 not letting you do it? 20 part.
21 MR, STEWART: It's grayed out when 21 BY MR, STEWART:
22 I'm just looking at the list. T was able 22 Q. Mr. Gravengaard, did Athena Bitcoin
23 to share the first one. 23 Global file a Form $-1 with the SEC on
24 BY MR. STEMART: 24 February 10, 20227
25 Q. Mr. Gravengaard, I apologize for the 25 A, I believe that it did.
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Page 22 Page 24
L Q. And {audlo/technical malfunction) 1 Glchbal, is a Nevada corporation which owns
2 appear (audic/technical malfunction) page of that 2 100 percent of our operating subsidiary, Athena
3 document? 3 Bitcein, Inc., comma, a Delaware corporation,
4 B, I'm sorry. Your audic did not come 41 Is that right?
5 through on that. Could you please repeat your 5 A. Yes,
6 question, 6 Q. And that is referring to Inc. as the
7 THE REPORTER: Looks like 7 operating subsidiary of Glebal, right?
8 Mr. Stewart is frozen, 8 A, Yes.
9 MR. FOWLER: You know, that's a 9 0. That secend sentence says: Our
10 tem we never thought we would hear when 10 domestic business cperations are conducted by
11 We were practicing law, that one of the 11  Athena Bitcoin, Inc.
12 lawyers is frozen. 12 Is that accurate?
13 TECH: I'm just going to go off 13 MR. FOWLER: Objection, form.
14 the record until he comes back just a 14 MR, STEWART: What's the form?
15 sec, 15 MR, FOWLER: Are you asking if
16 MR, VATLIENTE: Record the time, 18 that's what the documented says, or are
17 {Discussion off the record from 17 vou asking if that's factually accurate?
18 9:34 a.im. te 9:35 a.m.) 18 MR, STEWART: Okay. Good point,
19 BY MR, STEWART: 19 Larry.
20 Q. Mr. Gravengaard, 1f you could scrgll 20 BY MR. STEWART:
21  down to a page that's got — let's see, It's got |21 Q. Mr. Gravengaard, dees the document
22 an org chart on 1t, and I'm looking for the page 22 say that?
23 _mmber. now._ At.the very bottom -~ I don't know if |23 A, The document reads: Our domestic
24 you can see it -- it says page 18 of 209, but 1t's |24 business operations are conducted by Athena
25 got at the top an org chart with "Athema Bitcoin 25 Biltcooin, Ine.
Page 23 Page 25
1 Global" at the top. There you go. 1 Q I that substantively accurate?
2 Do vou see that? 2 A. As of the date of that filing.
3 A, I see the organization chart that 3 0 Has it changed?
4 you referred to. | A. Athena Bitcoin Glohal does things
5 Q. All right. 2nd this is going back 5 that are not related to Athena Bitcoin, Ine.
& to my question about an cperating -- whether Inc. [ Q. What does it do that is not related
7 is the operating company of Global. 7 to Inc.?
8 If you'll look at that org chart, it 8 A, It has entered into several
9 shows Athena Bitcoin Global Nevada at the tog, 5  contracts subsequent to the filing of this Form
10 correct? 10 s-1 with the SEC.
11 A. Yes. It shows Athena Bitcoin il 0. Contracts related to what in
12 Global, which is a corporation registered in 12 general?
13 Nevada. 13 A, Cryptocurrency transactions and
14 Q. And underneath it, it says Athena 14  services.
15  Bitecoin, Inc., correct? 15 Q. Do any of those relate to the
16 A, Yes, 16 govermment of ¥l Salvador?
17 0. And then underneath Inc. are several 17 A. Some of them do.
18  other entities that have El Salvador, Columbia, 18 Q. 2And what has Global agreed to do for
19 Argentina, and Mexico listed affer them, right? 19 the government of El Salvador since February of
20 A. Yes, 20 20222
21 Q. And is that a correct organizational 21 A, We have ongoing relationships to
22  chart as of February of 2022? 22 manage a -- to manage Bitcoin ATMs on behalf of
23 A. Yes. 23 the government of El Salwador.
24 Q. Above that, it says -- the very top 24 Q. Those ATMs are located where?
25  line on that page: The Company, Athena Bitcoin 25 A. On -- in El Salvador.
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1 Q. Anyplace else? 1 that andgo to . . ., Well, I'm attempting to
2 A, The consular offices of the 2 share -~ now that disappears on me.
3 government of El Salvador. 3 MR. STEWART: Mike, I need your
4 0. And is that in -- those consular 4 help again,
5 offices, where are they located? 5 TECH: Are you trying to do the
6 A, I believe some of them are located 6 term sheet, Exhibit 37
7 in the United States, 7 MR. STEWART: Yes. Why is it not
8 Q. Are any in Texas? 8 sharing?
9 A. I am unsure of that answer. I'm not 9 TECH: Just & sec. All right.
10 sure. 10 Just a mement. Share. It should be up
11 Q. Bnd, by the way, you are —— what is 11 TIOW,
12 your title with Inc.? 12 MR. STEWART: It's not showing up
13 A, i'm director of Athena Bitcein, Inc. 13 on my live exhibit list.
14 0. Director. What is your title with 14 TECH: Can anyone else see the
15 Glohal? 15 exhibit?
16 A. I have no title with Global as of 16 MR. STEWART: Should be a term
17  today. 17 sheet,
18 Q. What was your title with Global as 18 MR, FOWLER: It was listed a
18 of February 20227 19 minute ago., It's not up there now.
20 R, Ag stated in the 3-1, I was its 20 MR, STEWART: T just closed it,
21 chief executive officer. 21 Let me share it again. It's still not
22 Q. What was your title of -- with Ine. 22 showing up —-
23 as of February of 20222 23 TECH: Yeah., It should pop up
24 A, I had none. 24 now. {an you guys see it?
25 Q. You had ne -- no title with Inc, as 25 MR. FOWLER: No,
Page 27 Page 29
1 of February 20227 1 MR, STEWART: Does refresh the
2 A. I don't believe so. 2 exhibit viewar help?
3 Q. And, as you know, this lawsuit deals 3 TECH: Yeah. Click there refresh
4 with some issues that arose in approximately the 4 because I can sese it.
5 September-October time period of 2021, 5 MR. STEWART: ALl right. It's
6 Do you understand that? 6 showing up for me now.
7 A, Yes. 7 BY MR, STEWART:
8 [0 What was your title with Inc, as of 8 Q. Mr. Gravengaard, I den't know if you
9 Septenber-October of 217 8  can see it yet. If not, I had to —- there's a
10 A, I don't believe I had a title with 10 refresh arrow in the upper right-hand corner,
11 Athena Bitcoin, Inc., during the time frame which |11 A, I don’t see anything. Are you
12 you just referenced. 12 asking me a question if I -- or are you directing
13 Q. What was your title with Global as 13 me to press the refresh butten? I didn't
14 of the September-Octcber '21 time period? 14 understand what you were asking.
15 A, I was its chief executive officer. 15 Q. If you can’t see it, I would request
16 Q. And the statements that we just 1& that you hit the refresh button, That's what
17 looked at, the statement that said: Our domestic 17  works for me,
18  business operations are conducted by Athena 18 A, I have pressed the refresh button,
1% Biteoin, Inc., you told me that that was accurate |19 and T now see a document: .
20 as of February of 2022, correct? 20 Q. All right. T should have applied an
21 A, Yes, 21 Eshibit 3 stamp to the first page. This is a
22 Q. Would that have been accurate as of 22 three-page document.
23 September-October of 20217 23 Mr, Gravengaard, if you could -- you
24 A. Yes. 24 can screll through it. I'm just going to ask you
25 Q Okay. I'm going to stop sharing 25 what it is once you've had a chance to look at it
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1 or just at least scan it. 1 Q. What does Global do or what did

2 A, This appears to be a tem shest 2 Glebal do as of September-October of 20517

3 between Athena Bitcoin Global and Mr. Overton and 3 A, Global had purchased, in August of

4 ROI Developers. 4 2021, certain intellectual property that it was

5 Q. And is it dated on the first page 5 licensing to the government of El Salvador,

6  September 22, 20217 [ Q. Did that intellectual property deal

7 A. The document you have shown me is 7 with the Chive Wallet software?

8 dated September 22, 2021. 8 A, Yes,

9 0. All right, On the very last page, 9 Q. And it's Global that owns that

10 the third page, is that your signature above your |10 license; is that right?

11 typewritten name? 11 A. Yes.

12 A. That is my signature on the third 12 Q. And does Global -- who has the

13 page of the document that you are showing me. 13 contract -~ or who has the license with the

14 Q. And above your signature, doss it 14 government of El Salvador? Is it Global? Inc.?
15  say Purchaser Athena Bitcoin Global, Inc,? 15 Or cne of the other companies that's on the --

16 A. It does say Athena Bitcoin Global, 16  that were on that org chart we looked at or s0ie
17 Inc. 17 other company?

18 0. Is there an entity that exists that 18 A, Certain services are provided by

13 has the name Athena Bitcein Glohal, Inc.? 13 Athena Holdings of El Salvador, S.A. de C.¥., and
20 A. No, there is not. 20  some other services are provided to the governmant
21 Q. Do you know why that was listed as 21 by Athena Bitcoin Global.

22 the purchaser on page 3 of Exhibit 37 22 Q. Does the government of El Salvador
23 A, It appears to be a typo because on 23 have a contract or a license with Clobal?

24 the first page, it identifies the purchaser as 24 A, Yes,

25  Athena Bitcoin Global. 25 Q. Does it have a contract or license

Page 31 Page 33

1 Q. What generally does Inc. do? How 1 with Athena Holdings El Salvador, S.A. de C.V.?

2 would you describe Inc.'s business? 2 A, Yes.

3 And currently —- I guess currently 3 Q. Does it have any contracts with

4  and whether that -~ and the second part of my 4  Inc.?

5 question is going to be, has that changed since 5 A, No.

6  September or Octcher of 20217 [ Q. And you would agree with me that

7 MR, FOWLER: 2nd, I'm sorry, T Inc. is a wholly owned subsidiary of Global,

8 Kelly, I didn't hear the question., What 8  right?

g does who do? 9 A. At the present time, Athena Bitcoin,
10 MR. STEWART: Inc, 10 Ine., is a wholly owned subsidiary of Athena

11 A. You're referring to the company, not |11 Bitcoin Global.

12 the word? 12 Q. And that was true as of

13 BY MR, STEWART: 13 September-October of 2021, right?

14 Q. Yes, sir. I'm referring to the 14 A. That was true in September of 2021.
15 company. 15 Q. And as of September-Cotober 2021,

16 A, I misunderstood your initial 16  Athena Holdings El Salvador, $.A. de C.V., was a
17 inquiry, 17 wholly cwned subsidiary of Athena Bitcoin, Ine.?
18 Athena Bitcoin, Inc., operates 18 A. No.

19 Bitcoin ATMs in the United States. 19 0. No?

20 Q. Does it do anything else in general? | 20 A, Ho.

21 B, That's its primary business. 21 c. When did Athena Holdings

22 Q. 80 -~ was that the same -- would 22 Bl Salvador, S.A. de C.V., become a subsidiary of
23  that description be accurate for September-October | 23 Athena Bitcoin, Inc.?

24 of 20217 24 A, It has never been a wholly owned

25 A, Yes, 25  subsidiary of Athena Bitcoin, Inc. T would refor
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1 you back to your Exhibit Z, 1 c. Does Global have any other officers?
2 Q. and you're saying that it's not 2 A, Mot at the present time.
3 because it's owned by -- you own 95 percent of it, 3 Q. Is Mr. Goldenh®rn an officer of
4  and somebody named Matias Goldenhtrn -- well, T'm 4 Inc.?
5 reading the wrong thing. 5 A. Ne.
[ Why do vou tell me that it's not a 3 0. Who are the officers of Inc.,?
7 wholly owned subsidiary of Inc.? 1 A. I don't believe that Athena Bitcoin,
8 A. 8ir, I believe that you're reading a 8 Inc., has any officers at the present time,
9 document that explains why it is not a wholly 9 Q. Did it have any as of February of
10 owned subsidiary. 0 20222
11 Q. Dossn't matter what I'm reading, 11 A, I don't believe so.
12 Wr. Gravengaard. I'm asking you the cuestion. 12 Q. Did it have any as of
13 You told me that it wasn’t a wholly 13 September-October of '217
14 owned subsidiary of Inc,, and I'm asking you why. 14 A. I don't believe so,
15 A, Per the document that I believe that |15 Q. Is Inc. deing business in Texas
16 you're reading, Athena Bitcoin, Inc., owns 16  currently?
17 99 percent of the entity vou just asked about. 17 A, 1 believe that Athena Bitcoin, Inc.,
18 Q. And you own the other 1 percent? 18  cperates some Bitcoin ATM3 in the state of Texas.
19 A. That is correct. 19 Q. I'm showing you -- or you should be
20 Q. Ckay. 8o it's not a wholly owned 20 able to see a Texas Franchise Tax Information
21 subsidiary, It's a 99 percent wholly -- 21 Report -~ agtually four Texas Tax Fublic
22 99 percent owned subsidiary of Inc., correct? 22 Informaticn Reports that I've marked as Exhibit 4.
23 A, Could you restated your guestion? I |23 De you see those?
24 don't know what a 99 percent wholly owned 24 A, I see a Texas Franchise Tax Public
25  subsidiary is. 25  Information Report.
Page 35 Page 37
1 Q. As of February of '22, Inc. owned 1 Q. Okay, And this is -- at least let's
2 89 percent of Athena Holdings Kl Salvador, 2 look at the first page.
3 S.A. de C.V., correct? 3 This says the taxpaver name is
4 a. Yes, 4  Athena Bitcoin, Inc., correct?
5 Q. and that's accurate as of 5 A. It is marked under the box Taxpayer
6  September-October of 2021, corract? 6 name, Athena Bitcoin, Inc.
7 A, I believe it is, yes. 1 Q. And at the bottom of that first
8 Q. In September-October of 2021, did 8 page, it says sign here, and it's got your name
9  you personally cwn L percent of Athena Holdings 9 typed in, correct?
10 El Salvador, S.A. de C.V.? 10 A, Yes,
11 A, I belisve T did. 11 Q. And it has the title of CEO, right?
12 Q. Do you currently own any interest in 12 A, Yes,
13 Athena Holdings El Salvador, S.A. de C.V.7 13 Q. And the date of May 7, 20187
14 A. Yes. I believe I still own 14 A, The date is May 7, 2018,
15 1 percent. 15 Q. The next page also lists as the
16 Q. How much of Global do you own 16  taxpayer name Athena Bitcoin, Inc., corract?
17 currently? 17 A. I'm looking at page 2 of your
18 A. I believe it's approximately 18  document, and it does say Athena Bitcoin, Inc,,
19 28 percent, 19 under the Taxpayer name heading.
20 Q. Who are the officers of Global? 20 Q. All right. And this page under
21 A. Matias Goldenhdrn, 2l Section A in the middle lists you under the
22 Q. What does he -- what's his role or 22 section of officer, director, member, general
23 office? 23 partner, manager, right?
24 A. He is the chief executive officer of |24 A, I'm sorry, yes, my name ig referred
25 Athena Bitcoin Global, 25 in Section A.
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1 Q. And did you tell me that you -- and 1 Q. The second, second page.
2 this is -- I'm looking for a date on this page. 2 A, And on the second, third, and fourth
3 Toward the top, it says report year of 2019, 3 page, there are commas.
4 Do you see that? 4 Q. Do you know if that mokes a
5 A. I believe that it says 2019 under 5 difference one way or the cther? BAre we talking
6 report year. & two different entities, or is it the same —
1 Q. Thank you. That's what I asked. 7 a. I'm not an attorney, sir, and I
8 And were you an officer, director, 8 can't answer the question as to whether or not the
% merber, general partner, or manager in 20137 ¢  comma is important,
10 A, In 2019, I was an officer of Athena 10 o, A1l right, But is there, to your
11 Bitcoin, Inc, : 11 knowledge, an entity -- are there two separate
12 o8 When did you stop being an officer 12 entities, one called Athena Bitcoin Inc., with no
13 of Inc.? 13 comma, and one Athena Bitcoin, Inc., with a comma?
14 A. After the acquisition in a share 14 In other -
15  exchange of Athena Bitcoin, Inc., by Athena 15 A, I'in -~
16 Bitcoin Global. 16 Q. Go on,
17 Q. And what year was that? 17 A, I'm not sure,
18 a. 2020. 18 Q. All right. Could there be two
19 Q. On the third page of this document, 19  different entities, or are you aware of only one
20 it —- this also 1ists as the tazpayer name Athena |20 Athena Bitcoin entity that as an Inc. after its
21  Bitcoln, Inc. 21 name?
22 Do you see that? 22 A. There is one Delaware corporation
23 A, I do. 23 named Athena Bitcoin, Inc. I don't know if in the
24 Q, And the repert year is 2020, right? 24 state of Delaware it is registered with or without
25 A, Yes. 25 a comma.
: Page 39 Page 41
1 Q. And it lists -- also lists vou as an 1 0, Well, let me show you that in a
2 officer, director, member, general manager, or 2 second, but let's finish this document so we don't
3 rpartner? 3 have to come back.
4 A. I was a director -- q On that fourth page, which is 2021,
5 Q. Okay, 5 are you listed an officer, director, member,
6 A, ~- in -- and still am. 6 general manager -- general partner, or manager?
7 Q You're still a director of Inc., 1 A. On the fourth page my name is in
8  right? 8 Bection A as either a officer, director, member,
9 A, Of Athena Bitcoin, Inc., yes. 9 general partner, or manager.
10 Q. The fourth page of this document, 10 Q. And what was -- what were you in
11 Mr, Gravengaard, is -- lists Athena Bitcoin, Inc., |11 2021 for Athena Bitcein, Inc.?
12 as the taxpayer, correct? 12 A. I was a director.
13 A, On the fourth page of the document i3 Q. Mr. Gravengaard, I have marked
14 you're showlng we Athena Bitcoin, comma, Inc., is 14 Exhibit 5. 2And, again, I had to hit the refresh
15 listed as the taxpayer name, 15 button for the document to show up, so that's —
16 Q. Does the comma make a difference to 16 1f you're seeing nothing, I would ask that you hit
17 you? You pointed it out this time. 17 that refresh button,
18 A, No. But it is different than on the |18 But can you see a document on
19 thizd page of your document. 19 screen?
20 o Well, let's -- no, it's not., Iet's 20 A, I do not see a document on screen,
21  go to the first page. 21 Q. Would you please hit the refresh
22 The first page does not have a 22 button.
23 conma, right? 23 A. I have pressed the refresh button.
24 A, I'm sorry. I misspoke. On the 24 Q. Has it shown up yet?
25  first page, there is no comma. 25 A. There is now a document showing.,
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1 Q. Ckay, This is something I printed 1 Do you see that?

2 off from the Delaware Division of Corporaticns 2 MR, FOWLER: Where --

3 website on July 25 of this year. And it shows an 3 A, No, I do not,

4  entity named -- called Athena Bitcein, comma, Inc, 4 MR. FOWLER: Kelly, where are you

5 Do you see that? 5 talking &bout?

[ A, I see that there's a document and I 6 MR, STEWART: No, vou know what

7 see that the decument says Athena Bitcoin, comwa, 7 happened? I've got pages -- my Exhibit 6

8 Inc. 8 is pages 1 and 3 as opposed to -- looks

g Q. Okay, Are you aware of a separate g like it was a double-sided copy that

10 entity with the same name but without the comma? 10 didn't print out, So doesn't matter.

11 A, In Delaware, no. 11 BY MR, STEWART:

12 Q. Anywhere else? 12 Q. Mr, Gravengaard, what I'm really

13 A, I don't know how the corporation has 13 trying to find out is if there's a second entity
14 been reglstered as a foreign corporation in the 14 out there, and it sounds like —- I don't want to
15 state of Illinols or any other state in which we 15 put words in your mouth or misstate what you have
16  might do business with or without the cormma. 16  said, but it sounds like there's not two companies
17 Q. Bll right. I am showing you what I 17 that are called Athena Bitcoin, Inc.

18 marked as Exhibit 6. And I'm sure if I misnunber |18 It's one, and it may or may not have
19 scmething duplicate, the -~ duplicate the number, 19 2 comma, Is that a fair statement?

20 somebody will say something, but I'm trying to -~ |20 A. I believe it is, I'm not an expert
21 trying not to do that. 21 in corporate law or foreign corporate

22 But can you see a document on 22  registrations, and so T would direct your gquestion
23  screen? 23 tc someone who might be -~ have better knowledge
24 - A, I see a decument on screen, 24  of the Secretary of State's offices.

25 Q. All right. This is a document I 25 Q. All right. But as the

Page 43 Page 45

1 also printed out from the Illinois Secretary of 1  representative of Athena Bitcoin, Inc., the

2 State on July 25 of 2022, 2 defendant in this lawsuit today, vou're not aware

3 Do you see where it lists Athena 3 that there's two Athena Bitcoin, Inc., entities,

4  Bitcoin Inc.? 4 are you?

5 A, I do. 5 A, I am not.

[ Q. And it doesn't have a comma here, 6 Q. And would you agree with me that

7 right? 7 Athena Bitcoin, Inc., is registered to do business

8 A, I do not see a comma, 8  in Texas?

9 Q. All right, And, look, 9 A, I believe it is, but I don't have

10 Mr. Gravengaard, my questicn is simple -- and I'm |10 any direct knowledge of whether or not it is or is
i1l Just trying to determine whether there's two 11 not registered to do business.

12 different entities, one with 2 comma or one 12 0. Are you aware of any DBAs, doing

13 without, if you know, as opposed to just one where | 13  business as, that would have baen filed on behalf
14 the comma might have been laft cut or 14 of Athena Bitcoin, Ing.?

15  inadvertently put in, 15 A. Yes,

16 Do you know one way or the other? 16 o And what were those -- what was the
17 A. It would appear that this isa -1 17 DBA that Inc. would have used or filed for?

18 don't know exactly what this document is. I did 18 A, I believe that Athena Bitcoin, Inc.,
19 not print it out on the 25th of July. But this 12 has filed DBAs to go by the name of Bitquick,

20 would appear to be & foreign corporate 20 Q. Okay, And what doss Bitquick do, if
21  registration of a Delaware corporation in the 21 anything? TIs it just a DBA, or does it have any
22  state of Illinocis, and the entity name is listed 22  sort of operations that would be separate from

23 as Athena Bitcoln Inc. with no comma. 23 Inc.?

24 Q. All right. BAnd then on the second 24 A. There is no Bitquick service at the
25 page it lists you under President. 25 present time.
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1 Q. Do you know who the directors of 1 Q. Did Global have any employess in
2 Inc. are currently? 2 September-October of 20217
3 A. Currently I'm the only director of 3 A. Yes. It had two. No. I'm sorry.
4  Athena Bitcoin, Inc. 4 T misspoke, I believe it had three at that time,
5 Q. Were you a director of Inc. as of 5 Q. Let's talk about, are any of those
6  September-Qctober of 217 6 employees that work for -- never mind, Let me
7 A, Yes. 7 strike that,
8 Q. Were there any other directors as of 8 Do any of the employees of Inc. at
9 September-October of '21% % this point work in Texas?
10 A. Yes, 10 2, I -
1l Q. Who were the directors then? 11 Q. Well, let me ask it a different way.
12 A, Edward Weinhaus and myself, 12 That's probably a bad question.
13 Q. And Mr. Weinhaus is currently not a 13 Po any of the employess of Inc,
14 director of Inc.; is that right? 14 corrently live in Texas?
15 A, Yes. 15 A, I am not sure.
16 Q. How about Glchal? Who are the 16 C. And I think you said you think
17 directors of Global now? 17  maybe -- maybe between five and ten employees of
18 A. Matias Goldenhérn, myself, Jason Lu, 18 Inc. currently, right?
18 and Steve Svarez. 19 A, Yes,
20 Q. And were those -~ were all four of 20 Q. Not sure how many work in Texas.
21 those the directors in September-October of 20212 |21 Do you know, does Balley Jarret —-
22 A. No. 22 Jarrell? Does Bailsy Jarrell, do you know if she
23 Q. Who were they in Septenber-October 23 is an Inc. employee?
24 of 20217 : 24 A, I'm not sure if she is or is not an
25 A. I believe at that time that 25 Inc. employee at the present time.
Page 47 Page 49
1 Mr. Weinhaus was @ directer and Mr. Coldenh®rn was 1 Q. Do you know if she lives in Texas?
2  not a director. 2 A, I don't,
3 Q. But Mr. Lu and Mr. -- was it 3 Q. Did Inc, have any emplovees that
4  Steve -- 4 lived in Texas in September-October of 20217
5 ‘A, 7 Suarez. 5 A, I don't believe we did, but I —— no,
6 Q. -— Suarez, were they directors? & I don’t believe we did.
7 A. They were dirsctors, 7 Q. For whom does Noreen Bepinc work?
8 Q. Does Inc. have any employees 8 A. She works for Athena Bitcoin, Inc.,
9 currently? 9 T believe,
10 a, Inc. does have employees. 10 Q. For whom does Gilbert Valentine or
11 Q. Abcut how many? 11 Valentine work?
12 EW T couldn't say the exact rumber, 12 A, I'm not sure.
13 Qu I mean, five? Ten? Twenty? What's |13 Q. Do you know of his title?
14- your best estimate? 14 A, He -- do T know his title with whom?
15 A, I would say it's a number between 15 Q. With Inc.
lé  five and ten, 16 A, I don't believe that he's an
17 Q. Did Inc. have any employees in 17 employee of Athena Bitcoin, Inc.
18 September-October of 20217 18 Q. Do you know his title with Global?
19 A. I believe it —- similar nurber, 19 A, He has no title with Athens Bitcain
20 between Five and ten. 20 Global.
21 Q. Doss Global have any employees right |21 Q. Okay. Do you know whether he's the
22 now? 22 executive vice president of compliance for Inc.?
23 A. Yes, 23 A, I do not believe that is true.
24 Q. How many? 24 Q. Has it ever been true?
25 A, I believe betwesn two or three. 25 A, fis was the chief compliance officer
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1 for Athena Bitcoin, Inc., for many years, 1 - After which time?
2 Q. Okay, And the chief compliance 2 Q. After the end of '22 ~- July of
3 officer for Inc. for many years, do you know when 3 20— I'msorry, I'm sorry, Mr, Gravengaard, I
4 he stopped doing that, if he stopped? 4 misunderstood you.
5 A, Yes. When we hired a new chief 5 You said he left Inc. at the end of
& compliange officer. & July of '22?
7 Q. What was the date on that? 7 A, Yes.
8 A, I don't know, 8 Q. All right. Was he ever a
9 Q. Was it scmetime in 20227 9  subcontractor, to your knowledge, of Inc, at any
10 A, It was either in late 2021 or early 10 peint?
11 in 2022, but I do not know the date. 11 A, What do you mean by subcontractor?
12 Q. Do you know if he was the chief 12 Q. Did he have any agreements to do any
13 compliance officer for Ing, in September or 13 sort of work for Inc., not as an employes, but in
14 oOctober of 20212 14 any cther capacity?
15 A. Yes. He would have been the chief 15 a. Yes. He may have had a contract
16  compliance officer for Athena Bitcoin, Inc., in 16 with Athena Bitcecin -- I'm sorry -- Athena
i7  the September and October time frame. 17 Holdings of El Salvador prior to his employment by
18 Q. Do you know how many trips to Texas 18  Athena Bitcoin, Inc.
19 he took in 20212 19 Q. Do you know the names of any of
20 A. I do not. 20 Inc.'s current employees that you estimated may be
21 Q. Do you know one way or the other 21  between five and ten?
22 vhether he took trips to Texas —- made trips to 22 A, Yes,
23 | Texas for work in 20217 23 Q. What are the names you remenber?
24 A. T do not believe he made any trips 24 A. Noreen Pepino.
25 to Texas for work in 2021. 25 Q. Right,
Page 51 Page 53
1 Q. You said you don't believe. Do you 1 A, Toby Cohen. Sam Wazzaro. Patrick
2 know for sure? 2 Patton, 2And Eric Matson.
3 A, I'm not familiar with his travel 3 Q. That's five people. Do you - could
4 schedule, 4  be more? That's all you remember; is that right?
5 . Okay. But so you don't know —— you 5 A. Those are the names that I
6 don't have any personal knowledge as to whether he | 6 remembered off the top of my head,
7  made any trips for work to Texas in 20217 7 Q. All right. If I didn’t ask you --
8 A. I do not have any perscnal knowledge 8 if I already asked you this, I apologize, but I
9 of whether or not he traveled to Texas in 2021. 9 want to make sure I got this right.
10 Q. Do you know who Jeremy Brenner ig? 10 Noreen Pepino, she was working for
11 A. Yes, 11 Inc, in September or October of '21; is that
12 Q. Is he a former eamployee of Inc.? 12 correct?
13 A. He is a former employee of Athena 13 A, I believe that she was.
14 - --Bitcoin, Inc, 14 Q. What's the e-mail address or the
15 Q. Was he an employee of Athena 15 email domain for Inc, employees?
16  Bitcoin, Inc., in September-October of 20217 16 A. We don't separate out domains by
17 A. No, I do not believe he was. 17 which company a person is employed by.
18 Q. Do you know when he left the 18 Q. That was my next question.
19 employment of Inc.? 19 First question is, what's the e-mail
20 A, I believe that he left the 20 domain for Inec.?
21 employment of Athena Bitcein, Inc., at the end of | 21 A, There is no domain specifically for
22 July 2022, 22 Inc.
23 Q. Was he -~ did he serve as a 23 Q. All right, Well --
24 contractor or subcontractor of Inc. after that 24 A, So I don't know how to answer your
25 time? 25  question, sir.
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i Q. It's the same e-mail domain address 1 since January 1, 2020, related to work other than
2 for Inc. and Global, correct? 2 this dinner that you just mentioned?

3 A. There are many domains used by all 3 MR. FCWLER: Cijection,

4 of the companies. 4 A, I believe I transited through --

5 Q. Okay, Well, the @athenabitcoin.com, 5 MR. FOWLER: Wait. I'm going to

6 that's an e-mail used for both Inc. and Global & object to the question in that you are

7 currently, right? 7 not -- the question isn't specific on

8 A. Yes, 8 what entity he is {raveling for work for.

g8 Q. That's the e-mail used for both Inc, 9 He's testified that he has a relationship
10 and Global in September of 2021, right? 10 with more than cone entity, and so the

11 A, Yes. 11 question, as worded, is anbiguous and

12 Q. And you said there are many others. 12 can't be answered,

13 What are the others that are being 13 MR, STEWART: Thank you for

14 used? 14 instructing the witness, Mr, Fowler.

15 A, athena.sv -~ 15 BY MR. STEWART:

16 c. Ckay. So -- 16 Q. Mr. Gravengaard, I didn't

17 A. -- is guite popular with many 17  distinguish between the entity. I asked whether
18 people. 18 you made any trips whatsoever for work purposes to
19 Q. So that's the -~ that's the 19 Texas since January 1 of 2020, and you told me

20 El Salvador entity, is it? 20 about a trip you made cne and a half months ago.
21 A. I don't know who owns the domain 21 Any cther trips for any entity for
22 name. . 22 any purpose -- for work purposes?

23 Q. Okay, Aand -- all right. My 23 A, T believe I transited through DFW,
24 question was probably too broad. 24 but I'm not sure on what work purpose I did that
25 For the US companies, are there 25  transit in,

Page 55 Page 57

1 any -- maybe that's what you were answering -- any | 1 Q. Okay. 2And any other trips to Texas
2 cother dowain names? 2 or through Texas for you personally?

3 A. I believe that the -- that Athena 3 A. Not to my recollection.

4 Bitcoin Global owns approximately 25 to 35 domain 4 Q. Now, the dimner that vou ~— with the
5  names. 5 investor one and a half months ago, was that for
3 Q. But if somebody is sending an e-mail 6 Global or for Inc. or both or somebody else?

7 to athenabitcoin.com, they're not going to know 7 A, No., The individual with whom I had
8 whether that's going to Global or Inc. It's the 8 dimner is a shareholder of Athena Bitcoin Global,
8 same e-mail for both, right? 9 and I was meeting with him in that respect.

10 MR. FOWLER: Objection, form. 10 0. And at the time you met with him,

11 A, Yeah, I'm —— I'm not sure what your 11 Global owned a hundred percent of Inc., correct?
12 question is, sir, 12 A, Yes.

13 BY MR, STEWART: 13 Q. all right. That's you.

14 Q. Well, there's no distinct —- 14 Any other Inc. employees or officers
15 A. I don't know how I could comment on 15  or directors that you're aware of that have made
16 what scmecne else would believe. 16  trips to Texas for work purposes since January 1
17 Q. Are you aware of any travel made 17 of 2020%

18 into Texas for work purposes by any of Inc.'s 18 A. Not that I'm aware of.

19 officers, directors, and employees since Jamuary 1 | 19 Q. Do you know whether Mr, Weinhaus has
20 of 20207 20 done any trips to Texas?
21 A. Am I aware of any? I went to a 21 A, He alsc attended the dinner that I
22 dinner with one of our investors in the state of 22 just mentioned,

23 Texas approximately a month and a half ago. 23 Q. And on whose behalf did he attend

24 Q. Okay. And let's continue with you. 24 the dinner? Was that Global or Inc. or someone
25 Have you made any trips te Texas 25 else?
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i B, That would have been Athena Bitcoin 1 Q. Ckay, The website for Inc. and

2 Glchal at the time. He was a director of Athena 2 Global is the same; is that right?

3 Bitcoin Global. And, as I said, we met with an 3 MR. FOWLER: Cbjection, form.

4 investor and a shareholder of Athena Bitcoin 4  BY MR. STEWART:

5 Global. 5 Q. Well, let me ask it this way: 1Is

& Q. And was that to discuss investing in 6 there a different website for Inc. than for

7 Global or any of its subsidiaries? 7 Global?

8 A. It was to discuss his existing 8 A, I don't believe that there is,

9  investment and to solicit a follow-on investment 9 Q. Is it -~ and that website is at

10 into Athena Bitcoin Global. 10 athenabitcoin.com, right? That's the website for
11 Q. Other than you and Mr, Welnhaus, who |11 both?

12 else from any Athena entity would have been at 12 A, That is the primary website for

13 that meeting? 13 Athenaz Bitcoin Glcbal and Athena Bitcoin, Inc.

14 A. No one else. 14 Q. And it lists -- and I can show you
15 Q. What city in Texas was that in? 15 this. This is not necessarily meant to be a

16 A, It was north of Dallas. 16 memory test. But do you recall whether the

17 0. Do you know if Mr. Valentine made 17 website lists Bitcoin ATM locations in Texas?

18  any trips to Texas on behalf of any Athena entity |18 A, I believe that the website shows the
19 since January 1, 20207 18 locations of Athena Bitcoin, Inc.'s ATMs.

20 A, I have no knowledge of him traveling |20 0. And some of those are located in

2l to Texas since January 1 of 2020. 21 Texas, right?
22 Q. Did you do any work to prepare for 22 A. I believe that some of them are

23  this deposition to find out whether any other Inc, |23 located in Texas.

24  employees or officers or directors traveled to 24 Q. How many?

25  Texas? 25 A. I do not know.

Page 59 Page 61

1 A. I did not do any work, 1 Q. I've attached or submitted a

2 Q. Does Inc, have any offices in Texas? 2 document that I marked as Exhibit 7. Let me know
3 A, No., -3 when you can see a document.

4 Q. Does Global have any offices in q A. I can see a document now.

5 Texas? 5 Q. Okay. And I apologize for having to
[ A, No. 6 ask you that every time, but it looks like

7 Q. Poes Inc, employ any subcontractors 7 sometimes these documents aren't even showing up
8  in Texas? 8 onmy end once I share them, so T have to -~ T

9 A. I don't believe we do. 9 don't want to start asking you questions without
10 Q. Did you do any work to determine 10 making sure you can see it.

11 whether Inc. employed any subcontractors in Texas? | 1t This is a print-off of -- from —-

12 A. No, 12 and it doesn't print off very well, but I'1l
13 Q. Does Inc. have any bank accounts, 13 represent to you that this is a print-off from the
14 -iavestment or brokerage accounts, or any financial | 14  athenabitcoin.com website and I'm going to scroll
15 accounts in Texas? 15 through -- or at least portions of it and —- when
16 A. No. 16  you click on Texas or the locations -~ and I want
17 Q. Does Global? 17 to make sure, just see if you agree with what this
18 A, No. 18 shows as being the ATM — Ritcoin ATMs in Texas.
19 Q. We talked about the e-mail address. 19 And so 1f you could scroll through
20 Let me ask you about the websites. 20 that, I can tell you my first -~ you know, I'll
21 You know what, let me -- let's go 21 walk through with that, but I want you to have a
22  ahead and -- T was going to suggest, we've been 22  chance to look at it.
23 going a little over an hour. Do you need a break, | 23 A, This appears to be a list of Bitcoin
24 or are you okay? 24  ATMs that are located in Texas,
25 A. I can continue, 25 0. And the first one, there's one in
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1 Houston, the Greenway Commons. Ts that -— do you 1 can be used by Texas residents, correct?
2 see that? 2 A, I believe that the machines can be
3 A, Yes. 3 used by Texas residents,
4 Q. Followed by ancther address in 4 Q. And they can be used by anybody
5 Houston at Willowbrook Plaza, right? 5 who's physically present at the ATM, whether
6 A, Yes. 6 they're a Texas resident or not, correct?
7 2. Followed by a Best Royal Tiquor. 7 A. No. That is definitely not correct.
8 I'mnot sure if that address got cut off, but that | 8 Q. You have to be a Texas resident to
9  looks like that's one in Houston, right? % use those ATMs?
10 A, I don't know where the Best Royal 10 A. No, you do not,
11 Ligquor store is, 11 Q. Ckay, So an Oklahoma resident could
12 Q. All right. 12 use those ATMs if they are at the ATM perhaps,
13 A. And your document does not show an 13 right?
14 address. 14 A. Perhaps they could,
15 Q. And then following that is one in 15 Q. Okay. Well, why are you hesitant?
16  Dallas~Fort Worth at East Food Mart, correct? One |16 Why could somebody who's not a Taxas resident ——
17 in Fort Werth, I should say. 17 A. I'm not at all hesitant, sir,
18 A, East Food Mart is listed below Pest 18 Q. Well, then why could scmebedy who's
1%  Royal Liquor, yes. 19 not a Texas resident not use them? Ts that what
20 Q. Below that, is a Zoom Food Mart in 20 you're saying or —-
21 Fort Worth, correct? 21 A, That is not what I'm saying,
22 A. Below that is Zoom Food Mart of Fort |22 Q. All right, And my questicn is: You
23 Worth, 23  don't have to be a Texas resident to use these
24 Q. The bottom of that -- and, again, it |24 ATMs, right?
25 locks like the printing just cut it off, but 25 A, You do not -- it's not a requirement
Page 63 Page 65
1 there's one listed or described as Sugar Land. 1 to be a Texas resident to use these ATMs.
2 Do you see that? 2 Q. But these ATMs are physically
3 A, I see the word "Sugar Land" on the 3 located in Texas, correct?
4 plece of paper that you're showing me. 4 A, These ATMs are located in the state
5 Q. All right. The next page there's 5 of Texas,
6 one listed as Nancy's Liquor Express in Fort 6 Q. And to use them, vou would have to
7 Worth, right? 7 physically be in the state of Texas, correct?
8 a. I see the words "Nancy's Tiquor 8 A, To use an ATM, you have to be
9 Express,™ and the address appears to be in Fort 9  physically present in the state of Texas —- to use
10 Worth, 10 one of these ATMs —
11 Q. The last one listed is in Kemah, 11 Q. Right.,
12 Firehouse Vapors in Kemsh, Texas, right? 12 A, -- you have to be physically present
13 A. That does appear to be the last one 13 at the ATM,
14- in vour list: 14 Q. By the way, back on —- whils we're
15 Q. Do these locations reflect Bitcoin 15 talking about the website, can somebody
16 ATMs in Texas that are owned by Inc.? 16 communicate with Inc. through the website?
17 A, I believe g0, yes. 7 A, I'm unclear what you mean by
18 Q. Are there any others, to your 18  communicate through the website.
19 knowledge? 19 Q. Well, is there any way to interact
20 A. No. 20 with Inc, through the website?
21 MR, FOWLER: And, Kelly, I'm 21 A. I'm not sure,
22 assuming you mean in Texas? 22 Q. Ckay. Do you know if somebody can
23 MR. STEWART: Yes, TYes. 23 send a message to Inc. or make an inquiry to Inc.
24 BY MR, STEWART; 24 through the website?
25 0. And those ATMs -- those Bitcoin ATMs | 25 A. I'm not sure,
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1 Q. Do you know if somebody can transact 1 Q. Does Inc, do any other work in Texas
2 business with Inc. through the website? 2 other than anything related to the Bitcoin ATMs?
3 A. No, I den't believe that you can 3 a. No.
4  transact any business through the website, 4 Q. You would agree with me that Inc.
5 MR, STEWART: Let's take a 5 has a registered agent in Texas?
3 five-minute break. Is that okay? I need 6 A. I believe at the current time Athena
7 to run down the hall. 7 Bitcoln, Inc., has a registered agent in Texas.
8 MR. FOWLER: 8Sure, 8 Q. And you agree with me it’s
9 MR, STEWART: Can we go off the 3  registered to do business in Texas, Inc.?
10 record? 10 A. I believe it 1s also registered to
11 THE REPORTER: We're off, 1l do business in Texas.
12 (Recess from 10:34 a.m. to 12 ¢. I've put back on the screen
13 10:46 a.m.) 13 Exhibit 4. T believe I marked it 4. It's hard to
14 THE REPORTER: Go ghead. 14 see on line, at least from my view, Let me blow
15  BY MR. STEWART: 15 it up or try tc blow it up.
16 Q. Mr. Gravengaard, I asked you about 16 Anyway, and these are the Texas
17  contractors that Inc., may have had that work in 17 Franchise Tax Public Information Reports,
18  Texas, and I just want to make sure I didn't ask 18  Mr. Gravengaard, and these were all, as we walk
19 you -- I used the right term. ILet me ask you that |19 through, for Athena Bitcoin -- Athena Bitcoin,
20 gquestion again. 20  Inc,, some with a comme and scme without.
21 Does Inc. have any contractors or 21 Do you recall that?
22  subcontractors or entities that have —- that are 22 A, I do recall our conversation
23 nonemployees that work in Texas? 23 earlier.
24 A, Not to my knowledge. 24 Q. All right. And on Section B —-
25 Q. And of the five Inc. employees that 25 let's just look at the first page, It says to
Page 67 Page 69
1 - you listed eariler that you remember, do any of 1 enter information for each corporation, et cetera,
-2 those also work for Global? 2  in which this entity owns & 10 percent interest or
3 A, Mo, I don't believe they do. 3 more.
4 Q. Do you know if Global and Inc. have 4 Do you see that?
5 any common employees? 5 A, I do see a section labeled B,
6 A. At the present time I don't believe 6 Q. And on the first page of Exhibit 4
T they do. 7 is blank, right?
8 Q. Do you know if they have in the 8 A. Is blank on the firvst page of
9 past? 9 Exhibit 4.
10 A. Rick Suri, who was formerly the CFO, 10 Q. And under that Section B, there's a
11 may have been an employee of both -- I'm not 11 Section C that says: Enter information for each
12 entirely sure -- if I remember. 12 corporatiecn, et cetera, that owns an interest of
13 Q. Did you say CEO or CFO? 13 10 percent or more in this entity.
14 A. Chief financial officer. 14 And that's blank, right?
15 Q. CFO, All right. Any others other 15 A. It is alsc blank under the first
16  than Mr, Suri? 16 page.
17 A. No. 17 0. This first page is 2018, Were
18 Q. Did Jeremy Bremner work en the Chivo (18 those -- was there any entity in 2018 that owned
12 Wallet project? 19 10 percent or more of Inc.?
20 A, Yes. 20 A, I don't believe that there was a
21 Q. Does Inc. own any other property in 21 corporation, LIC, LP, or -- I'm not sure exactly
22  Texas other than the Bitcoin ATMs? 22 what LP or PA stands for -- that owned more than
23 A, No. 23 10 percent in the 2018 vear,
24 Q. Doss Global? 24 Q. Limited partnership or professional
25 A. No. 25 agsoclation?
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1 A. Yeah, I don't believe that there 1 than 10 percent of Inc., right?
2 were any such entities, 2 A. That is correct.
3 Q. All right. Back cn Section B, was 3 Q. aAnd did any -~ did Inc. own
4 there -- did Inc. own any of those entities —- own | 4 10 percent or more of those listed entities in
5 10 percent or more of any of those entities in 5 20212
6 20182 6 A, The foreign subsidiaries, which
7 A. It might have, 7T again I do not know if they would or would not
8 Q. The next page is 2019. Do you see 8 qualify under the list of entities provided in
8 the same two sections on page 27 8 Section B, I'm unfamiliar with this form and the
10 A. Yes, 10 guidance on how to fill cut Section B.
11 Q. - And those are also blank, right? 1 Q. Ckay, Did you sign any of these
12 A, They are also blank. 12 forms?
13 Q. And did any entity own 10 percent or |13 A, It appears that I signed the first
14  more of Inc. in 2019% 14  one —-
15 A. I don't believe it did. 15 Q. All right.
16 Q. Did Inc. own 10 percent or more of lg A. ~= where my name 18 listed under
17 any of those listed -- of any of those kinds of 17 sign here,
18 listed entities in 20197 18 Q. and that's the 2018 form?
19 A, It would have had foreign 19 A, That's correct.
20 subsidiaries that are not listed in Section B. 20 Q. And then the 2019, 2020, and 2021
21 Q. On page 3, 3 is the 2020 report. 21 forms have the title CEO but don't have your name
22 Those twe sections are likewise blank again, 22 listed, right?
23 correct? 23 A, That is correct. They do not have
24 A, Yes. 24 anything listed in the sign here box.
25 Q. In 2020 did any entity own 25 Q. Were you the CEC of Inc. in '19,
Page 71 Page 73
1 10 percent or more of Inc.? 1 '20, and '217
2 A. Yes. 2 A, I was the CEO of Inc. for the '19
3 2 And that was Global, correct? 3 year, but I don't believe we had a CEO in the '20
4 A. Athena Bitcoin Global, correct. 4  and '21 years.
5 Q. And it's not listed there, right? 5 Q. Did Inc. obtain revenue related to
6 A, It is not listed there, 6 the Bitcoin ATMs in Texas?
7 Q. In 2020 did Inc. own 10 percent or 7 MR, FOWLER: Objection, form,
8 more of any of those types of entities listed? 8 BY MR, STEWART:
9 A, It would have had foreign 9 Q. You can answer,
10 corporations. I'm not sure that those are within | 10 A. I believe that the ATMs in Texas
11 the scope of the listed entities or the types of 11 produced revenue.
12 entities that are being asked in Section B of this | 12 Q. And that revenue was cbtained by
13 form, 13 Ine,, correct?
14 Q. And that's blank on 2020, correct? 14 A, Yeg,
15 A, The section is blank on the form 15 Q. Let's talk, Mr. Gravengaard, about
16 listed with report year 2020. le  Accruvia's work for what we believe is Inc. and
1i Q. And on 2021, the fourth and final 17 which your attorneys have said is really Glabal,
18 page —— and, for the record, my Exhibit 4 is 18  but the work that forms the basls of this lawsuit.
19 Athena 6, 7, 9, and 14, 19 Iet's jump to that and talk about that.
20 My question on the fourth page, 20 I'm going to show you —- let me call
21 Mr. Gravengaard, is on Sections B and C. Those 21 it up just a second -~ an invoice — a couple
22 are blank there too, correct? 22 involces. Let me get this on here. I beliecve I'm
23 A, They are blank on the fourth page of |23 at Fxhibit 8. Well, I'm marking as Exhibit 8 an
24 your exhibit, 24 involce that is dated October 4, 2021. Again, T
25 Q. And as of 2021, Global owned more 25 had to hit refresh to get it to show up, Let mo
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1 know, please, when you can see it. 1 coordination with you; is that right?
2 A, I can see a document that's marked 2 A, Some of it was in coordination with
3 Invoice, 3 me.
4 Q. All right, And T marked that as 4 Q. I've marked as Exhibit 9 an invoice
5 Exhibit 8 at the bottom. 5 for $8,428.34,
& This is an involce that says Bill To 6 Can you tell me when that shows up
7 1332 North Halsted Street. 7 on your screen?
8 Do you see that? 8 A. I see an invoice marked as
9 A, I see where it is marked Bill to 3 Exhibit 9.
10 1332 North Halsted Street, 10 Q. All right. And is that -- would vou
11 Q. That's the address, the physical 11 agree with me that nc Athena entity has paid for
12 address, for both Inc. and Global, right? 12 that invelce -~ or paid the nurber —- the amount
13 A. That is the address for Athena 13 in that invoice?
14  Bitcuin Global and Athena Bitcoin, Inc. 14 A. T do not believe an Athena entity
15 Q. All right. And this invoice -- the 153 has paid this invoice.
16 amounts on this involce which total 11,686.69 16 Q. Do you see toward the bottom it says
17 were, in fact, paid by an Athena entity, correct? |17 programming hours for Bailey Jarrell?
18 A, They were paid. 18 Do you see that?
19 Q. All right, And the —- this has 18 A, I see vhere it's marked Bailey
20 got —- what was your understanding of what type of | 20 Jarrell.
21  work shaun Overton was doing perscnally that shows | 21 0. Ckay. Do you know what Bailey
22 up in this invoice? 22 Jarrell was doing?
23 A, T believe that he was overseeing the |23 And this would have been at the
24 development of Athena Bitcoin Global's product, 24 bottom left-hand corner. It says Invoice for
25 intellectual property, including the -— 25  labor November 1 through 3 of 2021,
Page 75 Page 77
1 specifically the software used by the government 1 A, I was not familiar with what
2 . of El Salvador for their Chive Wallat, 2 Ms, Jarrell's work was during the time pericd of
3 Q. S0 he was doing work related to 3  November 1 through 3rd of 2021,
4 Chivc Wallet for an Athena entity, correct? 4 Q. Do you know one way or the other
5 A, He was doing work for Athena Bitcoin 5 whether she was doing marketing work for an Athena
6 Global for the Chivo Wallet. 6 entity?
7 Q. And that was —- he was doing that in 7 A. I don't know one way or the other if
8 conjunction with you, right? 8  she was doing marketing work for Athena Bitcoin
9 A, I don't understand what you mean by 9 Global during that time period.
10 "in comjunction.™ 10 Q. Do you know 1f she was doing
11 Q. All right. Well, were you working 11 marketing work for Inc.?
12 with Shaun on his work for Chivo Wallet? 12 A, She was definitely not doing
13 A, I was working with Shaun, ves. 13 marketing work for Athena Bitcoin, Inc, There
14 [oR And you knew what Shaun was doing 14 would be no purpose for that,
15  for the work on Chivo Wallet, correct? 15 Q. Do you know who she was taking
16 A, At some points I knew what he was 16 directicn from for the marketing work?
17 working on, and at other points I'm sure T did not {17 A, I don't.
18 know what he was working on. 18 Q. Ckay. But you know she's doing work
19 Q. The other progremming hours listed 19 for Global, but ycu don't know who she was working
20 here with Franklin Grassals and the other people 20 for?
21  listed, those folks were doing work for Chivo 21 A, Actually, I don't know that she was
22 Wallet, correct? 22 doing work for Global. I see that -- I see that
23 A, T believe that they were doing work 23  there is a bill for her time, but I'm unfamiliar
24 for Chivo Wallet, yes. 24 with what werk she was deing. But she definitely
25 . And that was being done certainly in |25 was -- there's no reason for her to have been
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1 doing work for Inc, There's nothing that Inc. 1 of what work Ms. Jarrell was doing that's

2 was - 2 reflected in this invoice?

3 Q. Even though Inc. is described in 3 A. Mo, I do not.

4 your SFC filing as the operating entity, Our 4 Q. And then Shaun Overton and the other
5 domestic operations are conducted by Athena 5 vpeople listed, Lance Moore on down, were they

& Bitcoln, Inc., there's no reasen for her to have 6 doing werk for Chivo Wallet that's reflected in

7 done any marketing for Inc. is your testimony? 7 this invoice?

8 A, Right. Because, I mean, I don't 8 A. They were doing work for Athena

8 know what she was doing during that time period. 9 Bitcoin Global to further its intellectual

10 I'm secing that she was billed to us, so I assune |10  property that was being used by Chivo as part of
11 that she was doing work during that time period. 11 the Chivo Wallet product, ves.

12 But whether that work was directed towards the 12 MR. STEWART: Object to the

13 marketing efforts of Athena Bitcoln -- or Athena 13 nonresponsive portion of that questicn

14 Holdings of El Salvador or Athena Bitcoin Glabal, 14 [sic].

15 I'm nct sure, 15 BY MR, STEWART:

le Q. 80 you have no personal knowledge of | 16 Q. My question is, was there work being
17  what work Ms. Jarrell was doing that's reflected 17 done for Chivo Wallet?

18 in this inveice? 18 MR. FOWLER: Cbjection, form.

19 A, That's —- that is correct. I have 19 A. I'm not sure how vou can work for
20  no knowledge of what work she was doing during 20 Chivo Wallet,

21 that time pericd. Zl  BY MR. STEWART:

22 Q. For the same time period, you do 22 Q. Was their work being used for the

23 know what Shaun Overton was doing, correct? 23 Chivo Wallet project?

24 A. Yes, : 24 A, Their work was being used by Athena
25 . And the other programmers listed, 25  Bitcoin Global in -- to enhance the intellectual

Page 79 Page 81

1 Lance Moore on down, you know they were all 1 property that Athena Bitcoin Global had licensed
2 working on Chivo Wallet, correct? 2 and contracted to the government of El Salvador.
3 A, They were all working on the Athena 3 MR, STEWART: Object to the

4 Bitcoin Global product, which was going by the 4 nenresponsiveness,

5 street name of Chivo Wallet, yes. 5 BY MR. STEWART:

6 Q. Okay. And -~ but the work was done 6 Q. Mr, Gravengaard, I understand you're
7 for Chive Wallet, both Shaun Overten and the other | 7  trying to insert the word "Global in every one of
8  programmers, right? 8 your answers, put my question is not that

g A, Yes. 9  detailed,

10 Q. I've put on the screen a $75,250.57 10 It's was the work that's reflected
11 invoice, and I've marked it as Exhibit 9. 11 in Bxhibit 9 -- other than Ms. Jarrell which you
12 Can you ses an invoice marked 12 said you don't have personal knowledge about, was
13 Exhibit 97 13 the cther work related to the Chivoe Wallet

14 A, I see an exhibit marked Exhibit 9, 14  project?

15 Q. Ckay. I apologize for the 15 I'm not asking you who it was for,
16 awkwardness sbout asking yeu if you see something, |16 just was the work related to —-—

17 but, nonetheless, vou'll have to do it. 17 A, Was it related, ves.

18 On this it has a Bailey Jarrell, 18 Q. And, likewise, back on the prior

13 like fourth from the bottom, Bailey Jarrell listed | 18  exhibit, was the work, other than Ms. Jarrell,
20  with a cost, and this at the bottom left-hand 20 related to the Chivo Wallst project?

21  corner, it says Inwoice for labor October 1 21 A. It was related.
22 through the 3lst. 22 Q. And, again, both the $8,400 invoice
23 Do you see that? 23 we looked at -- and I might have labeled these the
24 B, T do see that, 24 same number - and the $7,500 invoice -- §75,000
25 Q. Do you have any personal knowledge 25 involce we've got on the screen, no Athena entity
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1 has pald for those invoices —- has paid those 1  approached by any Athena entity to work for them
2 invoices, correct? 2 in any sort of manner, whether it be an employee
3 A. I believe that 1s correct. 3 or a contractor or a subcontractor?

4 ¢. And why is that? 4 A, I think we made a blanket statement
5 R, They have not been paid. 5 to everyone that if they wanted to continue

6 Q. Why have they nct been paid? 6 working on the Chivo Wallet project that we would
7 A. We believe that Mr. Overton has 7 be open to having a discussion with them.

8 interfered with our ability to continue working in | 8 Q. And Mr, Panos is the only one, to

9 El Salvador, and we have a commercial dispute with | 9 your knowledge, that has said yes?
10 him as to his behavior in El Salvader immediately |10 A, Yes.
11  subsequent to submitting these invoices. 11 Q. Are you paying him the same or
12 Q. Do you have any contracts with 12 equivalent to what he was getting paid for by
13 either Mr, Overton or Accruvia that says you have |13  Becruvia?

14 the right to offset against these invoices for any | 14 A, I believe that we were,

15 sort of commercial dispute that you just 15 Q. And the blanket statement or offer
16  described? 16  to all the others, was that the same or equivalent
11 A, I don’t believe that we have a 17 to what Accruvia was paying them?

18 contractual -- a contract that has such terms, 18 A, T believe that was what we
19 Q. But so the reason these two invoices |18  commnicated. I don't remember specifically.
20 have not bsen paid is because whatever Athena 20 Q. Do you know when those offers were
21  entity believes that Mr. Overten has taken some 21 made?

22 bad acticns that impacted -- negatively impacted 22 a. The early part of November of 2021.
23 Athena in El Salvador? 23 Q. When did you first believe

24 A, Yeah., We specifically believe 24 Mr, Overton did something untoward toward any of
25 they're illegal under El Salvador law. 25  the Athena entities?

Page 83 Page 85

1 Q. The invoices? 1 A, When the government of El Salvador

2 A. No, I'm sorry, his actions. 2 called us and explained to us his actions,

3 . 211 right. BAny other reascn why 3 Q. When was that?

4 these invcices were not pald? 1 A, Again, in the first week of November
5 A, No. b of 2021,

6 Q. Did Inc. attempt to either hire any 6 Q. Is that before or after you made

7 of these folks listed on these invoices or obtain 7 offers to all of these folks?

8 their services as a subcontractor or a contractor? | 8 A. I don't remember,

9 A. Athena Bitcoin Global and/or Athena 9 Q. Who at the government ~- from the
10 Bitcoin -- Athena Holdings of El Salvador has 10 government of El Salvador called any Athena entity
11  contracted with one or more of these people listed |11  about Mr. Overton?
12 on this inveice. 12 A, I don't remember exactly who called
13 Q. Do you know who either of those two 13 us to alert us that Mr. Overton had spoken to

14  entities has contracted with? 14 them.

15 A, I'm sorry. Can you repeat your 15 Q. And when you say "us,” who is the

16  question? 16 "us"?

17 Q. Yeah. 17 A. Either Matias Goldenh&rn or myself.
18 Do you know who from these two 18 Q. Do you remember perscnally any
18 invoices any Athena entity has contracted with? 13 communications from the government of El Salvador
20 A, Yeah., 8o let’s ses, Panos, who I 20 about these so-called untoward actions by
21 don't see on your Exhibit 9, has contracted with 2% Mr. Overton?

22 Athena Heldings of El Salvador. 2And I believe 22 A. T remember & meeting that I was

23 Ms. Jarrell, who we previcusly discussed, accepted | 23 called to where I was present and Sara Hamna of
24 & position with Athena Bitcoin, Inc. 24 the government of El Salvador were present.

25 Q. Have any of the others been 25 Q. Do you know when that was?
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1 A, Again, it was the first week of 1 whether the bugs were fixed. I'm asking you
2 November 2021. 2 whether it would be a truthful statement to tell
3 Q. What did they tell you about 3 the government of El Salvador that there were bugs
4  Mr. Overton or Accruvia? 4 or there had bsen bugs in the Chivo Wallet
5 A. They said that Mr. Overton had come 5 software,
& to them and sald that he knew all of the problems 6 MR. FOWLER: Objection, form,
7 that Athena had and that he had spent the previous | 7 compound.,
8 month figuring out what those problems were and 8 A. Yeah,
9 that only be could solve all of their problems if 9 BY MR, STEWART:
10 he paid them -- if the government of El Salvador 10 Q. Are yob answering my question?
11 paid him to fix those problems, 11 A, I think I answered your question,
12z Q. Did they tell you anything else? 12 Counseler. There were bugs.
13 A, Not that I remember. 13 Q. And that is my question. Would
14 Q. Was Athena having any problems with 14 telling the government of El Salvador that there
15 the Chivo Wallst project? 15 were bugs in that software be accurate?
16 A. I don't understand your question. 16 MR. FOWLER: Cbjecticn, form.
17 Can you be more specific? 17 A, Again, were they bugs that were
18 Q. Well, you said that the government 18 unsolved or were they sclved bugs?
19 of El Salvador said that Mr. Overton had told them |19 BY MR. STEWART:
20 that there were problems with the project. That 20 Q. I didn't ask that.
2l was the -- the Chivo Wallet project, correct? 21 A. Well, I'm asking you to clarify
22 A, That's correct. It was the Chivo 22 because I'm not sure how to answer your cuestion
23 Wallet project that I was referring to when I said | 23  without knowing that.
24 there were problems. 24 o Mr. Gravengaard, you just told me -—-
25 Q. Did Athena have any problems with 25  you just agreed that there were bugs in the
Page 87 Page 89
1 the Chivo Wallet project? 1 software, one, right? And you did say they were
2 A. There wers several bugs that came to 2 fixed, two.
3 light between the launch in September and that 3 A. I did say they were —— there were
4 first week of November. 4 fized bugs.
5 o S0 would telling the govermment of 5 0. But there were bugs at least at some
€ El Salvador that there were bugs, would that -- in | & point, correct?
7 the Chivo Wallet software, that would be accurats, 7 A. At some point there were bugs.
8  correct? 8 . Okay. So it's a truthful statement
9 A, At the time I'm not sure if there 9  to tell the government of El Szlvador that there
10 were outstanding bugs or not, 10 were at some polnt bugs in the software?
11 Q. But there were bugs. You just said 11 MR, FOWLER: Cbjection, form.
12  that, right? There were bugs. 12 Kelly, this is way beyond the
13 A, There were bugs that —- 13 scope of the deposition. The deposition
14 Q. 30 -- 14 relates to, as you know, jurisdiction.
15 {5im:ltaneous/overlapping 15 This is outside the scope of
16 indiscernible voices.) 16 jurisdiction,
17 A, -- come to light that were fixed, 1 |17 MR. STEWART: Well, you went
18  don't know if there were any cutstanding issues - |18 outside the scope of jurisdicticn
19 BY MR. STEWART: 19 yesterday. I don't think so. It goes to
20 Q. Okay. 20 the work, and it all relates to which
21 A. -- at the time of that meeting, 21 entlty the Chive Wallet software was done
22 MR, STEWART: Object to the 22 for.
23 responsiveness. 23 So I think I'm going to move on,
24 BY MR, STEWART: 24 nenetheless, even though I don't agree
25 Q. Mr. Gravengaard, I'm not asking you 25 that it was cutside the scope, but T will
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1 move on. 1 MR, STEWART: Is the last one 10

2 BY MR. STEWART: 2 or 117

3 Q Let's go back to these invoices and 3 BY MR. STEWART:

4 let's talk about how they got pald or how at least | 4 Q. I'm trying to mark this next one 11,

5 the first one got pald, Let me call up a 5 You see a document that's a pretty dark document,

&  document. & Can you ses that?

7 MR, STEWART: I don't know if the 7 A. I see what appears to be an e-mail

8 court reporter is keeping track., I think § directed at me through my athena.sv e-mail

9 I might have marked the last two exhibits 9  address.

10 9. 10 Q, Okay. And is this ~- at the bottom
11 (Clarification requested by the 11 this says it's -- it says: Fric, please advise on
12 stenocgrapher. ) 12 the timing of payments on the invoices, Shaun.
13 MR. STEWART: Let's call one 92 13 Do you see that?

14 and one $B. We can fix that after the 14 A, I do see that.

15 depo. I'm going to mark this then 10, 15 Q. This looks like it was sent

16 BY MR. STEWART: 16 Novermber 5 of 2021,

17 Q. Do you see a document on your 17 A. I don't know if it was sent or

18  screen? 18  received, but T do see that the date on this piece
19 A. I see a document on my screen, 19 of paper or whatever is November 5 of 2021,

20 Q. Okay. Do you know how the cne 20 Q. A1l right, Aand it was sent to

2l involice for 8,000 —- or the §8,400 invoice was 21 Noreen Pepino at noreen@athenebitcoin.com, right,
22 paid, mechanically? 22 one of the recipients?

23 What -- was it a check? Was it 23 A. She is one of the recipients,

24  bill.com? Do you know? 24 Q. Your e-mail on this is

25 A. I believe that it was paid through 25 ericRathena.sv, right?

Page 91 Page 93

1 bill.com. 1 , Yes.

2 Q. <A1l right. And do you understand 2 Q. That's not Glehal's e-mail address,

3 that Mr, Overton would submit his invoices to 3 is it? )

4 Noreen Pepino for payment? 4 A. It's one of - az I testified

5 A, I believe that he was supposed to 5 earlier, it is one of the domains that is owned

6 submit them to our billing system that globally 6 glckally by Athena Bitcoin Global.

7 handles all of our payables. 7 Q. All right. But it doesn't say on —-

8 Q. All right., And do you see -- I 8 athena.sv doesn't say Inc. cr Global? Doesn't say

9 don't know that you've ever seen what T marked as 9 either, right?

10 Exhibit 10, which is Accruvia 4 and 5. 10 A. It appears to say athena.sv.

11 Have you seen this before? 11 Q. S0 is the answer to my questicn,

12 A, I have never seen your Exhibit 10 12 yes, it doesn't say either?

13 before. 13 B, I'm sorry, What was your question?
14 Q. All right. Do you see that it ~- it |14 Does it say the word "Global"?

15 looks like it's an e-mail at the top to 15 Q. Or Inc.

16 soverton@roidevs.com? 18 A, It does not say the word "Global or
17 Do you see that? 17 MInc.”

18 A. I see it appears to be an e-mail to 18 [oR It"s not hard.

19  the e-mail address vou just referenced. 19 I marked as Exhibit 12 a e-mail that
20 Q. Ckay, Tt does say: Track your 20  has on the front October 4, 2021, to Noreen

21  payment from Athena Bitcein Inc. 21 Pepino.

22 Would you agree with me that's what 22 Do you see that?

23 this document says? 23 A, I do.

24 A. T agree with you the document says 24 Q. Locks like it was cc'd to you?

25  that. 25 a. It does appear to have my name on
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1 the cc list of this printout of an e-mail. 1 %11,000 invoice from Accruvia that was actually

2 Q. And the subject 1s Accruvia Labor 2 paid?

3 Inveice, right? 3 A, I believe Athena Bitcoin, Inc., paid

4 A, That is what is written next to the 4 it on behalf of Athena Bitcoin Glchal.

5 word "Subject.” 5 Q. Does Inc. have a bank account at

6 0. And it's coming from 6 Citizen's National Bank?

7 quickbooks@notification.intuit.com. It's got the 1 A. Yes,

8 word "Accruvia" in front of it, right? 8 Q. Does Global have an account there

9 A, I'm sorry. Can you repeat your 9 teoo?

10 question? 10 A, It does now.

11 Q. What does the "From" line say? 11 Q. Did it?

12 A. The "From" line says "Accruvia,” and | 12 A, It did not previously.

13 then in angled brackets it reads 13 Q. Okay. I've marked Exhibit 14. Do

14 "quickbooks@notificaticn,intuit.com.” 14 you know if this is -~ or can you tell whether

15 Q. All right. Do you recall receiving 15  this is a report from Citizen's National Bank?

16  this e-mail? 16 A, I don't see an Exhibit 14, sir.

17 A. 1 don't recall recelving this 17 Q. Can you refresh, please,

18 e-mail, 18 A. There's nothing to refresh, sir.

19 Q. All right. Next page is & 19 Q. You know what, sorry, I need to

20 November -- let me just -- I'll skip this 20  share it with you first. I hit the wrong button,

21 document. Go back to ancther one. 21 All right. And I can't tell — let me blow it up,

22 All right, I marked Exhibit 13. 22 That probably is part of my problem. HNeed to —- I

|23 Can you see a document on your screen? 23 marked this as Exhibit 14.

24 A, I see an Exhibit 13 on my screen. 24 Can you see Exhibit 14 now?

25 Q. Have you seen this at all before? 25 A, I see a document marked Exhibit 14.
Page 956 Page 97

1 A, I have not seen this before. 1 Q. A11 right. Can you tell in the

2 Q. Nonetheless, do vou recognize it as 2 middle that -- the first page that this has a ——

3 text from bill.com? 3 it says it's paid from Citizen's National Bank

4 A, I do not recognize it as text from 4 with a partial bank account number?

5 bill.com. 5 A. I see that it says it is paid from

6 Q. Okay. Do you see that in the 6 Citizen's National Bank, and there is a partial

-7 third -~ the third section that says 10/12/21, it 7 account number.

8 says "Athena Bitcoin I Bill.com"? Do you see 8 Q. And do you see the process date of

9  that? 8 Qctober 10, 20217

10 A. I am not sure what it says, but it 10 A. Yes, I see the process date.

11 does say "Athena Bitcoin” and then there's a 11 Q. As of Octoher of 2021, Inc. was the

12 vertical line and then it says "Bill,com." 12 only Athena entity that had an account at

13 Q. Ckay. 8¢ you don't think that 13 Citizen's Maticnal Bank, correct?

14 wvertical line is an I. You think it's a vertical | 14 A, I believe that is corrvect.

15 line? 15 MR. FOWLER: Kelly, you said it

16 A I don't know. 16 shows a process date of October 10, Mm I

i Q. You don't know, do you? 17 looking at the wrong docuiment?

18 A, I don't. 18 MR. STEWART: October —- I

19 Q. Ckay, And you don't know what 19 misspoke then. October 12, 2021.

20 Dbill.com was comunicating to Accruvia or to 20 MR. FOWLER: Okay. Okay.

21 Ms. Pepino sbout the payment or nonpayment of 21 BY MR. STEWART:

22 Accruvia's invoices, do you? 22 Q. Tell me when you can see what T

23 A. No, I couldn’t know what bill.com 23 marked as Exhibit 15,

24 was communicating with Ms. Pepino or Mr. Overton. |24 A. I see your Exhibit 15.

25 0. Who paid —— which entity paid the 25 0. A1 right, Have you seen Exhibit 15

@PS:
N -
o GPS LLC

GOUCHER PALKER SpEvLy

gpscalendar@gps.llc ~214.347.4781




Case 4:22-cv-00073-O Document 15 Filed 10/04/22 Page 83 of 108 PagelD 174

Athena Bitcoin, Inc. (Eric Gravengaard)
August 17, 2022

Page 98 Page 100
1  before? 1 actwally, page 9 of ~- the last page, on your
2 A, Ne, I have not. 2 signature page, the last page, page 10 of 10. Are
3 Q. All right. Do you know -~ and I 3 you there?
4 guess I think you've answered this question, but 1 a. Yes.
5 if it's from -- it's an e-mail from bill.com to 5 Q. And I want to read you -- this is
6 Shaun Overton, 6 MNumber 1% at the top of the page is asking for
7 Do you see where that says that on 7  roquest for admission from Inc. that Athena paid
§ the top on the first page? 8  Accruvia for work Accruvia performed.
9 A. I see where that's indicated on the 9 And there's scme legal objections,
10 first page. 10  but the last sentence says specifically: Athena
11 Q. It says in the middie Track your 11 denies it paid Accruvia for work Accruvia
12 payment fram Athena Bitcoin Inc, 12  performed for Athena,
13 Do you see that? 13 Did you not just tell me that Inc.
14 A, I see that. 14 paid Accruvia for the work?
15 Q. Likewise, let me know, please, when 15 A, There appears to be two parts to the
16  you can ses my Exhibit 16. 16 sentence you just wrote.
17 a. I see your Exhibit 16, 17 Q. Yeah,
18 Q. All right. And this again at the 18 A. Specifically —-- I believe to quote
18 top =~ or let me just ask you this: Have you seen | 1%  this document, it says: Specifically, Athena
20 Esxhibit 16 before? 20 denies that it paid Accruvia for work Accruvia
21 A, I have not seen Exhibit 16 bhefore. 21 performed for Athena.
22 0. Do you see, though, nonetheless, at 22 Q. And so the reason that's denied is
23  the top it appears to be an e-mail from bill.com 23  because of the phrase "performed for Athena"?
24 to Shaun Overton? 24 A. That's correct.
25 A. It appears to be an e-mail from 25 Q. A1l right, BAnd it's Athena's --
Page 99 Page 101
1 bill.com to Mr. Overton. 1 it's Inc.'s position in this lawsuit that none of
2 Q. It says: Bi Accruvia, You've 2 the work that Accruvia did was for Inc. It was
3 | received money in your bank account from Athena 3  either for Global or one of the -- or the
4 Bitcoin for these invoices, 4 Bl Salvador subsidiary?
5 Do you see that? 5 A. That's correct. And, further,
6 A, I see that, & Athena Bitcoin Global did not at the tims have a
7 Q. All right, That's on page 1. It 7 bank account and couldn't make payments. So
§ also says the same thing on page 2. §  Athena Bitcoin Global used its consolidated
9 Do you ses that? 9  balance sheet and requested Athena Bitcoin, Inc.,
10 A. I see that on page 2. 10 make the payment on its behalf and, as you've
11 Q. Please tell me when you can sce my 11 already shown, Mr. Overton was comminicating with
12 Exhibit 17. 12 me on an athena.sv e-mail address, which the sv
13 A, I see your Exhibit 17. 13 country code is E1 Salvador,
14 Q. And do you see on the front that 14 MR, STEWART: Okay. I'll object
16  this says Defendant's Supplemental Responsss to 15 to the nonresponsive portion of that
16 Plaintiff's First Set of Personal Jurisdiction 16 guestion (sic].
17 Discovery? 17 BY MR, STEWART:
18 A. I see where it says the woxds you 18 Q. While we're on this page, to save
19 just spoke. 1% from coming back to it, the next request for
20 Q. Have you seen this document before? 20  admission, M. Overton, is Wumber 20 that asks for
21 And you may want to page through it, just . . . 21  admission or denial on Accruvia performed work in
22 A. I believe I've seen this document 22 Texas -- you know what, I now see the problem with
23  before, My signature appears -- appears on 23 that, I should have said Accruvia performed work
24 page 10. 24  in Texas for Athena.
25 Q. If you could turn to page 10 —- 25 If Athena -- if that request were
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1 stated, it says: Accruvia performed work in Texas | 1 Bitcoin Global, entered inte a term sheet with

2 for Athena, would you agree with it or disagree 2 Mr. Overton that we looked at, I beliave, as

3 with it? 3 Ezhibit 3, and that was to discuss or continue the

4 MR. FOWLER: Cbjection, form. 4 process of possibly buying his company and

5 BY MR. STFWART: 5 Mr. Overton working for -- working for Global,

6 Q. Well, let me just ask it this way: § correct?

7 Did Athena -- excuse me. 7 A. Yes,

8 Did Accruvia do work while in Texas 8 Q. And yvet you didn't know where he

9 for any Athena entity? 9 lived at the time you entered into that temm

10 A, I don't know, 10 sheet?

11 Q. Do you know where Mr, Overton lives? |11 A. Is there an address for Accruvia on
12 What state? 1Z  that temm sheet? I'm —

13 A, T believe that he works in Texas 13 Q. I didn't ask you whether there's an
14 because you've mentioned that, but I've never been | 14 address.

15  to his home. T don't know anything about where he | 15 A, I'm trying to remember. If there

16  lives. 16  wag an address on that term sheet, then I would
17 C. Did he ever tell you that he lived 17 have known at the time.

18  in Texas? 18 Q. That's not my question,

19 A, He may have. 18 Mr. Gravengaard. My question is: Did you know at
20 Q. In fact, did you not encourage him 20 the time where Mr. Overton lived?

2l to fly home to Texas at one point during the 21 A. I think I did, but, again, I

22 middle of this work? 22 don't . ..

23 A, I believe that I did not encourzage 23 Q. Would you have offered somebody a

24 him to fly home. I believe that he did come to me | 24 job as the CTO for Global without knowing where
25 end ask that he go home to his family. 25  they live?

Page 103 Page 105

1 Q. And you knew that was in Texas, 1 A, We're in a fully remote workforce,

2 right? 2  sir, and so --

3 A. I may have at the time known it was 3 Q. So that's --

4 in Texas. 4 A. At the time we had to verify his

5 Q. You're denying you knew it was in 5 employment, you know, his eligibility for

6  Texas? & employment, we would have checked such a thing.

7 A. I don't remember where he lives. 7 2. Would you have to pay taxes on his

8 Q. Okay. Do you know where Accruvia 8  employment if he did become an employee?

& was located physically, where its home address 9 A, I believe that is the way tax law

10 was? 10 works,

11 A, I don't know if Accruvia has an 11 (Simultaneous/overlapping

12 office, I don't know. I've never visited its 12 indiscernible voices.}

13 offiges. 13 BY MR, STEWART:

14 Q. At the time in September-October of 14 Q. And you'd need to know what- state he
15 2021, did you know where Shaun Overton lived? 15 lived in or resided in, correct?

16 A, In September of 2021, I believe - I |16 A, I believe that we would at the time
17 believe that I remember he lived in Texas at that | 17 that he would have become an employes, yes.

18 time. 18 Q. And I'm just trying to nail dewn, as
19 Q. And did you know during that time 19 of the September 22, 2021, date of the tem sheet,
20 peried that Accruvia was located in Texas? 20 did you know where Mr. Overton lived?

21 A, I don't know 1f I knew that Accruvia |21 A, And I'm answering your question that
22  existed as a Texas entity or not. T was also 22 I believe that at the time I knew that he was in
23 unawars that Accruvia has any offices, 23 Texas, but, again, T don't know -— never been to
24 Q. You'd entered into a term sheet -~ 24 his house and I didn't know that there was an

25 "you" heing what you're contending is Athens 25 office for Accruvia., I only met with Mr. Overton
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1 in El Salvador, 1 when you had a phone call with him?

2 a. Thank you. 2 A, No, I do not.

3 Did you know as of September 22, 3 Q. And your phone call was not about

4 2021, where Accruvia was physically located? 4 his family. It was about the work on Chivo

5 MR. FOWLER: Objection, form, 5 Wallet?

[ asked and answered. [ A. That is probably true.

7 BY MR, STEWART: 7 Q. Did you ever have Microsoff Teams

8 Q. You can answer. 8  communications, video calls, Zoom calls, or any

9 MR, FOWLER: No, he can't answer. 9 calls with Mr. Overton while he was in Texas?

10 He's already answered the question, 10 A. There might have been cne call,

11 Kelly, twica. 11 Q. And I think I know the answer to

12 MR. STEWART: I'm not -- no., It's 12 this, but did you ever have any comminications

13 unclear. I'm not sure what he's saying. 13 with Ms, Jarrell while she was in Texas, you

14 A. I don't know, as of the 22nd of 14 personally?

15  September, if I knew where Accruvia had its 15 A, No, I don't believe I did. T don't
16 offices. 16 believe that I met Ms. Jarrell at all, really,

17  BY MR, STEWART: 17 until Janvary of '22. That's my first

18 Q. Ckay. Thank you, Now you've 18  recollection of meeting Ms, Jarrell.

19 answered it. 19 0. With respect to the work that was

20 At some point in your working 20 invoiced for -- that we've looked at tha three

21 relationship with Mr, Overten, you had discussions | 21 invoices, Mr. Gravengaard, we looked at an $11,000
22 with him about going home -- right? — for some 22 invoice that was paid and then an $8,400 and a

23 brief pericd of time? 23 $75,000 invoice that weren't paid.

24 “As I believe that we did have 24 Do you agree with me generally? I'm
25 discussions about him going home. 25 ot asking about the details, but we've looked at

Page 107 Page 109

1 o, Did you know during those 1 three invoices, one of which was paid and two of
2 discussions where he lived? 2 which weren't, right?

3 A, Broadly that he lived in Texas, I 3 A, Yes. We've looked at three

4  belleve, I believe that I knew at the time that 4 invoices,

%  he lived in Texas. 3 Q. And did -- for that work that

6 Q. Did you know that he —— 6 Accruvia contends that it did, did you ever tell
7 A, He was returning to Texas. I 7 Mr. Qwverton, You'rs doing this work for Global?

8 shouldn't say I knew that he lived there, I 8 A, Yes, I believe that's what the

3 take -- I want to amend that comment. T helieve 9 letter of intent said, that we're interested in
10 he was returning to his family, and he was going 10 having Mr. Overton and the rest of Accruvia join
11 to see them in Texas. 11 with Athena Bitcein Global and to work on the

12 Q. Okay. But you didn't know he lived 12 intellectual property that's owned by Athena

13 there. You just knew he was going to see his 13 Bitcoin Global and to help Athena Bitgoin Global
14 family in Texas? 14 to fulfill its requirements with the contract it
15 A. That's what he stated tome. I 15  has with the government of El Salvador.

le  don't know if that was true. 16 0. And when you say "letter of intent,™
17 . Did you know that Mr. Overton was 17 do you mean the term sheet?

18  doing work for you when he was at home? 18 A, I'm sorry, I meant the term sheet.
19 A. I don't know that he was doing that. 19 Q. Okay, There's not a separate letter
20 He said he needed to go see his family. 20 of intent, right?
21 Q. Okay. Did you keep in touch with 21 A, I misspoke. I was referring to the
22 him while he was seeing his family? 22 temn sheet which you marked as Exhibit —

23 A. I may have had a phone call with 23 Q. Yeah. HNot a problem. I just ~ I
24 him, 24 went to make sure I didn't overlook a document.
25 Q. Do you know where he was located 25 Now, the term sheet, as ws
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1 discussed, was an offer to Shaun Overten to —- 1 Q. Did you ever tell him the work was
2 well, it was an offer. It was — the goal of that | 2 for Athena Holdings El Salvador, S.A. de C.V.?
3 was to purchase Accruvia and to have Mr. Overton 3 A, No, because I don't think that he
4  work ag, I believe, the chief technology officer; 4 worked cn any -- anything that would have directly
5 is that right? 5 been for that entity.
6 A. I believe that was the primary geals 3 0. Was that entity -- and that's the
7 of that document, yes. 7 El Salvador entity. Was that doing any work for
8 Q. Were the -- any of the work that was 8  Chivo Wallet?
9 in the inveices listed as coming out of that term 9 A, It -- that entity has the contract
10 sheet? 10 to operate the Bitcoin ATMs in the government of
11 MR. FOWLER: Objection, form. 11 El -- I'm serry —- in the country of El Salvador,
12 A, Yeah, I don't fully understand your 12 That entity may alsc have other contracts with the
13 question. Could you repeat that? 13 govermment regarding point~of-sale systems.
14 BY MR. STEWART: 14 c. And T missed the word you said. You
15 Q. Yeah, 15 said it has a contract to operate the what kind of
16 Did the term sheet spacifically 16  ATMs?
17 address the work that is showing in the invoices? |17 A. The Chivo ATMs, the Chivo-branded
18 MR. FOWLER: Cbjection, form, 18 ATMs that we use.
19 A, The work . . . The invoices seemed 19 0. Sorry. I just couldn't hear,
20 to be for work that was done subsequent to the 20 That's the Athena Holdings
21 term sheet with the understanding that Athena 21 El Salvador, S.A. de C.V.7
22 Bitcoin Global was going to acquire Accruvia and 22 A, Right.
23 ifs relationships with ita developers and hire 23 Q. Mr. Gverton signed a nondisclosure
24 Mr. Overton, 24 agreement also with the Athena Heldings
25 /i 25 El Salvador entity, correct?
Page 111 Page 113
1 BY MR, STEWART: it A. Yes,
2 Q. Did vou ever tell Mr. Overton that 2 Q. And I'm looking at it, and I can
3 that subsequent work was for Global? 3 show it to you, but I think it says Athena
4 A, I believe I did because it's for 4 Holdings El Salvador Variable Capital Limited
5 Athena Bitcoin Global. 5 Company. That’s the -- that should be the same as
[ Q. Okay. When did you tell him that & Athena Holdings Fl Salvador, 5.A. de C.V.,
T that work was for Global? 7 correct?
8 A. I'm sure when we began our working 8 -9 Yes. T believe what you're reading
9 relationship and I showed him the source code for 9 is a translation of the abbreviation 8.A. de C.V.
10 the Chive Wallet, which is the possession -—- which | 16 0. All right. BAnd did any of the work
11 is owned by Athena Bitcoin Global. 11 that was invoiced, none of that work was for the
12 0. You say you're sure that you did. 12 S.A. de C.V. entity, correct? Ts that your
13 Do you recall a specific 13 testimeny?
14 conversation where you said, Shaun, the work 14 A. Yeah, I don't believe that it was.
15  that's going to occur post-September 22, 121, 15 Yeah, I don't believe that it was.
16  pursuant to that term sheet -- the work that's 16 Q. Has Inc. filed any lawsuits in Texas
17 going to occur after that term sheet was entared 17 before?
18 into is golng to be for Global? 18 A. I don't believe that Inc. has filed
14 Do you recall a specific 19  any lawsuits in Texas.
20 conversation -- 20 Q. Other than this lawsuit, has Inc.
21 A, I do not recall a specific 21  ever been sued in Texas?
22 conversation, 22 A, I don't believe that Inc. has ever
23 Q. Did you ever tell him the work was 23 been sued in Texas.
24 for Inc.? 24 Q. Has Global either filed or been sued
25 B. No. 25  in Texas?
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1 A. My history with Global would only go 1 A. My signature appears on page 5 of
2 back to 2020, so I can't speak about anything 2 this document.
3 Glchal may or may not have done prior to that. 3 Q. Looks like you verified evervthing.
4  But Global has not been sued in any lawsuit since 4 Okay. I'm going to ask vou about '
5 2020 in Texas. 5 Interrogatories 2 and 3, which are on page 4, I
6 Q. [dd any Athena entity pay for 6 helieve,
7 Mr, Overten's flight back to Texas when he went 7 MR, FOWLER: What are we supposed
8  home? 8 to be locking at?
9 A, I'm not sure how Mr. Overton paid 9 MR. STEWART: You mean what page
10 for his flight to return —- to go to Texas. 10 nutker?
11 Q. Do you have any personal knowledge, 11 MR, FOWLER: Yeah, please,
12 one way or the other, as to whether Inc, paid it, 12 MR. STEWART: Yeah.
13 Global paid it, Mr, Overton paid it, or anybody 13 Interrogatories 2 and 3 which should be
14 else paid it? 14 on page —- showing up on my page 4,
15 A, No, T have no —- I have no knowledge 15 MR, FOWLER: Ckay. All right.
16 of that, 16 Thanks.
17 Q. Do you know who Scphia Martinez is? 17 BY MR. STEWART:
18 A, Ms. Martinez was our executive 18 Q. Are you there, Mr. Gravengaard?
19 assistant in El Salvador. 19 A. I believe I am.
20 Q. Who was her -~ wag her employer 20 Q. Ckay. Interrcgatory 2 asks whether
21 S.A. de C.V.? 21  Athena has used in any msnner any work or services
22 A. I'm sure that it was. 22 perfomed by Accruvia, including, but not limited
23 0. She's not a Global or an Inc, 23 to, any use of such work or services in or for
24 employee -- is'she a Global or an Inc. amployes, 24 RIMs owned by Athena, and the answer is no.
25 to your knowledge? 25 Do you see that?
Page 115 Page 117
1 A, No, to my knowledge she was not. 1 A, Yes.,
2 Q. Do you know whether she arranged for 2 Q. It says: The work done by Accruvia
3  8.A. de C.V. to pay for Mr. Overton's flights? 3 was for another entity in El Salvador and the ATMs
4 A. She may have. She arranged for 4 in that country are not owned by Athena.
5 other people to travel in and out of El Salvador, 5 What is the cther entity in
6 but. I have no direct knowledge as to whether or 6 El Salvador to which you're referring?
7 not she did the travel planning for Mr. Overton. 1 A. I see what the question is. Okay.
8 Q. I quess I've got to . . . I think 8§ I assume that we're referring to - my
9 I'mon Exhibit -~ could the court reporter tell me | 9  interpretation of your interrcgatory was did
10 which exhibit I'm on, please, 10 Accruvia do work for ATMs, and my response was
11 THE REPORTER: Let me look at the 11 Accruvia did not do work for ATMs, and any ATMs
12 list real quick. I think 18 is next. 12 that are in El Salvador are owned by an entity
13 BY MR. STEWART: 13 that's not Athena.
14 a. When you can-see Exhibit 18, please 14 Q. My question is, your response to
15 let me know. 15  Number 2 says: The work done by Accruvia was for
16 A, T can see Exhibit 18. 16 another entity in El Salvador. That's the first
17 Q. That says Defendant's Responsaes to 17 part.
18  Plaintiff's First Set of Merits Discovery? 18 What entity in El Salvador was the
19 A, I see where it says that, 19 work done by Accruvia done for?
20 MR, STEWART: Larry, don't worry, 20 A. Oh, right. HNo. Athena -~ the
21 I'm geing to ask him personal 21  answer then would be incorrect. The work done by
22 jurisdiction issues, not -- 22 Accruvia was done for Athena Bitcoin Global.
23 BY MR, STEWART: 23 Q. Okay. Because I thought vou just
24 Q. In fact, you -- last page you 24 told me a minute ago -— I'm agreeing with you
25  signed, you verified the interrogatory responses? |25 because I --
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1 A, Yesh. I agree that I think this 1 but --

2  interrogatory was confusing and we're trying to 2 MR. FOWLER: Well, I'll tell you,

3 weave a lot of things together, and so I think 3 my prefersnce would be to keep going.

4 perhaps the answer is more specific, that Accruvia | 4 MR, STEWART: Okay, Let's keep
53  was working for Athena Bitcoln Glcbhal on its 5 going, and at 12:30 I'll revisit. We may
& intellectual property that Athena Bitcoin Glcbal 6 or may not be done by 12:30.

7 owns. But this nction of tha ATMs in Texas andfor | 7 MR, FOWLER: Mr. Gravengaard, are
8 wherever, those ATMs are owned by Athena Bitcoin, 8 you okay going, or do you need a lunch

8 Inc. 9 break?

10 Q. Because you had just told me earlier 10 THE WITMESS: Mo, that's fine.
11 that Accruvia did not do any work for Athena 11 MR. STEWART: Okay.
12 Holdings El Salvador, S.A, de C.V., correct? 12 MR, FOWLER: Eric, what about you?
13 A. Right. Because the work was really 13 Are you ckay to keep going?
14 on the Chivo Wallet, and that software iz owned by | 14 THE WITNESS: Yeah, we can keep
15  Athena Bitcoin Global. 15 going.
16 Q. I want to talk about Chiwvo Wallet in 16 BY MR. STEWART:
17  a second because it impacts here. 17 Q. All right. Let's talk about Chivo
18 Okay. 5o the answer to Mumber 2 is 18 Wallet in general.
19 incorrect. At least that first phrase of that 19 It's the official Biteoin platform
20  second sentence is incorrect, right? 20 of El Salvador that supports the use of Bitcoln as
21 A. Right. 21  a legal tender in that country; is that right?
22 Q. And the ATMs in that country, you're 22 A, I'm sorry, you're asking me about —
23 talking about El Salvador. Those ATMs are not 23 Q. Chivo Wallet,
24 owned by Athena, right, Inc.? 24 A, -- whether or not I know that to be
25 A, Right. 25 a fact? I believe that's a fact, but --
Page 119 Page 121

1 Q. They are owned by Athena Holdings 1 Q. Okay. And it's used in —- it's a
2 El Salvador, S.A. de C,V.? 2 software that's used, at least in part, to help
3 A, Yes, 3 connect Bitcoin ATMs in the US with Bitcoin ATMs
4 Q. Okay. And then on Interrogatory 3 4 in El Salvador, cerrect?

5  right beneath it, my client asks: Has Athena 5 A. No. I wouldn't characterize it that

& Dbenefitted from in any manner from the work or & way at all.

7 services perfommed by Accruvia, lncluding, but not | 7 [*N It doesn't help them connect?

8 limited to, et cetera. 8 A. I mean, no, not specifically.

9 And the answer is; No. The work 9 0. Ckay. Is it used — it's used for,
10 performed by Accruvia involved the cperations of a |10  at least in part, ATMs in EL Salvador, correct?
11 third party in a different country. 11 A, I'm sorry. Could you be more
12 Is that correct? 12 specific about it's used in -

13 A, The -- the work performed by 13 2., You can tell I'm not a tech
14 Recruvia was for Athena Bitcoin Global and its 14 attorney, sc that's why my questions are rough.
15  contract with the government of El Salvador in a 15  But I'm just trying to get a -- just so I can
16 different country. 16  understand it,
17 Q. All right. And that's Global's 17 A, And I'm just trying to answer
18  contract to set up the software to run Chive 18 truthfully, sir.
18 Wallet, right? 19 0. Well, I didn't say you weren't. I'm
20 A. Yes. Probably. 20 Just trying to answer [sic] intelligent questions.
21 MR. STEWART: Let's talk about — 21 It's a software that’s used to help
22 it’s noon. We can take a short lunch 22 facilitate remittances -- right? - between two
23 break. I'm not guaranteeing I have less 23 ATMs?
24 than an hour, but it could be less than 24 A, Are you asking if it's used to
25 an hour, So I'm happy to work through, 25 facilitate remittances between two ATMs? That

&)
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1 would be incorrect, 1 cbtain either US dellars cr Bitcoin for that —-

2 Qu Okay. Is it used to facilitate 2 for what you put in in the United States?

3 remittances or payments in any mammer? 3 A, That's a different question, sir.

4 A, It can be used to facilitate 4 Q. Okay,

5 payments or remittances, yes. 5 A, You could use a Bitcoin ATM to

6 Q. Okay. How do you -- rather than me 6 purchase Bitcoin in the United States.

T sturbling through some awkward guestions, maybe 7 Q. Ckay. And then somebody in

g this will help. We talked about Chivo Wallet. 8 Fl Salvador, they -- that Bitcoin can be

9 Tell the judge what Chivo Wallet is, 9 transferred to somebody in El Salvador, right?

16 in your words. 10 A. Yes.

11 B, I believe that the Chivo Wallet is 11 Q. And then they can get it either in
12 an app that the oitizens of El Salvador can use to | 12 Bitcodn or US dollars?

13 transact in the two currencies that are legal in 13 A, Well, they would receive Bitcoin.

14 El Salvador. 14 Q. Okay. Can you send Bitcoin from the
15 0, And those would be Bitcoin and what? 15 USA to Rl Salvador? You can, right?

16 A. I believe that their second currency |16 A, I believe that's legal to do.

17 is called the US dollar. 17 Q. In fact, that's what the Bitcoin

18 Q. Row, does Chivo Wallet have any use 18  ATMs of Athena do, right? One of the things they
19 for Bitcoin -- use in Bitcoin ATMs in the United 19 do, correct?

20 States? 20 A. No. The Athena Bitcoin ATMs sell

21 A, Not. to my knowledge because T don't 21 Bitcoin to people that are using the ATMs,

22 know that you can have the Chivo Wallet in the 22 Q. Right.

23 United States, 23 A, So long as they comply with both our
24 Q. You don't have to have access to —- 24 terms of service as well as, you know, normal

26 if you want to —— if you want to take US dollars 25 anti-money laundering.

Page 123 Page 126

1 1in the United States and get them to somebody in 1 Q. Ckay. So if I've got 5100 and T

2 . El Salvador using Bitcoin, if you're standing in a | 2 want to transfer that to Bitcoin for whatever

3 Ug Bitcoin ATM, you're not going to utilize the 3 reason, I can go to a Bitcoin ATM owned by Athena

4 Chive Wallet technology or software in any manner? | 4 in Texas and I could put in $100 in cash and get

5. A, No, because I think vou would have 5 the equivalent value of Bitcoins, right?

& to be in El Salvader to have a Chivo Wallet app on ! 6 A, Very specifically, to not

7 your phone. 7 accidentally step across a line, you would he

8. Q. You can't have a Chivo Wallet app on 8 purchasing Bitcoin —-

9 your phone in the United States? 9 Q. T could —-

10 B, No. It's geofenced to prevent that, 10 A. -- using the ATM.

1 Q. Okay. 11 Q. Okay. So I could take $100 and

i2 A, You probably can't load it on your 12 purchase $100 worth of Bitcoin at an Athena ATM in
13 phone right now. 13 Texas. I could do that, correct?

14 0. Can you check your Chive Wallet 14 B, Iess whatever fees may have been

15 kalance at an ATM in the United States? 15 charged to you.

16 A, Ko, you cannot check your Chive 16 Q. But T could do that, correct?

17 Wallet balance at an AIM in the United States. 17 A. I'm not saying you would receive

18 Q. Could you transfer US dollars from 18 $100 of Bitcoin —

19 the United States to El Salvador using a Bitcoin 1% o All right,

20 ATM witheout Chivo Wallet being in place? 20 A, —-- in response for your purchase.

21 A. There's many parts to that question. 2L Q. Okay. I could go to an Athena ATM
22 Yeu cannot transmit US dollars from a Bitcoin ATM | 22 Bitcoin in Texas, put in 5100 and I would get some
23 in the United States. 23  amount of Bitcoin purchased?

24 Q. You can't deposit US dollars in a 24 A. Yes, Assuming you passed all the
25  Bitcoin AT and have somebody in El Salvador 25 OFAC and other regulatory checks.
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1 Q. And then I could send that Bitcoin, 1 what?
2 if I chose to, to scmebody in ELl Salvader, right? 2 Q. Why would somebedy get a Chivo
3 A. I couldn't stop you. That would be 3 Wallet app in El Salvador? What's the purpose?
4 a sovereign transaction on your behalf, 4 A, Ch. Well, the purpose would be to
5 Q. And to do that, though, those 5 hold dollars in Bitcoin in an account on their
6 persons in El Salvador, to get that -- I think 6 mobile phone.
7  what I heard you say 1s those persons in 7 0. Ckay. And one way that scmebody in
§ El Salvador, to get the Bitcoin, however much I 8 El Salvador who has Chive Wallet could get that
9 purchased, they would have to be -- have the app, 9 Bitecoin could be a transfer from the United
10 the Chivo Wallet app, right? 10 States, right? That's one way?
11 A. No, they weuld not have to have the 11 A. Of the millions of possible ways, I
12 Chivo Wallet app. 12 guess that 1s one of the ways.
13 Q. But they can have the Chive Wallet 13 0. All right. And an AT, a Bitcoin
14 app, right? 14 ATH, in the United States to transfer to somebody
15 A. They could have the Chivo Wallet 15 who's using Chivo Wallet in E1 Salvador, there has
16 app. 16 to be scme connection -- they have to work
17 Q. Ckay. So what's the benefit of the 17 together at scme level, right?
18 Chivo Wallet app if people don't need it? If they |18 You're -~ the technology in the
19  don't have to have i1t in El Salvador to get 19 United States versus Chivo Wallet software in
20 PBitcoin that was transferred to them, why would 20 El Salvador, they have to work together to make a
21 you want to -- what do you tell people about why 21 transfer, right?
22 you need the Chivoe Wallet? 22 A, Well, it's an open -- it's an open,
23 A, T don't, We're not the operators of |23 decentralized platform., Bitcoin works on a
24 the Chivo Wallet. It's not cur —- it's not 24 peer-to-peer basis. BAnyone can operate and make
25 Athena's position to market the Chivo Wallet app. |25 Bitcoin transactions regardless of what software
Page 127 Page 128
1 Q. Okay. Marketing aside, what's the 1 they're running. That's what makes it a
2 benefit of Chivo Wallet to somebody in E1 Salvador | 2 beautiful, decentralized, open system.
3 that has it? Is there a benefit? 3 Q. Ckay. But still I think -- maybe
4 A. I'm not sure how I could explain 4 you're answering my question. Maybe I'm just
5 that in an answer to your questicn. 5 misunderstanding it.
6 Q. Well, you're telling me that Global [ But in crder for somsbody in the
7 has a contract with the government of F} Salvador 7 United States to purchase Bitcein and transfer
8  to develop Chivo Wallet technclogy or software, 8 that Bitcoin to somebody in El Salvador that would
$  right? 9  be using the Chive Wallet, there has to be a
10 A. Had, yes. 10 connection between that Chivo Wallet software and
11 Q. And you can't tell me what any 11 the US Bitcoin ATM that was used, right?
12 benefit to that Chive Wallst would be? 12 A, No. Other than they're both part of
13 A. Well, how do I presume what someone 13 the Bltcoin network. And, in fact, the ATM
14  in El Salvador believes are the benefits of using |14 wouldn't even know that they -- that it was going
15  the Chivo Wallet? 15  to a Chivo Bitcoin address.
16 Q. I'm not asking somebody in 16 0. Me. Grevengaard, why would you
17 El Salvader. I'm asking you. 17 develop Chivo Wallet if -~ if a person in
18 What would be the benefit of using 18 El Salvador could use any sort of program to
19  the software that your company is getting paid for |19 transfer Bitcoln or recelve it? What's the
20 cor has gotten paid for by the government of 20 benefit of Chivo Wallet?
21 El salvader to develop? 21 A, Again, compared to what other
22 A. What would be the benefits to me? 22 wallet? There's many wallets that the citizens of
23 Q. What would be the benefits to a 23 Rl Salvador could use.
24  user? 24 Q. I'm not asking you to compare it.
25 A, Benefits over what? Compared to 25 I'm just saying why would somebody want Chivo
@PS:
N4 )
A GPS LLC

GUUETLER PARKTR SPIYFY

gpscalendar@gps.lic ~ 214.347.4781




Case 4:22-cv-00073-O Document 15 Filed 10/04/22 Page 91 of 108 PagelD 182

Athena Bitcoin, Inc. (Eric Gravengaard)

August 17, 2022
Page 130 Page 132
1  Wallet? What is its purpose? 1  thing, correct?
2 A, Its purpose is to hold dollars in 2 A, There are —- I believe there are
3 Bitcoin. 3 other wallets cut there that offer similar
4 Q. Ckay. And is it any different than 4 functionality. T think the Chivo Wallet is really
5 any other wallet that somebody in El Salvador can 5  beautiful.
6 access? g 0. Okay, How is it different than the
7 A, I mean, I think that it has, you 7 other wallets out there?
8  know, a very unique look and feel compared to 8 A, Oh, well, it's a custodial wallet.
% other wallets that are available to the citizens 9 Its look and fesl is different. Thers are
10 of El Salvador, as available in the App Store, or |10 noncustodial wallets. There are wallets that hold
11 the Google Play, or the Huawei Store. 11 mere currencies than just dollars and Bitcoin.
12 Q. What did the government of 12 Some wallets only hold Bitcoin, Some wallets
13 El Salvador tell you as to why they wanted you to |13  allow you to do transactions on other blockchains.,
14  do this? 14 T have a wallet on my phone that I beliave has
15 A. What did the goverrment of 15  Dogeagin,
16  El Salvador tell us about why -- could you repeat |16 Q. Was the government trying -~ was the
17 that question? 17 govermment of El Salvador in developing getting
18 Q. Yeah. You said Global has a 18 you to - "you" being Global -- to develop Chivo
19  contract with the government of El Salvador to 18 Wallet trying to reduce commissicns in the
20 develcp the Chivo app -- Chive Wallet., Sorry. 20 intro -- in the remittance industry?
21 A, Right. 21 A, I believe a goal of the government
22 Q. What did they tell you? Did they 22 of El Salvador is to reduce the total cost of
23 just say develop it, or did they say davelop it 23 remittances,
24  bevause we need X, ¥; and 27 24 Q. Chivo Wallet does that, if somebody
25 What were the reasons for developing |25 uses it, right?
Page 131 Page 133
1 the Chivo Wallet? 1 A, You would have to specify like by
2 A. You'd have to go ask the government 2  what mechanlsm you think that it would reduce the
3 for the reasons for why they wanted to have a 3  cost of remittances,
4 Chivec Wallet. 4 Q. If somebody is getting -~ if
5 Q. What did they tell you? 5  somebody in El Salvador is using Chive Wallet to
6 A. I don't know that they did tell us. & receive Bitcoin that was purchased in a US Bitcoin
7 Q. So you filed —- "you" being Global 7 ATM, that reduces the commissions, right?
& filed a Form S-1 with the SEC on February 10 of 8 A. Ch, no. Mot in any way.
9 2022 and touted the contracts that you have with 9 Q. No?
10 the government of El Salvador and all of the Chivo |10 A, Ne.
11 Wallet work, Mr. Gravengaard, and you've unable to | 11 Q. Thers's no benefit -- I thought you
12 tell me any benefits to that Chive Wallet sitting |12 sald there was a benefit commission-wise Lo using
13 here today? 13  Chivo Wallet.
14 A, Well, I mean, I'm unclear exactly to |14 A, Oh, to using the Chivo Wallet versus
15 whom it's supposed to be a benefit and exactly how |15  some other wallst? Perhaps.
16 I'm suppbsed to answer your question, 16 (o3 Yezh. That was my question. Yes.
17 Q. I'm just asking for any answer. T 17 A, The Athena Bitcoin ATMs in the
18 mean -- 18  United States generally charge a markup on the
18 A. I think I've given you an answer, 19 price of Bitcoin anywhere betwsen 12 and
20 like you can hold dollars in Bitcoin —— 20 20 percent, which would far outstrip the costs of
21 Q. Okay. 21  a traditional remittance,
22 A, —-- in the wallet, and that's an 22 Q. Ckay. But -—-
23 amazing thing. 23 A, 50 it would make no economic sense
24 Q. Al) right. But there's other -- 24  for scmecne to use an Athena Bitcoin, Inc., ATM to
25 there’s other wallets out there that do the same 25 send their hundred dollars to their relative or
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1 friend or whomever in El Salvador regardless of 1 But they could use any wallet that's interoperable
2 whether they are using the Chivo Wallet or any 2 with all wallets that can make or receive Bitcoin
3 other Bitcoin wallet in El Salvador. 3 on the Bitcoin network, and then they would

4 Cur commissions are just simply much 4  receive their Bitcoln without any markup.

5 higher than what I believe to be the costs of 5 Q. Are those ATMs -~ 18 there just one
6 Western Unicn, € in the alrport, or are they at the consulates

7 Q. So if -~ your testimony is that if 7 or —-

8  somebedy purchases Bitcoin on an Athena ATM —- 8 A, T believe there's about 200 such

S Bitcoin ATM in the United States and transferred $ wmachines throughout the country of El Salvador,
10 that to somebody in El Salvador using Chivo 10 Q. Are there any Chivo-branded ATMs in
11 Wallet, that they're still going to have a pretty |11 the United States?

12 huge commission, 10 to 20 percent commission? 12 A, There are some at the consulates.

13 A. There's a 20 —- there's a 10 to 13 Q. And are those ATMs that are being

14 20 percent markup -- I don’t like to use the word |14 installed or owned by or run by any Athena entity?
15  "commission" -- charged to the person who 15 A, Yes. Those are owned by Athena

16 purchased the Bitcoin in the United States. 16 Bitcoin Global.

17 Q. 5o where would the savings in 17 Q. Were those in existence in September
18 markups or comuissions or whatever you want to 18  or October of 20217

19  call them come into play by using Chivo Wallet? 19 A. Some of them were, but we were still
20 A. Oh, for someone in Fl Salvador, they |20 rolling out the installations of those.

21 can use a Chivo-branded ATM and either buy or sell | 21 Q. Do the Chivo-branded ATMs use Chivo
22  Bitcoin with zerc markups. 22 Wallet technology in any manner?

23 Q. Okay. They have to have a 23 A, No.
24 - Chivo~branded ATM in El Salvador? 24 Q. So your testimony is that the Chivo
25 A. Yes, 25 Wallet software has absolutely no connecticn or

Page 135 Page 137

1 Q. And do they need the Chive Wallet, 1 role with Athena's US Bitcoin ATMs?

2 the Chivo Wallet app to use that? 2 A. That's correct.

3 A. No. 3 Q. There's just no —-

4 Q. No? Ckay. 4 A, There's no relationship., There's no
5 S0 they need to use a Chivo-branded 5 relationship between those two.

& ATM in El Salvador, and that there would lower 6 Q. Did Chivo Wallet have any

7 their commissions —- 7 relationship with the Chivo-branded ATMs in the

8 A. Yes., 8 consulates in the United States?

9 Q. -- or markup? 8 A, Can you repeat your question? Does
10 A, There's a beautiful one in the 10 the Chivo Wallet talk to the ATMs in the

11 airpert in San Salvador right near the exit gate 11 consulates? Is that what your question —-

12 as you walk towards customs. And many people use |12 Q. Mo, I didn't say talk to, I sald

13 it. Many people that are making a pilgrimage to 13 does the Chivo Wallet technology or software have
14 Fl Salvador to-see how Bitcoin is being used use 14 any relationship to the US consulate Chivo-branded
15 it there. And they pay zerc commission on 15  ATMs?

le  their —- or fees or markups on their purchase or 16 A. No. Those are all completely

17 sale of Bitcoin. 17 different platforms that have no communications
18 Q. And it doesn't matter where they're 18 between those platforms.

19  purchasing or selling Bitcoin -~ I mean, what if 19 MR, STEWART: Iet me take just a

20 they're transferring Bitcoin? Does that —- 20 couple-minute break. Just a second,
21 A. I'm not sure what you mean by 21 {Recess from 12:20 p.m, to
22 TMtransferring." Let me be more specific. 22 12:36 p.m.}

23 They can use any wallet they choose. 23 THE REPORTFR: Ready. Go ahead.

24 They can —- if they are lucky enough to have a 24 MR, STEWART: Back on the record?
25 Chivo Wallet, they could use the Chivo Wallet. 25 THE REPCRTER: Yes.
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Page 138 Page 140
1 BY MR. STEWART: 1 change vour answer?
2 Q. Mr, Gravengaard, I just had a short 2 A, No. Broadly, I remember speaking
3 discussion with your lawyer during the break about | 3  with him in October of last year, and I believe
4 some of the scope of some of the topies, and are 4 that he began working with vs agaln sometime in
& you —- some of the questions I have been asking 5 the spring of this year through the end of July of
6 you have been about the software, the Chivo Wallet & this year,
7 softwars and its relationship, if any, with Texas 7 0. Okay. Do you recall speaking in
8 Bitcoin ATMs or US Bitcoin AmMs, 8 Novenber of 2021 at a conference called LABITCONE?
g Are you up to speed today to answer 9 A, I do remenber speaking at such a
10 fully and accurately all the questions that I've 10 conference.
11 asked you so far about the software, Chivo Wallet? 11 Q. Is everything that you stated —-
12 A, I believe that I have been able to 12 well, in speaking, you got up and publicly spoke
13 answer all of your questions about the software, 13 to a group of pacple at that conference, right?
14 Q. Who is operating the US consulate 14 A, T spoke to a group of people at that
15 Chivo-branded ATMs? Which entity? 15  conference.
16 A, I believe it's Athena Bitcoin Global | 16 0. With respect to what you said during
17 has that contract. 17 your speech, if you want to call it that - can I
18 Q. Not Inc., correct? 18 call it a speech?
19 A. I believe that is trus. It's 18 With respect to that speech, is
20 Global, 20 everything you said true and accurate?
21 Q. And was that the same in 21 MR. FOWLER: Object to form.
22 September-October of 20217 22 A, I --1Idon't know, I don't remember
23 _A, ~I believe it was. 23 everything that I said, and I don't know if
24 Q. I believe you menticned that Global 24 everything is at this current time true and
25 didn't have a bank account and that's why Inc., 25 accurate to what I said,
Page 139 Page 141
1 paid Accruvia for the cne invoice. 1 BY MR, STEWART:
2 Do you recall that testimony? 2 Q. At the time was everything you said
3 A. Yes, 3 true and accurate?
4 Q. Does Global and Inc. have any sort 4 A, I believe it was, but I don't —— T
5 of intercompany agreement for Global to -- for 5 have no reason to believe it's not.
6 Inc. to do that? 6 Q. Do you recall speaking in April of
7 A. There's no written agreement that 7 'Z2 to a Miami Bitcoin conference?
8 I'm aware of between those two entities to do 8 . Yes.
9 that, ] Q. Did you also give a public speech at
10 o Has Glohal repaid Inc. for the one 10 that?
il invoice that was actually paid to Accruvia? 11 A. I think I spoke on a panel,
12 A, Yes. 12 Q. Okay. Is everything vou said
13 Q. Is it Mr., Panos? Do you recall —- 13 publicly on that panel in April of 2022, was it
14 I'm jumping back a little bit. 14 true and accurate at the time?
15 Mr. Panos, do you know which entity 15 MR, FOWLER: Objection, form.
16  he worked for? Was it the El Salvadoran entity, 1o A, I believe that it was.
17 Inc., or Global? Do you recall? 17 BY MR, STEWART:
18 A, It wouldn't have been Inc., but I 18 o, And T belleve you told me —- as you
18 would have to check cur employment records as to 19 can tell, Mr. Gravengaard, I'm just doing some
20 which entity he signed an agreement with, 20 cleanup questions which is usually a good sign
21 Q. Do you know the dates which he 21 we're close to the end,
22 worked for any entity? 22 I believe yon told me that Global
23 A. Ne, I do not. 23 did not pay the two Accruvia invoices because of
24 Q. Ckay. Aand by "worked," I mean 24 their belief that Mr. Overton had taken some bad
25  either employed or was a contractor. Does that 25 actions with respect to them in El Salvador; is
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Page 142 Page 144
1 that right? 1 o, And that piece of software is in
2 A. Caused us great hamm by doing —- by 2 Chivc Wallet, correct?
3 taking such actions. 3 A, It would have been the -- you might
q o And 50 in response to that supposed 4 think of it as the back end to a system that
5 great hamm that you say Mr, Overton did, Global 5 enables the Chivo Wallet to operate.
6 refused to pay the invoices for the work that was [ . I see on the website something
7 done? 7 called Athena Ruru. Oz Rura. Is it Ruru or Rura?
8 A. Yes. That's correct. 8  Ruru,
g Q. Who is -- who is -- and I apologize g A. I'm sorry. Are you asking me how to
10 if I've asked this, but I'm not sure I have. 10 pronounce Macri? To the best of my knowledge,
11 But just te close the loop, on the 11  it's Ruru,
12 Chivo-branded ATMs in consulates in the US, who 12 Q. Okay. And is that different than
13 is —- is there an entity doing maintenance work or |13  Chivo Wallet? Or what is Ruru?
14 watching those, making sure they operate fine? 14 A, Yes, it's different. Chivo Wallet
15 A. A subcontractor that monitors those 15 is a product and is cwned by the govermment of
16  machines? 16 El Salvador and cperated by Chivo, 8.4, de C.V. in
17 Q. Ckay. 17 El 8alvader. And Chivo -- and Athena Ruru is the
18 A, I'm not sure. 18  brand name we have given to an Athena product,
19 Q. Whe hires that subcontractor is 1% which is also a wallet.
20 really where I'm going. 20 Q. What's the name of that wallet?
21 A. Yeah, I'm not sure, ILike who 21 A, I just said it was Athena Ruru.
22 changes the paper out? I'm not sure. 22 Q. Ckay. And that Ruru wallet is owned
123 Q. Mot who the subcontractor is, but 23 by Global?
24 who hired the subcontractor, Global, Inc., or some | 24 A. Yes,
25  other entity? 25 Q. Does the Ruru wallet, is it -- does
Page 143 Page 145
1 A. I'm not sure. 1 it use any of the software or technology that went
2 Q. Could be Inc.? 2 into Chivo Wallet?
3 A. It could be, or it could be Glchal, 3 A, It is based on similar concepts and
4 I'm -~ I don't know who has that contract or who 4 some of the same intellectual property.
S  hired them, 5 Q. When was it developed?
6 MR, STEWART: Can the court & A, Largely started in January of 2022
7 reporter tell me, am I on Exhibit 19? 7 and onward.
8 (Clarification requested by the 8 Q. And is Athena Ruru a wallet that is
9 stencgrapher, ) 9 used in Athena's Texas ATM Bitcoins -- or Bitcoin
10  BY MR. STEWART: 10 ATMs?
11 Q. I just marked Exhibit 19, 11 A No.
12 Mr, Gravengaard. And feel free to scroll through |12 Q It's not used at all in your -~ in
13 this. 13 the US —-
14 And my question —- my first question |14 A No.
15 for you on it is whether you have seen this 15 Q Is it used at all in the US Bitcoin
16 document before, 16 ATMs?
17 A. I have never seen this document 17 A Ho.
18  before, At least I don't remember seeing this 18 [ How muach of the code from Chivo
18 document before. 19  Wallet 1s used in Chivo - Chivo --
20 Q. 30 do you know what it is? 20 MR, FOWLER: Objection, form.
21 A, I'm not familiar with what it is, 21 kelly, we're way beyond the scope of your
22 Q. Okay, Was Chivo Wallet ever called 22 deposition notice hore.
23 Chivo Cora? 23 MR. STEWART: Well, Larry, with
24 A. There 1s a pilece of the Chivo 24 all due respect, we're not because the
25  software that we call the Chive Core. 25 tie of the work done in question on Chivo
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Page 146 Page 148
1 Wallet, to the extent that's used in 1 or subcontractors wherever they're located?
2 Ruru, that's personal -~ that goes to 2 A, Yeah, no, It's —- it's not.
3 personal jurisdiction. 3 Q. Advertising is cne of my topics.
4 So if Mr. Gravengaard can't answer 4 Dees Inc. do any advertising or
5 my guestion, then he can tell me that, 5 marketing in Texas?
6 And T understand that software was not a [ A. No, I don't believe we do. Like
7 topic, but it is part of the whole tie to 7 billboards and things like that, no.
8 the use of the work that -- one of the 8 Q. Well, other than website, you're not
9 topics was the use of the work done by 9 aware of any marketing or advertising, then, that
10 Accruvia, and I'm trying to find out 10 Inc. might be doing in Texas?
1l whether Global used that work. And 11 B. No.
12 that's where we get into these details. 12 MR, STEWART: Okay. I pass the
13 MR. FOWLER: Well, actually, 13 witness,
14 that's not true, You're not asking 14 MR, FOWLER: We'll reserve all
15 whether Global used the work. You're 15 questions.
16 asking whether Bitcoin Inc. used the 16 MR, STEWART: All right.
17 work, and that is a completely different 17 THE REPORTER: We're off the
18 topic. 18 record.
19 MR. STEWART: Okay. 13 {(Proceedings concluded at
20  BY MR. STEWART: 20 12:51 p.m,)
21 Q. Well, Ruru is owned by Glcbal -- 21 {Signature of the witness was not
22 right? -- or done by Global? Mr, Graengaard, 22 requested pursuant to FRCP 30(e){1}.}
23 right? <
24 A, May I make a separate statement, 24
25  which is we haven't released the Athena Ruru 25
Page 147 Page 149
1 Wallet, so there are noc users of it. 1 CERIIFICATE .
2 I, RONALD R. COPE, Registered Professional
2 Q. - Okay. Reporter and Certified Realtime Reporter, do
s . 3 hereby certify that prior to the commencement of
3 A, S0, therefore, it can't be -- it the examination, ERIC GRAVENGAARD {FERSONAT,
: : : 4 JURISDICTION) was duly sworn by me to Lestify to
¢ can't be used in an Athena Bitcoin, Inc., manner the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the
5 because it's not used by anyone. 5 truth, L
. I DC FURTHER CERTIFY that the foregeing is a
6 C. A1l right. And so is the work done 6 verbatim transcript of the testimony as taken
. . , X stenographically by and before me at the time,
7 for Chivo Wallet by Accruvia, is that work in any 7 place and on the date hereinbsfere set Forth, to
the best of my ability.
8 way a part of the software or any way part of e I DO FURTHER CERTTFY that signature of the
¢  Ruru? witnees was not requested pursuant to FRCP
9 30{e}(1).
10 A, I'm not sure that any of the work I DO FURTHER CERTIFY that T am neither a
. . 10 lative n it tt 1 1 of
11 that was done by Accruvia has survived to be a ;ﬁyaoévﬁhec’;aﬁ[t"‘fegyﬁi ngsaacgﬂi‘f’ agg ggggsi ar(;
. 11 neither a relative nor eiployse of such attorney
12 part of the Ruru software at the present time, or counsel, and that I am nob financially
13 Q. Do any of the Inc, subcontractors or |12  interested in the action,
I DO FURTHER CERTIFY that the amount of time
14  enployees work on Ruru? 13 used by each party at the deposition is as
follows:
15 A, Do any of the Inc. . . Mo, not ~~ I |4 Kelly Stewart - 3:09:1%
18 don't believe they do. 15 rry L, Fowler, Jr. - 0:00:00
17 Q. Have they ever worked on Ruru? 16 ) C/vfu/
18 A, I believe Ms. Jarrell has worked on 17 RCNALD K, COPE, C8R, RPR, CRR,
s . : . Notary Public
18 some of the marketing in preparation for launching | 1g My commission expires October 17, 2025
20 of Ruru GOUCHER PARKER SPIVEY, LLC
ura. 19 Texag Court Reporting Firm Reg., 11446
21 Q. Okay. But as far as —- 9243 Dove Meadow Drive
\ 20 Dallas, Texas 75243
22 A. The software development is not dcne 214.347.4781
. 21 lend .11
23 in the United States by Athena Bitcoin, Inc., 59 gpscaiendarfgps.llc
24 employees, 23 Dated: 3lat day of August, 2022
25 Q. Is it done by any Inc. contractors 2;
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BLOCK & MCNEILL, LLP Stering Plaza

5949 Sherry Lane, Suite 900
Dallas, Texas 75225

Telephone
214 866-0990
5 N . . Facsimile

By Email and Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested 214 866-0991
Web Site
www.bmcounsel.com

December 14, 2021

Mr. Zachary Soto

PAG.law PLLC

600 Brickwell Avenue, Suite 1725

Miami, Florida 33131

Email: zac@pag.law
Re:  Demand for Payment on behalf of ROI Developers Inc. d/b/a Accruvia
Dear Mr. Soto:

This law firm represents ROI Developers Inc. d/b/a Accruvia (“Accruvia”), which has
retained us to assist it in collection of the outstanding amounts owed to it by Athena Bitcoin
Global (“Athena™). Enclosed with this letter are two invoices previously submitted by Accruvia
to Athena, no. 1050 dated November 3, 2021 in the amount of $75,250.57 and no. 1052 dated
November 4, 2021 in the amount of $8,428.34, both of which remain outstanding as of the date
of this letter. I also enclose invoice no. 1049 dated October 4, 2021 in the amount of $11,686.69,
which reflects the parties’ agreement and course of conduct regarding the invoicing and payment
for services provided by Accruvia and its personnel to Athena.

On behalf of Accruvia, demand is hereby made that Athena, by no later than 5:00 p.m.
(Dallas, Texas time) on December 21, 2021, remit payment to Accruvia of readily available
funds in the amount of $83,678.91. Please be advised that Accruvia expressly reserves all of its
legal rights and remedies against Athena, including but not limited to its rights to pursue all of its
lawful remedies against Athena in a legal action for damages for breach of contract, quantum
meruit and theft of services under the Texas Theft Liability Act. If Accruvia prevails in any such
legal action it reserves the right to seek not only to its actual damages for the outstanding balance
owed, but also its additional damages, exemplary damages, attorney’s fees, court costs and pre-
and post-judgment interest to the maximum lawful extent.

Please immediately advise to me in writing whether or not Athena agrees to comply with
the foregoing demand. If you have any questions concerning the contents of this letter, please
contact me in writing. Oral communications will not serve to protect whatever rights Athena may
have.

Exhibit5
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BLOCK & MCNEILL, LLP

Mr. Zachary Soto
December 14, 2021

Page 2
Very truly yours,
Christopher M. McNeill
cc: Accruvia

Enclosures
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<RQ I> Developers gfgn\;vv':arwood Rd Ste B2

Hurst, TX 76054 US
soverton@roidevs.com

INVOICE

BILLTO INVOICE # 1B1050
Athena Bitcoin DATE 11/03/2021

1332 North Halsted Street DUE DATE 11/03/2021

Chicago, IL 60642 TERMS Due on receipt
ACTIVITY AMOUNT
Programming Hours:Programming Hour 6,513.00
Lance Moore

Programming Hours:Programming Hour 5,010.00
Mariano Andres

Programming Hours:Programming Hour 1,904.09
Yordano Morel

Programming Hours:Programming Hour 10,016.00
Williams Mendez

Programming Hours:Programming Hour 10,016.00
Franklin Grassals

Programming Hours:Programming Hour 10,000.00
Panos Angeloupolos

Programming Hours:Programming Hour 5,011.63
Mario Grullon

Programming Hours:Programming Hour 1,617.04
Leonidas Panagiotou

Programming Hours:Programming Hour 16,666.67
Shaun Qverton

Programming Hours:Programming Hour 5,871.05
Bailey Jarrell

Programming Hours:Programming Hour 1,258.06
Burak Hamzao lu

Programming Hours:Programming Hour 1,132.03
Overhead expenses - 1.5%

Programming Hours:Programming Hour 335.00

Gustavo Rodriguez

Invoice for labor October 1-31 BALANCE DUE $75 250 57
’ -
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{ROID>Developers

Accruvia
615 W Harwood Rd Ste B2
Hurst, TX 76054 US

soverton@roidevs.com

BILL TO INVOICE # 1B1052
Athena Bitcoin DATE 11/04/2021

1332 North Halsted Street DUE DATE 11/04/2021

Chicago, Il. 60642 TERMS Due on receipt
ACTIVITY AMOUNT
Programming Hours:Programming Hour 1,000.00
Lance Moore

Programming Hours:Programming Hour 500.00
Mariano Andres

Programming Hours:Programming Hour 700.00
Yordano Morel

Programming Hours:Programming Hour 1,000.00
Williams Mendez

Programming Hours:Programming Hour 1,000.00
Franklin Grassals

Programming Hours:Programming Hour 1,000.00
Panos Angeloupolos

Programming Hours:Programming Hour 500.00
Mario Grullon

Programming Hours:Programming Hour 350.00
Leonidas Panagiotou

Programming Hours:Programming Hour 1,666.67
Shaun Overton

Programming Hours:Programming Hour 587.11
Bailey Jarrell

Programming Hours:Programming Hour 124.56
Overhead expenses - 1.5%

Invoice for labor November 1-3, 2021. Final t BALANCE DUE

nvoice for labor November nal paymen! $8,428.34
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{ROIDDeVElopers o semensnsseee

INVOICE

BILLTO

1332 North Halsted Street,
Chicago, IL., 60642

Hurst, TX 76054 US
soverton@roidevs.com

INVOICE # 181049
DATE 10/04/2021
DUE DATE 10/11/2021

TERMS Net 30

ACTIVITY
Programming Hours:Programming Hour
Franklin Grassals

Programming Hours:Programming Hour
Williams Mendez

Programming Hours:Programming Hour
Panos Angelopoulos

Programming Hours:Programming Hour
Burak Hamzaouglu

Programming Hours:Programming Hour
Mariano Andres

Programming Hours:Programming Hour
Mario Grullon

Programming Hours:Programming Hour
Gustavo Rodriguez

Programming Hours:Programming Hour
Shaun Overton

Programming Hours:Programming Hour
Overhead expenses - 1.5%

AMOUNT
666.66

1,999.98

1,999.98

© -
Q¥ -

1,200.00
484.00
3,333.36

172.71

PAYMENT 11,686.69
BALANCE DUE $o 00

100
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
(FORT WORTH DIVISION)

ROI DEVELOPERS, INC. d/b/a § Case No. 4:22-¢v-00073-0
ACCRUVIA §

§  (Formerly in the 96" District Court of Tarrant

Plaintiff § County, Texas

§ Cause No. 096-331099-21
VS. §
§
ATHENA  BITCOIN, INC. d/b/a §
ATHENA BITCOIN GLOBAL §
§
Defendant §

AFFIDAVIT OF LARRY L. FOWLER, JR.

STATE OF TEXAS

won uon uon

COUNTY OF TARRANT

Before me, the undersigned Notary Public on this day personally appeared LARRY L.
FOWLER, JR., who upon his oath stated:

“My name is Larry L. Fowler, Jr. I am over 18 years of age and I am competent
to make and give this affidavit. The facts stated in this affidavit are within my
personal knowledge and are all true and correct. I am an attorney of record for the
Defendant in this proceeding.

2. The document that is attached as Exhibit 2 to the Appendix to the Defendant’s
Motion for Summary Judgment and Brief in Support is a certified copy of the
translated Non-Disclosure Agreement signed and entered into by Shaun Overton
for the benefit of Athena Holdings El Salvador, S.A. de C.V. which was discussed
with Mr. Gravengaard at his deposition. See Oral Deposition of Eric Gravengaard
at pages 112-113, lines 23-25 and 1-9, respectively.

3 The document that is attached as Exhibit 5 to the Appendix to the Defendant’s
Motion for Summary Judgment and Brief in Support is a copy of the December 14,
2021 demand letter on behalf of Accruvia sent to Athena Bitcoin Global which was
discussed with Mr. Overton at his deposition. See Oral Deposition of Shaun
Overton at pages 97-99, lines 4-25, 1-25, 1-19, respectively.

AFFIDAVIT OF LARRY L. FOWLER, JR. PAGE 1

Exhibit 6
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4. Attached hereto as Exhibit 1 are the Plaintiff’s Responses to Defendant’s First Set
of Personal Jurisdiction Discovery, Requests for Admissions which were served in
response to the Defendant’s discovery requests by the Plaintiff ROI Developers,
Inc. d/b/a Accruvia in the above-referenced case.

/
A M
7 T /
arry A= er, Jr. il

SWORN to and SUBSCRIBED before me, the unpdersigned authority, on this the 4" day
of October, 2022 by Larry L. Fowler, Jr.

- Further affiant sayeth naught.”

TV Phase F ot

Notary Public, State of Texas

& ;‘;LUE;”;,,’ MELISSA ROMAN

: '-:f-:’g Notary Public, State of Texas

',’E‘a;"%;*f‘“: Comm. Expires 08-25-2026
IS Notary ID 129971930

O\

R

NS N

AFFIDAVIT OF LARRY L. FOWLER, JR. PAGE 2
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
FORT WORTH DIVISION

ROI DEVELOPERS, INC,, §
d/b/a ACCRUVIA, §
§
Plaintiff, §
§

V. § Civil Action No. 4:22-¢v-00073-0
§
ATHENA BITCOIN, INC., §
§
Defendant. §

PLAINTIFF’S RESPONSES TO DEFENDANT’S
FIRST SET OF PERSONAL JURISDICTION DISCOVERY

Plaintiff ROI Developers, Inc., d/b/a/ Accruvia (“Accruvia”) responds to Defendant’s

First Set of Personal Jurisdiction Discovery as follows:

OBJECTIONS TO ALL REQUESTS

1. Accruvia objects to the definition of Accruvia because it includes independent
contractors, over whom it does not exercise control. Accruvia also objects to this definition
because it includes “other related parties retained or otherwise controlled by Accruvia.” As
written, in includes Accruvia’s attorneys, making it seek privileged information, and it is unclear
what “otherwise controlled by Accruvia” means. Accruvia will respond to the discovery
requests on behalf of itself and in accordance with the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

2 Accruvia objects to the instruction regarding identifying or describing a person
because, by requiring the person’s present or last-known office address, work-related telephone
number, occupation, job title, employer, and employer’s contact information, it is overly broad
and imposes a burden on Accruvia not required by the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.
Accruvia, to the extent necessary to respond to the discovery requests by identifying a person,

will provide the person’s name and last-known phone number/email. YHIBT
E

1

=
&
@&
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act

KRR UEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 8: Any documents evidencing that Athena made 4
Bgs of

witl@gcruvia within the State of Texas, including phone records, notes from phone ca
connecgs to wireless networks, or WLAN report. y

RESPONSP@A ceruvia will produce responsive documents, if any, at a mutuaji Bnvenient
time and locatr8 4

REQUEST FOR PROWCTION NO. 9: All documents inc
employment or independen®@ntractor agreement or the like, ide
of any employee or subcontra®r of Accruvia who performed

Pic but not limited to the
Ping the location or residence
for Athena.

verly broad and seeks irrelevant

t contractors, if they are not Texas
fhse to Interrogatory No. 10 the names of
pron and Jarrell are or were Texas residents.
Phen she was an Accruvia employee, she now
). Accruvia further objects to this request

PPy ingkhe location or residence,” it is further overly

RESPONSE: Accruvia objects to
information because the actual residerMg of the indepeg
residents, is not at issue. Accruvia has pMided in rg
independent contractors and has stated thatNgly Q
With respect to Jarrell, who was a Texas resiig
works for Athena (or one of its related compg
because, by seeking “all documents . . . idg
broad, vague and ambiguous.

& request because i

REQUEST FOR PRODUC
perform any work for Athe

N NO. 10: All documents
hin or from the State of Texa$S

idencing a request for Accruvia to

RESPONSE: Accruvi
time and location.

produce responsive documents, if any Mgt a mutually convenient

REQUESHEOR PRODUCTION NO. 11: All documents evidencing a Walid and existing
agreemei¥etween Accruvia and Athena that provides that Athena will payShccruvia for the
softwaievelopment and support services work it performed for Athena.”

ONSE: Accruvia will produce responsive documents, if any, at a mutually conveMgnt
¢ and location.
Requests for Admission

REQUEST FOR ADMISSION NO. 1: Admit that the work you allege was performed for Athena
did not have to be performed in Texas.

RESPONSE: Admitted.
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REQUEST FOR ADMISSION NO. 4: Admit that no in-person meeting between Accruvia and

Athena ever took place in Texas.

RESPONSE: Admitted.

REQUE R ADMISSION NO. 5: Admit that a majority of Accruvi
in El Salvador.

iness takes place

RESPONSE: Accruvia objeC
relevant—i.e., where Accruvia’s
Athena’s contacts with Texas, not Acc
takes place” is also undefined, va
ground too. Regardless of itgg
business takes place,” via denies this request.

this request becay eeks an admission on a fact that is not

Css ta ace.” The issue for personal jurisdiction is
ntacts elsewhere. Where Accruvia’s “business
Accruvia objects to this request on that
derstanding of the phase “where

REQUEST FOR ADMISSION NO. 6: Admit that your familiarity with Athena arose from work
you were conducting in El Salvador.

RESPONSE: Admitted. '

REQUEST FOR ADMISSI
Texas resident between August a
Overton worked mostly if not entire

NO. 7: Admit thgt the only employee of Accruvia who was a
21 was Shaun Overton and admit that Shaun

Salvador.
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SE: This request constitutes two requests for admisgj

aking it improper. With
respect to
November 2021,” Accruvia denies
mostly if not entirely from El Salvad i “mostly if not
entirely” is vague and ambigug
not entirely,” Accruvia #€S that request.

REQUES DMISSION NO. 8: Admit th cna never sent any payment,
correspondence or used a &L services for Jedry of any communications to Accruvia in
Texas.

RESPONSE: Denied.

REQUEST FOR ADMISSION NO. 9: Admit that Accruvia did not enter into a Term Sheet
Agreement with Athena on September 22, 2021. Term Sheet Agreement is defined as the
document produced to Accruvia Bates labeled 000003-000005.

RESPONSE: Accruvia admits that the Term Sheet is between Accruvia and “Athena Bitcoin
Global Inc.” Accruvia otherwise denies this request.

Dated this 13th day of June, 2022.

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Kelly Stewart

Kelly Stewart

Texas Bar No. 19221600

K STEWART LAW, P.C.

5949 Sherry Lane, Suite 900
Dallas, Texas 75225
972.308.6168
kelly@kstewartlaw.com

ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This certifies that copy of this document was served on counsel for Defendant on June

13, 2022, via email.

/s/ Kelly Stewart

10
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

FORT WORTH DIVISION

ROI DEVELOPERS, INC,, §
d/b/a ACCRUVIA, §

Plaintiff, g
V. g Civil Action No. 4:22-¢v-00073-0O
ATHENA BITCOIN, INC,, g

Defendant. g

VERIFICATION

STATE OF TEXAS §

-
COUNTY OF /Joctan§

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, on this day personally appeared Shaun Overton,
known to me to be the person whose signature appears below, and upon his oath duly deposed and
said:

My name is Shaun Overton. [ am the President of ROI Developers, Inc. d/b/a Accruvia
(“Accruvia”). As such, I have personal knowledge of the facts in this Verification. Ihereby verify

that Accruvia’s factual responses to the interrogatories in Defendant’s First Set of Personal

Jurisdiction Discovery are true and correct.

This instrument was personally acknowledged, subscribed, and sworn to before me on the

"L day of June, 2022, by Shaun Overton.
Wln%

OTARY PUBLIC, in and for the State of Texas

My Commission Expires: lJU \\{j 2 X 4 Zng
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